
 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

 Wednesday, 27th November, 
2024 at 2.00 pm 
 
Council Chamber - Civic Centre 
 

 
This meeting is open to the public 

 
 Members of the Council 

 
 The Lord Mayor – Chair  

 
The Sheriff  – Vice-chair 
 
Leader of the Council 
 
Members of the Council (See overleaf) 
 
 

  
 Contacts 

 
 Director of Legal and Governance  

Richard Ivory 
Tel 023 8083 2794 
Email: richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk 
 

  

 Senior Democratic Support Officer 
Claire Heather  
Tel: 023 8083 2412 
Email: claire.heather@southampton.gov.uk 

  

  
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:mark.heath@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:claire.heather@southampton.gov.uk


 

 
Banister & 

Polygon 

 

Evemy 

Leggett 

Windle 

 Peartree Houghton 

Keogh 

Letts 

 

Bargate Bogle 

G Lambert 

Noon 

 

 Portswood Barbour 

Finn 

Savage 

 

Bassett Blackman 

Chapman 

Wood 

 

 Redbridge Goodfellow 

McManus 

Whitbread 

Bevois Denness 

Kataria 

Rayment 

 

 Shirley Kloker 

Percival  

Winning 

 

Bitterne Park Barnes-Andrews 

Cooper 

Webb 

 

 

 Sholing J Baillie 

Beaurain 

Powell-Vaughan 

Coxford Greenhalgh 

McCreanor 

Renyard 

 Swaythling Bunday 

Fielker 

Gravatt 

 

Freemantle Kenny 

C Lambert 

Shields 

 

 Thornhill Allen 

A Frampton 

Y Frampton 

 

Harefield P Baillie 

Harwood 

Laurent 

 Woolston Blatchford 

Payne 

Stead 

 

Millbrook Cox 

Galton 

Moulton 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Role of the Council 
The Council comprises all 51 Councillors. The Council normally meets six times a year including the 
annual meeting, at which the Lord Mayor and the Council Leader are elected and committees and sub-
committees are appointed, and the budget meeting, at which the Council Tax is set for the following 
year.  
The Council approves the policy framework, which is a series of plans and strategies recommended by 
the Executive, which set out the key policies and programmes for the main services provided by the 
Council.  It receives a summary report of decisions made by the Executive, and reports on specific 
issues raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.  The Council also considers 
questions and motions submitted by Council Members on matters for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affect the City. 

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 

Questions:- People who live or work in the City may ask questions of the Lord Mayor, Chairs of 
Committees and Members of the Executive. (See the Council’s Constitution ref Part 4 Council 
Procedure Rules 10.8) 

Petitions:- At a meeting of the Council any Member or member of the public may present a petition 
which is submitted in accordance with the Council’s scheme for handling petitions. Petitions containing 
more than 1,500 signatures (qualifying) will be debated at a Council meeting.  (See the Council’s 
Constitution ref Part 4 Council Procedure Rules 10.1) 

Representations:- At the discretion of the Lord Mayor, members of the public may address the Council 
on any report included on the agenda in which they have a relevant interest. Any member of the public 
wishing to address the meeting should advise the Democratic Support Officer (DSO) whose contact 
details are on the front sheet of the agenda.  

Deputations:-A deputation of up to three people can apply to address the Council.  A deputation may 
include the presentation of a petition.  (See the Council’s Constitution ref Part 4 Council Procedure 
Rules 10.7) 

MEETING INFORMATION 

Use of Social Media:- The Council supports the video or audio recording of meetings open to the 
public, for either live or subsequent broadcast. However, if, in the Chair’s opinion, a person filming or 
recording a meeting or taking photographs is interrupting proceedings or causing a disturbance, under 
the Council’s Standing Orders the person can be ordered to stop their activity, or to leave the meeting. 
By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of those images and 
recordings for broadcasting and or/training purposes. The meeting may be recorded by the press or 
members of the public. 
Any person or organisation filming, recording or broadcasting any meeting of the Council is responsible 
for any claims or other liability resulting from them doing so. 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the recording of meetings is available on the Council’s website. 
 
Mobile Telephones – Please switch your mobile telephones or other IT to silent whilst in the meeting.  
 

Southampton: Corporate Plan 2022-2030 sets out the four key outcomes: 

 Communities, culture & homes - Celebrating the diversity of cultures within 
Southampton; enhancing our cultural and historical offer and using these to help 
transform our communities. 

 Green City - Providing a sustainable, clean, healthy and safe environment for everyone. 
Nurturing green spaces and embracing our waterfront. 

 Place shaping - Delivering a city for future generations. Using data, insight and vision to meet 
the current and future needs of the city. 

 Wellbeing - Start well, live well, age well, die well; working with other partners and other services 
to make sure that customers get the right help at the right time 

 



 

Access – Access is available for disabled people.  Please contact the Council Administrator who will 
help to make any necessary arrangements  
 

Smoking policy – The Council operates a no-smoking policy in all civic buildings 

Fire Procedure – In the event of a fire or 
other emergency, a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take. 

 

Proposed dates of meetings 

2024 2025 

15 May (AGM) 26 February (Budget) 

31 July  26 March 

18 September   

27 November  

CONDUCT OF MEETING 

FUNCTIONS OF THE COUNCIL BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED 

The functions of the Council are set out 
in Article 4 of Part 2 of the Constitution 

Only those items listed on the attached agenda may be 
considered at this meeting. 

RULES OF PROCEDURE QUORUM 

The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of 
the Constitution. 

The minimum number of appointed Members required to 
be in attendance to hold the meeting is 17. 

CPR 9.6 PRESUMPTION IN FAVOUR OF MEETINGS ENDING BY 6:30 PM  

  There is a presumption in favour of all meetings of the Council, Committees and Sub-Committees 
that start at 2:00 pm will finish by 6:30 pm.  When a meeting reaches that time, any member of the 
Council, Committee or Sub-Committee may move, without comment that the meeting shall end. If 
the motion is accepted and seconded, it shall be put without comment and if passed, if there are 
any other motions or recommendations on the agenda that have not been dealt with, the Lord 
Mayor or person presiding may determine either to deal with them in accordance with this Council 
Procedure Rule, or to defer remaining business to the next meeting, but in doing so shall take 
particular account of any advice from the Chief Executive, Executive Director: Enabling Services  
and/or Monitoring Officer as to any business that, in their view, the Council or the meeting of the 
Council should determine at that meeting. In the event of a motion being put to the meeting under 
this Council Procedure Rule, it will be necessary for two thirds of the members present and voting 
at the meeting to support a proposal that the meeting should carry on for the meeting to proceed 
beyond 6:30 pm. 

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, both the 
existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest” they may have in 
relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter 
that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or wife, or a person with 
whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to:  

(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

(ii) Sponsorship: Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
Southampton City Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense 
incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This includes 
any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the you / your 
spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under which goods or services 
are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which has not been fully discharged. 



 

(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton. 

(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of Southampton for a 
month or longer. 

(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council and the tenant 
is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests. 

(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of Southampton, and either: 

a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body, or 

b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest that exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

Other Interests 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any membership of, or  
occupation of a position of general control or management in: 

Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City Council 

Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature 

Any body directed to charitable purposes 

Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

Principles of Decision Making 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

 respect for human rights; 

 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

 setting out what options have been considered; 

 setting out reasons for the decision; and 

 clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority as a 
matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as the 
“rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual basis.  Save 
to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward funding are unlawful; 
and 

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 

 



 

Richard Ivory, Solicitor  
Director of Legal and Governance 
Civic Centre, Southampton, SO14 7LY 
 
 
Tuesday, 19 November 2024 
 
 

TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the COUNCIL to be held on WEDNESDAY, 
27TH NOVEMBER, 2024 in the COUNCIL CHAMBER CIVIC CENTRE at 2:00pm when the 
following business is proposed to be transacted:-    
 
 
1   APOLOGIES     

 
 To receive any apologies. 

 
2   MINUTES    (Pages 1 - 20) 

 
 To authorise the signing of the minutes of the Council Meeting held on 18th September 

2024, attached. 
 

3   ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE LORD MAYOR AND LEADER     
 

 Matters especially brought forward by the Lord Mayor and the Leader. 
 

4   DEPUTATIONS, PETITIONS AND PUBLIC QUESTIONS     
 

 To receive any requests for Deputations, Presentation of Petitions or Public Questions. 
 

5   BUDGET VIREMENTS    (Pages 21 - 24) 
 

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Services seeking approval 
of Budget virements. 
 

6   SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL SHIRLEY WARD BY-ELECTION RESULT    
(Pages 25 - 26) 
 

 Report of the Returning Officer detailing the results of the Shirley Ward By-Election 
held on 10th October, 2024. 
 

7   POLLING DISTRICT AND POLLING PLACE REVIEW    (Pages 27 - 40) 
 

 Report of the Returning Officer detailing the results of the 2024 Review of Polling 
Districts and Polling Places. 
 

8   TRIENNAIL REVIEW OF THE GAMBLING ACT STATEMENT OF LICENSING 
PRINCIPLES    (Pages 41 - 144) 
 

 Report of Executive Director; Resident Services seeking approval for the adoption of 
the Gambling Act Statement of Licensing Principles for 2025 to 2028. 



 

 
9   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC - EXEMPT PAPERS INCLUDED IN THE 

FOLLOWING ITEM     
 

 To move that in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting in respect of any consideration of the exempt appendix 2 to 
the following Item 
 
The appendix is considered to be exempt from general publication based on Category 
3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the Authority holding that information) and category 7A (obligation of 
confidentiality) of paragraph 10.4 of the Council’s Access to Information Procedure 
Rules.  
 
It is not in the public interest to disclose this information as the report contains 
confidential and commercially sensitive information in relation to one of the Council’s 
suppliers. It would prejudice the Council’s ability to operate in a commercial 
environment and obtain best value in contract negotiations and would prejudice the 
Council’s commercial relationships with third parties if they believed the Council would 
not honour obligations of confidentiality. 
 

10   COMMERCIAL WASTE TRANSFER AND DISPOSAL SERVICES  (Pages 145 - 
156) 
 

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport seeking approval of the 
Commercial Waste Transfer and Disposal Services. 
 

11   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC - EXEMPT PAPERS INCLUDED IN THE 
FOLLOWING ITEM     
 

 To move that in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting in respect of any consideration of the exempt appendix to 
the following Item 
 
The appendix is considered to be exempt from general publication based on Category 
3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the Authority holding that information) of paragraph 10.4 of the Council’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.  
 
It is not in the public interest to disclose this information as the report contains 
confidential and commercially sensitive information in relation to one of the Council’s 
suppliers. It would prejudice the Council’s ability to operate in a commercial 
environment and obtain best value in contract negotiations.   
 

12   CORPORATE INSURANCE PROGRAMME - TENDER    (Pages 157 - 164) 
 

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Services seeking approval 
for the procurement of a new Corporate Insurance Programme for 1st April 2025. 
 
 
 



 

13   EXECUTIVE BUSINESS     
 

 Verbal Report of the Leader of the Council. 
 

14   MOTIONS     
 

 (a) Moved by Councillor Blackman 
 
This Council notes: 

Southampton City Council is facing significant financial challenges, including rising 

costs, reduced government funding, and increasing demand for local services. As a 

result, it is essential that the Council make cost-effective investments to reduce 

operating costs, generate revenue, and improve long-term financial stability. The 

Council also recognizes the urgent need to address climate change by reducing 

carbon emissions, in line with the UK’s legally binding commitment to Net Zero by 

2050. 

One of our neighbouring councils, Portsmouth, gave the green light to a scheme in 

August 2023 to install over 7,000 solar panels over car parks in Portsmouth, plus 

provision for electric car charging. This project will not only help to meet environmental 

objectives but will also provide financial savings and new revenue streams from the 

sale of renewable energy.  

This Council believes: 

Investing in solar panels on council-owned car parks is a smart financial decision that 

can help Southampton reduce costs, generate additional income, and strengthen the 

city’s financial resilience. By following the example of Portsmouth, Southampton can 

demonstrate leadership in both environmental sustainability and sound financial 

management. Installing solar panels will not only help meet the city’s climate goals but 

also offer long-term savings, helping to alleviate some of the financial pressures facing 

the Council. It will also complement the Council's Climate Change and Green 

Infrastructure Strategies. 

This Council resolves to: 

1. Conduct a feasibility study on the installation of solar panels on council-owned 

car parks across Southampton, including key locations such as city centre car 

parks. 

2. Assess the potential financial benefits of this investment, including savings on 

energy bills, income from selling surplus energy to the grid, and opportunities 

for securing external funding or green investment. 

3. To explore the possibility of including electric vehicle (EV) charging points 

alongside the solar panels, creating a comprehensive green infrastructure and 

providing additional revenue streams. 

To bring a report back to the Council within six months outlining the findings of the 
feasibility study, including a financial analysis, environmental benefits, and a plan for 
the phased installation of solar panels across council-owned car 
 
 
 



 

 
(b) Moved by Councillor P Baillie 

 
“As Corporate Parents, Southampton City Council believes that our children in care 
should be given every chance to succeed. 
 
Presently, children stop being in care when they reach the age of 18, even if they’re 
still living with their foster family. There is no minimum allowance paid to carers when 
the young person is old enough to leave foster care.  
 
For most young people, they turn 18 during the academic year and the lack of an 
allowance may then lead some carers to stop caring for our young people, who are 
often then moved into alternative accommodation. This is a major upheaval during a 
very important time of their lives – a time where their full focus should be on their 
studies, rather than their living situation.  
  
Rather than it stopping based on when the young person turns 18, which could be at 
any point during the academic year, we want to see the fostering allowance paid to 
carers extended until the end of the Academic Year (31 August). This will allow greater 
stability for our looked after children and allow time for job hunting or pre-University 
preparation. This Councils asks that the Leader of Southampton City Council lobbies 
our local MPs and Government on this matter in order for this negative anomaly to be 
changed.”  
 
(c) Moved by Councillor Galton  
 
Council acknowledges the alarming performance of blue badge processing for both 
new applications and renewals. This saw a back log of 2074 open applications in June 
with 342 of these exceeding a 12 week process. 
  
Despite improving in recent months, it is still far below what an inclusive and 
accessible City should be delivering for some of its most vulnerable residents; with 
around 1800 open cases and over 100 of these still exceeding a 12 week period. 
  
In 2022 our scrutiny panel inquiry, Accessible Southampton, made this valid point: 
“Accessibility is key to inclusive cities. By tackling barriers and building inclusive cities 
it can enable disabled people, and those with access issues, to access services and 
contribute fully to public life.” 
  
Council accepts: 
  

 There can be no greater accessibility barrier than a Council that doesn’t answer 

it’s phones and emails or respond to a renewal or new blue badge application. 

 A blue badge is a lifeline and offers both physical and mental well-being 

benefits. 

 On top of the benefits to the person living with a disability, an accessible City 

also sees the benefits of the “purple pound” supporting its economic 

sustainability & growth. 

 The failure to either answer a phone, or reply/process an application in a timely 

manner has seen a significant increase in visits to Gateway for progress 

updates – this is causing unnecessary distress, failing to deliver a statutory 



 

service in a timely manner and costing the Council more in time and money. 

 The negative impact of Service Centre staff restructuring in April, that reduced 

the number of people available to process applications and saw the subsequent 

loss of knowledge and capacity to be able to process applications in a timely 

manner. 

  As such, Council calls on the executive: 
 to immediately prioritise and put in place temporary additional resources to clear 

the back log of applications. 

 to establish and then provide the permanent resources needed to maintain an 

adequate and timely blue badge processing service. 

 To recognise that adopting the mindset that every valid blue badge application 

is an urgent application is the best way to ensure we remain an accessible City, 

welcoming and caring for our most vulnerable. 

 

(d) Moved by Councillor McManus 

This Council notes that White Ribbon Day 2024 was observed on 25th November and 
runs until December 10th. 
 
We acknowledge the significance of this period in raising awareness about men’s 
violence against women and girls, and the importance of prioritising Primary 
Prevention to stop violence from happening in the first place.  
 
We recognise the ongoing need to address and prevent violence against women and 
girls, and the need to engage men and boys throughout society. This includes in 
education, in workplaces, communities and online.  
 
We acknowledge the critical role that we, as decision makers, play in shaping and 
implementing policies that prioritise preventing violence against women and girls and 
helping to create a more equal society where all individuals, regardless of gender, can 
live freely without the fear of violence. 
 
The White Ribbon Campaign’s mission is to raise awareness about men's violence 
against women and girls and encourage men to take action to end it.  
 
This Council encourages all members to support the campaign by undertaking at least 
one of the following actions: 

 Wearing a white ribbon: A symbol of opposition to violence against women  
 Making the White Ribbon Promise: A commitment to never use, excuse, or 

remain silent about men's violence against women and girls  
 Calling out inappropriate language: Using gender neutral language and 

calling out sexist "banter"  
 Signing people to services: When appropriate, knowing how to signpost 

people to services  
 Saving the Domestic Abuse Helpline: Keeping the number in your phone and 

sign posting to it when needed  
 Sharing White Ribbon UK's posts: Using social media to share their posts 

with your followers  
 



 

 Becoming a White Ribbon UK Ambassador or Champion: Male volunteers 
who engage with other men and boys to call out abusive and sexist behaviour  

 Challenging misogyny and sexism: Taking action to challenge misogyny and 
sexism in the attitudes and behaviours that you witness  

 
15   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS TO THE CHAIRS OF COMMITTEES OR THE 

MAYOR     
 

 To consider any question of which notice has been given under Council Procedure 
Rule 11.2. 
 
 

16   APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, SUB-COMMITTEES AND OTHER BODIES     
 

 To deal with any appointments to Committees, Sub-Committees or other bodies as 
required. 
 

NOTE: There will be no formal prayers in the Lord Mayor’s Reception Room at 1.45 pm 
however Members of the Council and Officers are welcome to attend for quiet reflection. 
 

 
Richard Ivory 

Director – Legal and Governance 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



25 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF THE COUNCIL MEETING HELD ON 
18 SEPTEMBER 2024 

 
Present: 

The Lord Mayor, Councillor Shields   
The Sheriff, Councillor J Baillie 
Councillors Allen, P Baillie, Blackman, Mrs Blatchford, Barbour, Barnes-
Andrews, Beaurain, Bogle, M Bunday, Chapman, Cooper, Cox, Denness, 
Evemy, Fielker, Finn, A Frampton, Y Frampton, Galton, Goodfellow, Gravatt, 
Greenhalgh, Harwood, Houghton, Kataria, Kenny, Keogh, Kloker, 
C Lambert, G Lambert, Laurent, Leggett, Letts, McCreanor, McManus, 
Noon, W Payne, Powell-Vaughan, Rayment, Savage, Stead, Webb, 
Whitbread, Windle, Winning and Wood 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Moulton and Renyard. 
 
 

34. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 July 2024 were signed as a correct record 
subject to an amendment to the list of Members present which recorded Cllr Renyard 
as being in attendance and he was not. 
 

35. ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE LORD MAYOR AND LEADER  
 

(i) Filming 
 
Members, today’s meeting is open to being filmed.  I remind those filming that the right 
to film is limited to the duration of the meeting and recording must cease when I close 
the meeting.   
 
Filming or recording is not permitted if the effect would be to interrupt or disturb the 
proceedings or if it is intrusive of a specific individual or individuals.  If in my opinion this 
is occurring, it will not be permitted and I will ask you to stop.  
 
Similarly, some members of the public attending the meeting may object to being 
filmed, photographed or recorded.  I will be making those attending the meeting today 
aware and will ask those filming, to respect their wishes, and will expect that these are 
complied with.  
 
As is the case with Council meetings the open parts of the meeting are being live 
streamed.   
 

(ii) Death former Councillor Harry Mitchell 
 
Members, it is with sadness that I announce former Councillor Harry Mitchell passed 
away on 25th August and his funeral takes place this afternoon.  Councillor Mitchell 
was elected as Coxford Ward Councillor in May 2000 and was Sheriff in 2003.  Would 
you all please stand for a minute’s silence as a mark of respect. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



26 

 
(iii) Honorary Alderman Cathie McEwing  

 

Members, I’m sure you would like to join me in sending Honorary Alderman Cathie 
McEwing our best wishes for a speedy recovery as she recovers in hospital from an 
accident. 
  

(iv) Staff 
 

Members, today we send our best wishes for the future and thanks to two members of 
staff who are leaving the authority.  Claire Edgar, Executive Director of Community 
Wellbeing and Karen Baker, the Leader’s PA.  We also welcome Stephen Haynes, 
Executive Director of Growth and Prosperity.   
 

(v) By-Election, Shirley Ward, 10 October 
 

Members, I am also formally confirming the resignation of Councillor Kaur from her seat 
in the Shirley Ward as she takes on board her new role as MP for Southampton Test.  
On behalf of the Council I would like to send best wishes to all candidates standing in 
the forthcoming By-Election on 10 October as a result of Cllr Kaur’s resignation.  
 

(vi) Change in Order of Today’s Meeting 
 

Members it is likely that we will need to go into confidential session for item 5 on today’s 
agenda therefore I propose this should be moved to the end of the agenda following 
motions. Are Group Leaders in agreement ? 
 

(vii) Lord Mayor’s Charities 
 

 Thank you to Cllr Keogh and others who would be taking part in a sponsored 
bike ride at the end of September. 

 
36. DEPUTATIONS, PETITIONS AND PUBLIC QUESTIONS  

 
The Council received and noted the following deputation: 
 

(i) Housing issues that affect so many of the citizens of Southampton and 
Mental Health and Wellbeing – Ms Karen Rogers 
 

(ii) Empty Properties in the City – Honorary Alderman Derek Burke 
 

 
The Council received four Public Questions on the same theme Proposed Plant Based 
Treaty for Southampton which was responded to by Councillor Savage, Cabinet 
Member for Green City and Net Zero. 
 

QUESTION 1 - Laura Hunt  

More than 80% of farmland worldwide is used to farm animals yet provides only 18% of 
calories. The UK is no exception to this fact. In fact, if every country ate and consumed 
like the UK, we would need another planet the size of Mercury to feed everyone. 
Globally, it is estimated that a transition towards a plant-based food system would allow 

Page 2



27 

the release of more than three-quarters of farmland back to nature, whilst providing the 
opportunity to repurpose land to absorb carbon. 
 
Other councils like Edinburgh, Norwich, Haywards Heath, Lambeth and Exmouth have 
endorsed the Plant Based Treaty and are implementing positive changes that are 
helping normalise plant-based food and encouraging people to eat more of them.  
 
Exmouth is transitioning catering at climate events to 100% plant-based. Edinburgh is 
introducing carbon labelling in schools. Haywards Heath are creating test cases for 
plant-based food at events and all of them have been involved in public education 
campaigns. Amsterdam has committed to Vegan Fridays in public institutions. 
Edinburgh’s Plant Based Treaty action plan is the most ambitious in the UK. I ask this 
council - are we serious about climate change and we ready to join these climate 
leading councils. And if not, what is stopping us? 
 
ANSWER 
 
Southampton City Council's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2023-2030 
includes an action to ‘Work with partners to make progress on becoming a sustainable 
food city’ (p.57). To progress this, Southampton City Council’s Public Health team is 
facilitating the development of a Food Partnership using the resource of a Public Health 
Specialty Registrar funded by the NHS.  
 
Cllr Finn, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health, updated the Health & Wellbeing 
Board on this matter at its meeting of 4 September 2024 (Agenda for Health and 
Wellbeing Board on Wednesday, 4th September, 2024, 5.30 pm / paper). There were 
three recommendations made in this paper, as follows, each of which were supported 
by the Board: 

 Health and Wellbeing Board members support the development and growth of 
the city-wide food partnership, including a bid to become a Sustainable Food 
Place member 

 Health and Wellbeing Board members provide system leadership by promoting 
food partnership efforts in their own respective organisations and encouraging 
active contribution to the food partnership. 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board provides a degree of governance and oversight 
by reviewing the progress of the city-wide food partnership in 12 months’ time. 

 
The framework offered by Sustainable Food Places identifies 6 key issues that should 
be addressed together to achieve fundamental food system change - one of which is 
around tackling the climate and nature emergency through sustainable food and 
farming and an end to food waste.  
 
It is hoped that through this approach, SCC can work with partners to develop and 
implement an action plan to make our local food system healthier and more 
sustainable.  Progress will be monitored through the Health and Wellbeing Board; any 
relevant climate change related recommendations arising from the Food Partnership's 
work will be incorporated into Southampton City Council’s climate change strategy and 
action plan. 
 

 

 

Page 3



28 

QUESTION 2 - Sarah Abbott 

 

Last December, the UK, signed a COP28 declaration pledging to incorporate food 
system impacts into Climate Action Plans before COP30.  
 
Many city climate action plans do not address food consumption. Most food consumed 
in cities is imported which mean their emissions are not included in net zero strategies 
which look at things produced in the city. The Southampton City Council Climate 
Change Strategy and Action Plan could be bolder by calculating the city’s consumption 
based greenhouse gas emissions, setting targets to reduce them and implementing a 
Plant Based Treaty action plan to deliver real reductions in food emissions.  
 
Edinburgh Council looked at their food consumption emissions and found that half 
came from meat consumption alone. They started their Plant Based Treaty journey by 
conducting a detailed impact assessment which looked at how endorsing would effect 
the city. As a result, they endorsed and developed a comprehensive Plant Based 
Treaty action plan. Would the council look at Edinburgh’s impact assessment and 
action plan and refer it to the relevant scrutiny committee to conduct a similar 
assessment for Southampton? 
 
ANSWER 
 
Southampton City Council's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2023-2030 
includes an action to ‘Work with partners to make progress on becoming a sustainable 
food city’ (p.57). To progress this, Southampton City Council’s Public Health team is 
facilitating the development of a Food Partnership using the resource of a Public Health 
Specialty Registrar funded by the NHS.  
 
Cllr Finn, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health, updated the Health & Wellbeing 
Board on this matter at its meeting of 4 September 2024 (Agenda for Health and 
Wellbeing Board on Wednesday, 4th September, 2024, 5.30 pm / paper). There were 
three recommendations made in this paper, as follows, each of which were supported 
by the Board: 

 Health and Wellbeing Board members support the development and growth of 
the city-wide food partnership, including a bid to become a Sustainable Food 
Place member 

 Health and Wellbeing Board members provide system leadership by promoting 
food partnership efforts in their own respective organisations and encouraging 
active contribution to the food partnership. 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board provides a degree of governance and oversight 
by reviewing the progress of the city-wide food partnership in 12 months’ time. 

The framework offered by Sustainable Food Places identifies 6 key issues that should 
be addressed together to achieve fundamental food system change - one of which is 
around tackling the climate and nature emergency through sustainable food and 
farming and an end to food waste.  
 
It is hoped that through this approach, SCC can work with partners to develop and 
implement an action plan to make our local food system healthier and more 
sustainable.  Progress will be monitored through the Health and Wellbeing Board; any 
relevant climate change related recommendations arising from the Food Partnership's 
work will be incorporated into Southampton City Council’s climate change strategy and 
action plan. 

Page 4



29 

 
QUESTION 3 - Dom De Vitto 

I would like to inquire why Southampton has not moved towards more plant-based 
foods and what obstacles prevent it from endorsing the Plant Based Treaty?  This 
treaty promotes the benefits of Southampton residents eating more fruits and 
vegetables, which is beneficial for both our health and the health of our planet. 
 
Currently, only 28% of adults consume the recommended five portions of fruit and 
vegetables daily, and for children, this figure is a concerning 18%. This trend is likely to 
lead to poor health choices in the future. A 2023 analysis by the Office of Health 
Economics found that adopting plant-based diets in England could save the NHS £6.7 
billion annually. Even if people merely replaced meat in their weekday lunches, over 
11,000 new cases of Type 2 Diabetes could be prevented each year, and 366,000 
fewer people would suffer from cardiovascular disease, a major killer and life-limiting 
illness. Simply put, the closer we get to a plant-based diet, the more benefits we will 
see, and even small changes will have immediate benefits for the most vulnerable in 
our community. 
 
Like other cities that support the Plant Based Treaty, Southampton could reduce costs, 
improve health outcomes, and be seen as a leader in public education by encouraging 
reduced meat and dairy consumption across the city. This can be achieved by 
promoting the benefits of plant-based foods. 
 
Councillors and council staff could lead by example by showcasing plant-based food at 
their meetings and events. Such food is cheaper, more nutritious, and meets the 
diverse religious needs of our communities, while also being visually appealing. It is 
contradictory to speak of being “one community” and then segregate groups based on 
dietary and religious preferences. 
 
This initiative is not about removing choice but about levelling the playing field, helping 
people make healthier choices, reducing costs (a compelling argument in itself), and 
bringing the people of Southampton together for a better environment and closer 
communities. 
 
ANSWER  
 
Southampton City Council's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2023-2030 
includes an action to ‘Work with partners to make progress on becoming a sustainable 
food city’ (p.57). To progress this, Southampton City Council’s Public Health team is 
facilitating the development of a Food Partnership using the resource of a Public Health 
Specialty Registrar funded by the NHS.  
 
Cllr Finn, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health, updated the Health & Wellbeing 
Board on this matter at its meeting of 4 September 2024 (Agenda for Health and 
Wellbeing Board on Wednesday, 4th September, 2024, 5.30 pm / paper). There were 
three recommendations made in this paper, as follows, each of which were supported 
by the Board: 
 

 Health and Wellbeing Board members support the development and growth of 
the city-wide food partnership, including a bid to become a Sustainable Food 
Place member 

Page 5



30 

 Health and Wellbeing Board members provide system leadership by promoting 
food partnership efforts in their own respective organisations and encouraging 
active contribution to the food partnership. 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board provides a degree of governance and oversight 
by reviewing the progress of the city-wide food partnership in 12 months’ time. 

 
The framework offered by Sustainable Food Places identifies 6 key issues that should 
be addressed together to achieve fundamental food system change - one of which is 
around tackling the climate and nature emergency through sustainable food and 
farming and an end to food waste.  
 
It is hoped that through this approach, SCC can work with partners to develop and 
implement an action plan to make our local food system healthier and more 
sustainable.  Progress will be monitored through the Health and Wellbeing Board; any 
relevant climate change related recommendations arising from the Food Partnership's 
work will be incorporated into Southampton City Council’s climate change strategy and 
action plan. 
 

QUESTION 4 - Joel Matthews 

My fiance, Keira, and I will become parents for the first time in October, and I’m worried 
about the world my child will inherit. We are not on track with our climate commitments. 
We are facing climate breakdown with unprecedented killer heat waves, flooding and 
sea level rise, forest fires, millions of climate refugees, food shortages and civil unrest 
as areas of the planet become uninhabitable. 
 
There are some very simple solutions which we can easily implement today that will 
prevent catastrophe. Did you know that even if we stopped all fossil fuel production 
today, food emissions alone would exceed the 1.5 limit and 2C targets of the Paris 
Agreement? Therefore there is no climate solution without a shift in our diets. Food 
accounts for a third of greenhouse emissions, and most of that comes from meat and 
dairy consumption. In fact, a recent analysis of UK diets found that food emissions 
could be slashed by 75% with plant-based diets. 
  
Please can Southampton Council join 30 cities worldwide by endorsing the Plant Based 
Treaty and committing to a Plant Based Action plan?  
 
ANSWER 
 
Southampton City Council's Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 2023-2030 
includes an action to ‘Work with partners to make progress on becoming a sustainable 
food city’ (p.57). To progress this, Southampton City Council’s Public Health team is 
facilitating the development of a Food Partnership using the resource of a Public Health 
Specialty Registrar funded by the NHS.  
 
Cllr Finn, Cabinet Member for Adults and Health, updated the Health & Wellbeing 
Board on this matter at its meeting of 4 September 2024 (Agenda for Health and 
Wellbeing Board on Wednesday, 4th September, 2024, 5.30 pm / paper). There were 
three recommendations made in this paper, as follows, each of which were supported 
by the Board: 

Page 6



31 

 Health and Wellbeing Board members support the development and growth of 
the city-wide food partnership, including a bid to become a Sustainable Food 
Place member 

 Health and Wellbeing Board members provide system leadership by promoting 
food partnership efforts in their own respective organisations and encouraging 
active contribution to the food partnership. 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board provides a degree of governance and oversight 
by reviewing the progress of the city-wide food partnership in 12 months’ time. 

 
The framework offered by Sustainable Food Places identifies 6 key issues that should 
be addressed together to achieve fundamental food system change - one of which is 
around tackling the climate and nature emergency through sustainable food and 
farming and an end to food waste.  
 
It is hoped that through this approach, SCC can work with partners to develop and 
implement an action plan to make our local food system healthier and more 
sustainable.  Progress will be monitored through the Health and Wellbeing Board; any 
relevant climate change related recommendations arising from the Food Partnership's 
work will be incorporated into Southampton City Council’s climate change strategy and 
action plan. 
 

37. APPOINTMENT OF RETURNING OFFICER AND ELECTORAL REGISTRATION 
OFFICER  
 
Report of the Interim Chief Executive detailing a Revision of Appointments of Returning 
Officer (RO) and Electoral Registration Officer (ERO) and Deputy Returning Officer and 
Electoral Registration Officer. 
 
Council moved into confidential session to discuss this item in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access to Information Procedure Rules 
contained within the Constitution, the press and public be excluded from the meeting in 
respect of any debate relating to the Item, in accordance with categories 1 (information 
relating to an individual) and 3 (information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the Authority holding that information) of paragraph 
10.4 of Southampton City Council’s (“the Council’s”) Access to Information Procedure 
Rules, as contained in the Council's Constitution.  
 
The vote would be taken in public therefore would move back into open session at the 
conclusion of the confidential debate and voted upon. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(i) That the current personal appointment of Mark Heath as the Returning 
Officer for local elections in the City and the Acting Returning Officer for UK 
Parliamentary Elections and Electoral Registration Officer (ERO) be 
terminated with effect from 18th September 2024; and 

(ii) that the Chief Executive be appointed as Returning Officer and Electoral 
Registration Officer and the Director of Legal and Governance as the Deputy 
Returning Officer and Deputy ERO with effect from 19th September 2024. 

 
 

 

Page 7



32 

38. HOUSEHOLD SUPPORT FUND SEPTEMBER 2024  
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Communities and Safer City seeking approval of the 
Household Support Fund September 2024. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(i) That the Household Support Fund for the period 1 October 2024 to 31 March 
2025 be approved and accepted; and  

(ii) That future tranches of the Household Support Fund be approved and 
accepted. 

 
39. COMMUNITY SAFETY / REFRESH OF CITY SAFETY STRATEGY  

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Communities and Safer City detailing the Community 
Safety/Refresh of City Safety Strategy. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(i) That the refreshed Southampton Safe City Partnership Plan as set out in 
Appendix 1 to this report be approved; and  

(ii) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Community 
Wellbeing, Children and Learning to make minor amendments to the 
Southampton Safe City Partnership Plan following consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Communities and Safer City. 

 
40. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC - EXEMPT PAPERS INCLUDED IN THE 

FOLLOWING ITEM  
 
 
RESOLVED: that in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access 
to Information Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and public 
be excluded from the meeting in respect of any consideration of the exempt appendix to 
the following Item.  
 
Appendix 1 of this report is not for publication by virtue of categories 3 (commercial 
sensitivity) and 7A (obligation of confidentiality) of paragraph 10.4 of Southampton City 
Council’s (“the Council’s”) Access to Information Procedure Rules, as contained in the 
Council's Constitution.  
 
 

41. TRANSFORMATION UPDATE (SEPTEMBER)  
 
Report of the Leader of the Council detailing the Transformation Implementation 
Partner. 
 
RESOLVED: that the release of transformation funding as detailed in  
‘Resource Implications’ from reserves or the Exceptional Financial  
Support (EFS) facility be approved. 
 
 
 

Page 8



33 

42. EXECUTIVE BUSINESS  
 
A verbal report of the Leader of the Council was given setting out the details of the  
business undertaken by the Executive.  
 
The Leader and the Cabinet made statements and responded to questions. 
 
The following questions were submitted in accordance with Council Procedure Rule  
11.1:- 
 

1. Housing Voids  

 
Councillor Laurent to Councillor A Frampton 
 
QUESTION:  
 
Regarding Council Housing Voids, how long is it taking to turn properties around so 
available to re-let? 
 
ANSWER: 
 
The total time from when one tenant moves out and another tenant moves in for August 
2024 was 157 days.   
 
The time it takes to turn around void properties is a metric that provides a snapshot at a 
given point in time and is volatile based on the properties that are being prioritised for 
re-letting. This figure is likely to remain high in the medium term as the transformation 
work is embedded.  
due to the methods being deployed to reduce the number of void properties and the 
sheer volume of work needed.    
 
Although the key-to-key time performance is below target, good progress is being made 
to reduce the number of void properties. 
 
We have made great progress in bring void homes back in to use for our residents. 
Although we may well still have some challenges to bring our Homes to the standard, 
we all want. This administration will scrutinise this process and make sure our voids are 
back in use in a reasonable time fame. 
 

2. Damage to Residents Properties  

 
Councillor Laurent to Councillor A Frampton 
 
QUESTION: 
 
Why when Council damages a resident’s property does the Council immediately put 
right the damage? 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



34 

ANSWER: 
 
Southampton City Council seeks to put right any damage it has accidentally caused 
with immediate effect.  On those occasions where this is not be an appointment is 
arranged within the quickest possible timeframe. 
 

3. Parking Issues on Highways  

 
Councillor Wood to Councillor Keogh 
 
QUESTION: 
 
A resident contacted me about dangerous parking on the corner of his road. Cars could 
squeeze through but risked minor scrapes but the bin lorry couldn’t get through. The car 
was parked there for nearly 24 hours and when I visited could have been pulled forward 
a few metres to a sensible place.  I contacted the Police on 101 and was told they 
would help remove vehicles that, for example, blocked a junction after being involved in 
an accident but not inconsiderate parking.  
 
If life were in danger fire brigade would push through and damage the car.  I contacted 
traffic enforcement and was told “With regards to cars parking on corners and making it 
awkward for other vehicles to get past, unless there is a restriction in place (such as 
double/single yellow lines) then we (as Civil Enforcement Officers for SCC) do not have 
any powers to do anything about those vehicles. If there are restrictions in place, then 
we could potentially issue a Penalty Charge Notice. If it is a regular occurrence, and 
causing issues in the road, then you could request the traffic regulation order be 
amended and Yellow Lines put in, to stop this from happening – but this is a lengthy 
process and not a quick fix.”   
 
Inconsiderate parking is a  criminal offence under the Highway Code and becoming a 
concern to a lot of residents as pressure on parking increase. Police are not interested. 
SCC have no powers. What can residents do? 
 
ANSWER: 
 
Officers from Highways and Parking Services will be happy to review Councillor Wood’s 
query and examine the specific location to see if restrictions should be introduced. As 
has been noted, the Council are not able to carry out enforcement action in the 
absence of parking restrictions. 
 

4. Dementia Friendly City  

 
Councillor Barbour to Councillor Finn 
 
QUESTION: 
 
In 2016 Southampton City Council pledged to become a dementia friendly city following 
the scrutiny inquiry in 2015/16.  What actions has SCC taken over the past year?  As a 
councillor I have been in role for 16 months and not been offered dementia awareness 
training.  This was one of the recommendations from the inquiry and there were many 
others, can you update on progress against these. 
 

Page 10



35 

ANSWER: 
 
The focus from the 2016 Scrutiny Enquiry has been subsumed within the city’s Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy with specific work in regards to dementia being taken 
forward in partnership with HIOW ICS through the OPMH & Dementia Transformation 
Delivery Group.   Individual and partnership actions are being developed at a number of 
sub-groups, including acute and crisis and post diagnosis support.   
  
One positive recent development at place is the grant that has been received by the 
Council to purchase more technology that will enable people with dementia to stay at 
home for longer.  
 
The Dementia Friendly Southampton group has facilitated dementia friendly training 
which was available to all to access.  Dementia Friendly Southampton was paused in 
March, but has been re-established as of September and we are thankful to 
Southampton Voluntary Services for enabling this. I will remind member services that 
they should be offering dementia awareness training to public facing staff and to 
members and ask for this to be provided. 
 
It is some time since the 2016 inquiry and, as we are now consulting on the local plan, I 
am meeting with the labour group mental health champion who is Cllr Kenny. She has 
worked extensively as an older persons mental health nurse so is very aware of the 
issues. The aim of meeting is to re look at the recommendations to see if there are 
aspects that we want to recommend for inclusion in the local plan. Cllr Barbour is 
welcome to join us, as is any other member who may have an interest in this subject. 
 

5. October By-Election  

 
Councillor P Baillie to Councillor Fielker 
 
QUESTION: 
 
The council has been in a financial crisis for a year. Is it not a disgraceful use of public 
money to be funding a by-election in October when the incumbent could have resigned 
before the last May elections? 
 
ANSWER: 
 
Verbal response to be provided at the meeting. 
 
This is an interesting question that reeks of the double standards and lack of 
consistency we expect for the Conservatives in this Chamber. Cllr Lambert and Cllr 
Gravatt were both candidates in the recent general election.  Should Cllr Lambert have 
stood down and Cllr Gravatt not stood in that election at all. If Cllr Baillie felt this was 
such an issue, why did he not ask the question in our March meeting?  
I would also like to point out that in 
  

 2010 Royston Smith 

 2015 Cllr Moulton 

 2019 Cllr Galton  

 
All stood for Parliament but did not step down prior to the election taking place. 

Page 11



36 

 
 

6. Priorities for Southampton  

 
Councillor P Baillie to Councillor Fielker  
 
QUESTION: 
 
What comes first – doing what is best for the people of Southampton or following the 
national Labour Party policies? 
 
ANSWER: 
 
Verbal response to be provided at the meeting. 
 
My first priority is always to the residents of Southampton I am pleased that we have a 
government who match that rather than the former one. We all remember Rishi Sunak, 
son of Southampton telling Conservative party members that he changed the funding 
formula so that residents in wealthy shires would get more funding at the expense of his 
deprived hometown of Southampton.  
 
In the place we have a Labour Government with five clear missions to improve people’s 
lives by  
 

 Kickstarting economic growth 

 Making Britain a clean energy superpower to cut bills, create jobs and deliver security 
with cheaper, zero-carbon electricity by 2030, accelerating to net zero. 

 Take back our streets by halving serious violent crime and raising confidence in the 
police and criminal justice system to its highest levels. 

 Breaking down the barriers to opportunity by reforming our childcare and education 
systems, to make sure there is no class ceiling on the ambitions of young people in 
Britain. 

 And building an NHS fit for the future that is there when people need it; with fewer lives 
lost to the biggest killers; in a fairer Britain, where everyone lives well for longer. 
 

Delivering on these missions will have a big impact on the residents and business of 
Southampton and they align with the work we are doing, with what has felt like one 
hand tied behind our back for a long time. 
 

7. Hill Lane Transport Corridor  

 
Councillor Blackman to Councillor Keogh  
 
QUESTION: 
 
Could you provide an update on developments for the Hill Lane transport corridor, 
notably the introduction of the new planned bus route, the future of the current X11 
route, and reverting to a 30mph speed limit on Hill Lane itself? 
 
ANSWER: 
 
The X11 and X12 (Aldermoor, Shirley, Freemantle areas) have been retendered by the 
authority and will be operated by a different bus operator from Monday 28 October 

Page 12



37 

2024. Both routes and timetables will be similar to now and the procurement team are 
in the process of awarding the tender. Once this has been completed and bus service 
registrations have been received from the new operator, we will be able to provide 
further information. Regarding the proposed Hill Lane bus service, negotiations are 
underway with the successful tender and a service may be in place for January 2025.  
A consultation on proposed changes to speed limits in the Shirley / Freemantle area 
including Hill Lane will be advertised by a Traffic Regulation Order in November 2024 
 

8. Mayfield Bowling Club 

 
Councillor Powell-Vaughan to Councillor Letts 
 
QUESTION: 
 
Can you please advise why after agreeing my motion for Mayfield Bowling Club last Full 
Council you have not arranged the Greens upkeep and costs? 
 
ANSWER: 
 
The City Services team is working with Mayfield Bowling Club to develop and agree 
options regarding the upkeep and costs associated with the facility. 
 

43. MOTIONS  
 

(a) Moved by Councillor Windle and seconded by Councillor Evemy  
 
Southampton City Council notes the important role local assets play in thriving 
communities and understands that these venues can take various forms, ranging from 
community centres and pubs to cinemas and music venues.  
 
Further notes that over recent years the decline of high streets together with the UK’s 
poor economic growth has meant our communities are losing the assets that we all find 
important, with many vital assets left empty and vacant – ultimately becoming an 
eyesore.  
 
The Council welcomes the news of the UK Government’s plans to strengthen a 
Community Right to Buy and its commitment to strengthen the powers available to 
communities, including a first refusal on a wider range of assets of community value, as 
well as doubling the time period for communities to raise finance to buy Assets of 
Community Value from six months to twelve.  
 
This Council celebrates the role that local people have played in saving and breathing 
new life into once forgotten venues through schemes such as Assets of Community 
Value and commits to supporting further work to ensure these processes are as 
accessible as possible. 
 
Southampton City Council commits to supporting community groups interested in 
acquiring an asset with connections to local and national funders as well as 
infrastructure support. This includes working with organisations such as Plunkett UK 
and Power to Change.  
 

Page 13



38 

Therefore Southampton City Council resolves to work with Council officers to see how 
best it can:  
1. Promote Assets of Community Value (ACVs)  
2. Make it easier for people to apply for an ACV.  
3. Celebrate the success stories of ACVs in our community 
 
UPON BEING PUT TO THE VOTE THE MOTION IN THE NAME OF COUNCILLOR 
WINDLE WAS DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED: that the motion be approved. 
 
NOTE: Councillors Denness and Payne declared personal interests and left the 
meeting. 
 

44.  (b) Moved by Councillor Gravatt and seconded by Councillor Blackman 
 
This Council notes: Children’s play parks provide an essential space for young people 
to engage in physical activity, develop social skills, and foster a sense of community. 
These parks are not just recreational areas; they are vital for the health, wellbeing, and 
development of our city’s children. 
 
The condition of some of our parks, such as Octavia Rd Play Park and Portswood  
Rec, is poor due to equipment being removed and not replaced for a prolonged period 
of time, in some cases over 2 years. These examples show the pressing need for more 
consistent maintenance and investment.  
 
This Council believes: The safety and upkeep of play parks should be a priority for  
Southampton City Council. Given their importance, damaged equipment should be  
replaced within 6 months at maximum to ensure the safety and enjoyment of local  
children. 
 
As part of the Council’s commitment to environmental responsibility, any future  
investment in play parks should focus on using sustainable and eco-friendly materials. 
This approach will help ensure that our play parks remain safe, accessible, and 
environmentally sustainable for future generations. 
 
With the city’s current financial challenges, it is more important than ever to carefully  
prioritise spending to ensure that critical services like children’s play parks are  
protected from potential cuts. 
 
This Council resolves to: 

1. Assess play parks across Southampton to identify equipment in poor condition that 
either needs replacing, or will need replacing in the next year, and keep a clear record 
of this. 

2. Plan for the replacement of equipment in advance so that when it needs to be removed 
at the end of its life it can be replaced quickly. Commit to replacing equipment within at 
most 6 months after its removal and faster where possible. 

3. Prioritise the protection of children’s play parks in future budget discussions,  

 recognising their long-term value for community health and wellbeing. 
4. Ensure that all future repairs and equipment replacements across the city’s play parks 

incorporate sustainable, eco-friendly materials wherever possible,  

 reducing environmental impact. 
5. Develop a long-term plan to future-proof Southampton’s play parks, ensuring  

Page 14



39 

 these essential spaces continue to thrive for the benefit of future generations. 
 
Amendment moved by Councillor Savage and seconded by Councillor Webb. 
 
Delete Paragraph 2 and replace with This Council notes that the cuts to local authority 
budgets between 2010 and 2024 have reduced the amount of investment the council 
has been able to invest in play areas. However, Council have continued to maintain and 
upgrade play areas as far as possible within reduced budgets. 
 
Paragraph 3, 1st sentence after parks delete “should be” and replace with “is”. 3rd 
sentence after “within” delete “6 months at maximum” and replace with “a reasonable 
time frame” 
 
Paragraph 5, 2nd sentence after “spending” delete “to ensure that critical services” and 

replace with “on services”. 3rd sentence after “cuts” insert “those services that have a 

positive impact on the health and wellbeing of Southampton’s residents”. 

Paragraph 6, 1st bullet point before “Assess” insert “Continue to”  
2nd bullet point, 1st sentence before “Plan” insert “Continue to” after “equipment” 

delete “equipment in advance so that when it needs to be removed at the end of its life 

it can be replaced quickly”. 2nd sentence after “within” delete “within at most 6 months 

after its removal and faster where possible” and replace with “a reasonable time 

frame”.  

3rd bullet point, 1st sentence after “of” delete “children’s play parks in future budget 

discussions, recognising their long-term value for community” and replace with “on 

those services that have a positive impact on the”. 2nd sentence after “wellbeing” insert 

“of Southampton’s residents”. 

 

Amended Motion to read: 

 

Protecting and Improving Southampton’s Children’s Play Parks 

This Council notes: Children’s play parks provide an essential space for young people 

to engage in physical activity, develop social skills, and foster a sense of community. 

These parks are not just recreational areas; they are vital for the health, wellbeing, and 

development of our city’s children. 

This Council notes that the cuts to local authority budgets between 2010 and 2024 have 
reduced the amount of investment the council has been able to invest in play areas. 
However, Council have continued to maintain and upgrade play areas as far as 
possible within reduced budgets. 

This Council believes: The safety and upkeep of play parks is a priority for 
Southampton City Council. Given their importance, damaged equipment should be 
replaced within a reasonable time frame to ensure the safety and enjoyment of local 
children. 

As part of the Council’s commitment to environmental responsibility, any future 

investment in play parks should focus on using sustainable and eco-friendly materials. 

This approach will help ensure that our play parks remain safe, accessible, and 

environmentally sustainable for future generations. 

Page 15



40 

With the city’s current financial challenges, it is more important than ever to carefully 

prioritise spending on services like children’s play parks are protected from potential 

cuts those services that have a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of 

Southampton’s residents. 

This Council resolves to: 

1. Continue to assess play parks across Southampton to identify equipment in poor 

condition that either needs replacing, or will need replacing in the next year, and keep a 

clear record of this.  

2. Continue to plan for the replacement of equipment and commit to replacing 

equipment within a reasonable time frame. 

3. Prioritise the protection of on those services that have a positive impact on the health 
and wellbeing of Southampton’s residents. 

4. Ensure that all future repairs and equipment replacements across the city’s play 

parks incorporate sustainable, eco-friendly materials wherever possible, reducing 

environmental impact. 

5. Develop a long-term plan to future-proof Southampton’s play parks, ensuring these 

essential spaces continue to thrive for the benefit of future generations. 

 
UPON BEING PUT TO THE VOTE THE AMENDMENT IN THE NAME OF 
COUNCILLOR SAVAGE WAS DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
UPON BEING TO THE VOTE THE SUBSTANTIVE MOTION IN THE NAME OF 
COUNCILLOR SAVAGE WAS DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED: that the amended motion be approved. 
 
(c) Moved by Councillor Beaurain and seconded by Councillor Houghton 
 
Age UK has estimated that 2 million pensioners may go without heating this winter 
because of the Labour government’s decision to restrict the Winter Fuel Payment. The 
Winter Fuel Payment has a significant role in ensuring that older residents across 
Southampton can afford to heat their homes in the coldest months. By removing this 
benefit from more than 28,000 residents in Southampton, Labour is risking pensioners’ 
health and fuel security this winter at a time when global energy prices are already high 
due to the continuing impact of the pandemic and Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. 
Consequently, this council resolves to: - Note the above, and recognise the damaging 
impact that Labour’s policy will have on the fuel security of our older residents this 
winter, including AgeUK’s prediction, which says that 2 million pensioners who need the 
money to stay warm this winter will not receive it; - Note that the Winter Fuel Payment 
has been a lifeline for many older people across Southampton, and that in restricting its 
availability solely to those on pension credits risks leaving many in financial hardship; - 
Request the Leader of the Council write to the Chancellor of the Exchequer to request a 
review of the decisions to mean-test Winter Fuel Payments and ask government to 
ensure that vulnerable pensioners, particularly those who do not claim Pension Credit, 
are protected from fuel poverty; - Bring forward a Council-led local awareness 
campaign to alert those who are eligible, but not yet claiming Pension Credit, of how to 
receive it, which in some respects will help access to the Winter Fuel Payment for those 

Page 16



41 

most in need; and - Encourage local efforts to promote Pension Credit uptake through 
council services and partnerships with local charities and community organisations to 
ensure that pensioners in Southampton are supported in claiming their entitlement.  
 
Amendment moved by Councillor Fielker and seconded by Councillor Lambert 
 
1st Paragraph, 1st sentence after “pensioners insert “, 28,000 in Southampton,” 3rd 
sentence delete The Winter Fuel Payment has a significant role in ensuring that older 
residents across Southampton can afford to heat their homes in the coldest months. By 
removing this benefit from more than 28,000 residents in Southampton, Labour is 
risking pensioners’ health and fuel security this winter at a time when global energy 
prices are already high due to the continuing impact of the pandemic and Russia’s 
invasion of Ukraine.” Replace with Council notes that only 63% of people claim 
Pension Credit which is a valuable benefit unlocking other financial help such as full 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support. It opens up eligibility for social tariffs, the 
Warm Home Discount, cheaper broadband, free TV licenses, lower water bills and the 
Winter Fuel Payment. Council notes that Pension Credit tops up a person's income to a 
minimum of £218.15 per week for single pensioners and to £332.95 for couples. 
Council notes that the Chancellor of the Exchequer has extended the Household 
Support Fund to ensure local authorities can support vulnerable people, including 
pensioners, over the winter period. 

After “Consequently, this council resolves to” Delete points 1-3 - Note the above, and 

recognise the damaging impact that Labour’s policy will have on the fuel security of our 

older residents this winter, including AgeUK’s prediction, which says that 2 million 

pensioners who need the money to stay warm this winter will not receive it;  

- Note that the Winter Fuel Payment has been a lifeline for many older people across 

Southampton, and that in restricting its availability solely to those on pension credits 

risks leaving many in financial hardship;  

- Request the Leader of the Council write to the Chancellor of the Exchequer to request 
a review of the decisions to mean-test Winter Fuel Payments and ask government to 
ensure that vulnerable pensioners, particularly those who do not claim Pension Credit, 
are protected from fuel poverty; replace with “-Write to the Secretary of State for Work 
and Pensions to ask that the process to apply for pension credit is made easier, to 
ensure this barrier to apply, which has led to a low take-up, is removed” 
 

Amended Motion to read: 

Age UK has estimated that 2 million pensioners, 28,000 in Southampton, may go 
without heating this winter because of the Labour government’s decision to restrict the 
Winter Fuel Payment.  
 
Council notes that only 63% of people claim Pension Credit which is a valuable benefit 
unlocking other financial help such as full Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support. It 
opens up eligibility for social tariffs, the Warm Home Discount, cheaper broadband, free 
TV licenses, lower water bills and the Winter Fuel Payment. 
 
Council notes that Pension Credit tops up a person's income to a minimum of £218.15 
per week for single pensioners and to £332.95 for couples. 

Page 17



42 

Council notes that the Chancellor of the Exchequer has extended the Household 
Support Fund to ensure local authorities can support vulnerable people, including 
pensioners, over the winter period. 
 
 Consequently, this council resolves to: 
 
- Write to the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions to ask that the process to apply 
for pension credit is made easier, to ensure this barrier to apply, which has led to a low 
take-up, is removed. 
 
-  Bring forward a Council-led local awareness campaign to alert those who are eligible, 
but not yet claiming Pension Credit, of how to receive it, which in some respects will 
help access to the Winter Fuel Payment for those most in need; and 
 
-  Encourage local efforts to promote Pension Credit uptake through council services 
and partnerships with local charities and community organisations to ensure that 
pensioners in Southampton are supported in claiming their entitlement 
 

UPON BEING PUT TO THE VOTE THE AMENDMENT IN THE NAME OF 
COUNCILLOR FIELKER WAS DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
UPON BEING TO THE VOTE THE SUBSTANTIVE MOTION IN THE NAME OF 
COUNCILLOR FIELKER WAS DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED: that the amended motion be approved. 
 

(d) Moved by Councillor P Baillie and seconded by Councillor Powell Vaughan 
 
This council is dismayed that Labour are likely to remove the single person council tax 
discount. This may affect over 40,000 Southampton residents, many of whom are in 
financial difficulty. Council asks that the Leader of the Council writes to the three local 
M.P.s asking them to oppose this measure which will only worsen the financial situation 
of many thousands of Southampton residents, many of whom will also be hit with the 
loss of the winter fuel allowance.  
 
UPON BEING PUT TO THE VOTE THE MOTION IN THE NAME OF COUNCILLOR P 
BAILLIE WAS LOST. 
 
RESOLVED: that the motion be rejected. 
 
NOTE:   Council noted that whilst the single person discount was a financial benefit that 
some Members may hold it was one that was held in common with thousands of 
residents coupled with the fact it was a discount given under national legislation over 
which local authorities have no control. That situation is catered for in the Code and the 
Monitoring Officer advised on that basis that no pecuniary interest needed to be 
declared.  However, if Members felt more comfortable they could declare a personal 
interest which meant they could remain, speak to the Motion if they wished and vote. 
 
Councillor Noon declared a personal interest and remained in the meeting and took part 
in the vote. 
 

Page 18



43 

44. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS TO THE CHAIRS OF COMMITTEES OR THE 
MAYOR  
 
It was noted that no requests for Questions from Members to the Chairs of Committees 
or the Lord Mayor had been received. 
 

45. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, SUB-COMMITTEES AND OTHER BODIES  
 
It was noted that:- 
 
Following the resignation of Councillor Kaur, Councillor Yvonne Frampton would 
replace her on the Children and Families Scrutiny Panel.   
 
Councillors Cooper, Greenhalgh and Webb had been appointed to the Scrutiny Inquiry 
Panel with Councillor Cooper being appointed as Chair.   
 

 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

DECISION-MAKER:  COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: BUDGET VIREMENTS  

DATE OF DECISION: 27 NOVEMBER 2024 

REPORT OF: COUNCILLOR LETTS 

DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Executive Director Title: Executive Director Enabling Services and S151 Officer 

 Name:  Mel Creighton Tel: 023 8083 3528 

 E-mail: Mel.Creighton@southampton.gov.uk 

Author: Title: Director of Finance 

 Name:  Richard Williams Tel: 023 8083 2936 

 E-mail: Richard.Williams@southampton.gov.uk  

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

Not Applicable 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report sets out budget virements that, due to their size, require approval of full 
Council in accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules. Delegation of authority to 
Cabinet is also sought regarding the transfer of budgets for sustained favourable 
variances to centrally held contingency regardless of value, to be used to reduce the 
reliance on Exceptional Financial Support (EFS).  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

 

 Council is recommended to: 

 i)  Approve the transfer of budget from Community Wellbeing to centrally held 
contingency for the sustained favourable variance of £3.75M relating to care 
packages and costs as set out in paragraph 3. 

 ii)  Delegate authority to the Cabinet to consider and approve the transfer to 
centrally held contingency of any further sustained favourable variances, 
regardless of value, identified in subsequent financial position updates for 
2024/25. 

 iii)  Approve the virement of £20M income and expenditure within the Schools 
Budget to recognise increased funding, as set out in paragraph 4. 

 iv)  Approve the virement of £24.30M Social Care Grant income budget from 
Non-Specific Government Grants (Centrally Held Funding) to Children & 
Learning (£9.53M) and Community Wellbeing (£14.77M) to reflect a change 
in the grant conditions from an un-ringfenced to a ringfenced grant, as set 
out in paragraph 5. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Richard.Williams@southampton.gov.uk


 

  

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1.  To approve virements in accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2.  Not applicable. 

DETAIL (including consultation carried out) 

 Budget Virements 

3.  Sustained favourable variances are being achieved by directorates in 2024/25 through 
demand management transformation activity and other measures. The Business 
Planning & Budgeting Framework specifies that where favourable variances are being 
sustained, these budgets are to be transferred to centrally held contingency to be used 
to reduce the reliance on Exceptional Financial Support. Council is asked to approve 
the virement of £3.75M from Community Wellbeing to centrally held contingency of a 
sustained favourable variance identified in the month 4 financial position update 
relating to care packages and costs. Council is also asked to delegate authority to the 
Cabinet to consider and approve the transfer to centrally held contingency of any 
further sustained favourable variances, regardless of value, identified in subsequent 
financial position updates for 2024/25. 

4.  The Schools Budget does not reflect the revised funding and associated expenditure 
plans for 2024/25, especially in relation to Early Years changes. To update the 
position, budget adjustments increasing expenditure and income (funding) by £20M 
are required.  The increased funding is largely in the Early Years Block to expand 
subsidised provision for 2-year-old children and for children under 2 years old. Given 
the quantum of the budget changes Council is asked to approve the budget changes. 

5.  The grant conditions for the Social Care Grant were changed in 2023/24 from an un-
ringfenced grant to a ringfenced grant that must be used in meeting adults’ and 
children’s social care needs. The Social Care Grant currently forms part of the budget 
for Non-Specific Government Grants within Centrally Held Funding. Agreement is 
sought to vire the £24.30M income budget to Children & Learning (£9.53M) and 
Community Wellbeing (£14.77M) based on the relative proportions of children’s social 
care and adult social care expenditure. The virement of the income budget has no 
impact on service provision it is only a change to the accounting treatment. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue 

6.  The revenue implications are contained in the report. 

Property/Other 

7.  None. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 

8.  Financial reporting is consistent with the Section 151 Officer’s duty to ensure good 
financial administration within the council. 

Other Legal Implications: 

9.  None. 

Page 22



 

  

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

10.  None. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

11.  None. 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1.  None 

 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out? 

No 

Privacy Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Privacy Impact 

Assessment (PIA) to be carried out?   

No 

Other Background Documents 

Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

 

1. The 2024/25 Budget and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (Council 6 March 2024) 

 

2. Financial Position Update (Cabinet 27 
August 2024) 

 

3. Financial Position Update (Cabinet 29 
October 2024) 

 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER:  COUNCIL  

SUBJECT: SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL SHIRLEY WARD BY-
ELECTION RESULT 

DATE OF DECISION: 27 NOVEMBER 2024 

REPORT OF:  RETURNING OFFICER  

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Executive Director  Title Chief Executive  

 Name:  Andrew Travers Tel: 023 8083 2882 

 E-mail: Andrew.travers@southampton.gov.uk 

Author: Title Elections Manager 

 Name:  Mike Hickman Tel: 023 8083 3954 

 E-mail: Mike.hickman@southampton.gov.uk 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

Report of the  Returning Officer detailing the results of the Shirley Ward By-Election 
held on 10th October 2024. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) To note the result of the Southampton City Council By-Election held 
on Thursday 10th October 2024. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To officially record the result of the Southampton City Council By-Election 
held on Thursday 10th October 2024 held following the casual vacancy that 
arose by the resignation of former Councillor Satvir Kaur. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

 Not applicable. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

2. Election of City Councillors for Shirley Ward in the City.  There was one 
vacancy in the ward and the following candidate was duly elected: 

 Ward City Councillor Party 

Shirley George PERCIVAL 

 

Liberal Democrat 

 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

3. Not applicable.  

Property/Other 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Andrew.travers@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:Mike.hickman@southampton.gov.uk


4. Not applicable. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

5.  Representation of the People Act 1983 and Section 89 Local Government 
Act 1972 

Other Legal Implications:  

6. Not applicable. 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

7. Not applicable. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

8. Not applicable. 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: Shirley 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. None. 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None. 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and 

Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.   

No 

Other Background Documents 

Other Background documents available for inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. Declaration of Result of Poll for Shirley Ward 

 

Page 26



DECISION-MAKER:  Council 

SUBJECT: Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 

DATE OF DECISION: 27 November 2024 

REPORT OF: Returning Officer 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Executive Director  Title Chief Executive 

 Name:  Andrew Travers Tel: 023 8082 2882 

 E-mail: andrew.travers@southampton.gov.uk 

Author: Title Elections Manager 

 Name:  Mike Hickman Tel: 023 8083 3954 

 E-mail: mike.hickman@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

NOT APPLICABLE 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to place before Council the results of the 2024 review of 
polling districts and polling places. 

The recommendations have been compiled by the Returning Officer with input from 
nominated members from the political groups. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the recommendations in respect of the polling districts and 
polling places as set out in Appendix 1 be approved. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. There is a statutory duty to complete this review by the 31 January 2025. 

2. The proposed recommendations are made following the statutory consultation 
process, considering representations made. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

3. Not Applicable 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

4. General Background 

In accordance with the Representation of the People Act 1983, a review of 
polling districts and polling places must be completed 31 January 2025. 

5. Consultation 

The Council is required to consult the (Acting) Returning Officer for every 
parliamentary constituency that is wholly or partly within its area, and to seek 
submissions from electors and other interested persons and bodies, including 
elected representatives and such persons/organisations with expertise in 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



relation to access to premises or facilities for persons who have different 
forms of disability. 

6. Polling districts, polling places and polling stations 

A polling district is a geographical sub-division of an electoral area, such as a 
parliamentary constituency or a ward. 

The polling place is generally defined as the building or location in which a 
polling station is located.  As the ‘relevant authority’, Southampton City 
Council is responsible for designating polling districts and polling places 
within the local authority area. 

A polling station is the actual room or area where the process of voting takes 
place and must be located within the polling place designated for the polling 
district.  It is the Returning Officer who is responsible for allocating polling 
stations. 

7. Requirements for designating polling places 

Relevant authorities must: 

 seek to ensure that all the electors in the constituency have such 
reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in the circumstances. 

 seek to ensure that so far as is reasonable and practicable, the polling 
places are accessible to all electors, including those who are disabled. 

The designated polling place must be within the area of the polling district 
unless special circumstances make it desirable to designate a location wholly 
or partly outside of the district. 

8. Review Timetable 

 Notice of the start of the review:  4 September 2024 

 Start of consultation period:  4 September 2024 

 End of consultation period:  16 October 2024 

 Report to Council meeting: 27 November 2024 

Arrangements come into force from when the next revised register is 
published:  1 February 2025 

9. Comments on the Review by the Returning Officer 

 The Returning Officer is mindful of the fact that changing polling 
stations can cause confusion for electors and wishes to make it as 
simple as possible for every eligible elector to use their vote. 

 Polling stations are assessed prior to each major poll and steps are 
taken to improve accessibility for all members of the community.  
Where problems or concerns are drawn to the Returning Officer’s 
attention, every effort is made to resolve them.  At each election, 
polling staff are asked to report back on any difficulties encountered. 

The Returning Officer considers that the recommendations set out at 
Appendix 1 offer the most reasonable and practicable voting facilities. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

10. Capital – none 

11. Revenue – based on the recommendations set out in Appendix 1, there are 
minimal implications (potential annual hire charge increases).  However, a 

Page 28



decision to peruse other options, such as increasing the number of temporary 
polling stations, could have significant cost implications 

Property/Other 

12. None 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

13. Representation of the People Act 1983, Schedule 1A (as amended) 

Other Legal Implications:  

14. Electoral Administration and Registrations Act 2013 (as amended) 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

15. None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

16. None 

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. Schedule of polling districts and polling places + recommendations 

2. Summary or representations received, and considerations made 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and 

Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.   

No 

Other Background Documents 

Other Background documents available for inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None  

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



City Ward
Polling 

District

Parliamentary 

Constituency

Local Govt. 

Electorate 
Polling Place Status

Stations 

Required
Recommendations

Bargate AA
Southampton 

Itchen
3360

Central Hall

St Mary Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          3 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bargate AB
Southampton 

Itchen
1502

St Josephs Catholic Church Hall

48 Bugle Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

Venue unavailable for the May/July polls (renovation works) - 

alternative at Stella Maris House, Bugle Street.

Return to St Josephs Catholic Church Hall for future elections

Bargate AC
Southampton 

Itchen
1990

Central Hall

St Mary Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          3 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bargate AD
Southampton 

Itchen
1845

James Street Church Hall

James Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bassett BA

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

1825

St Michaels & All Angels Church Hall

Bassett Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bassett BB

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

1172

Bassett Green Court (Community Lounge)

Bassett Green Village

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bassett BC

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

954

Kings Church Centre

Junction Coxford Road/Dunkirk Road

Southampton                  

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bassett BD

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

1231

Sure Start Bassett/Lordswood

Hollybrook Junior School

Seagarth Lane

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bassett BE

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

2128

All Saints Church Centre

Winchester Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    3ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bassett BF

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

2172

Burgess Road Library

Burgess Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bassett BG
Southampton 

Test
28

Highfied Church Centre

Highfield Lane

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Supplied Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bevois CA
Southampton 

Test
1314

Avenue St. Andrews URC

The Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Supplied Temporary Ramp

Security           Police visits

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bevois CB
Southampton 

Test
2094

Bevois Town Primary School

Cedar Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bevois CC
Southampton 

Test
1549

Northam Community Centre

Kent Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix 1



City Ward
Polling 

District

Parliamentary 

Constituency

Local Govt. 

Electorate 
Polling Place Status

Stations 

Required
Recommendations

Bevois CD
Southampton 

Test
2192

Newtown Youth Centre

Graham Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bevois CE
Southampton 

Test
1871

Lighthouse Church

St Marys Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Thornhill DA
Southampton 

Itchen
1420

The Royal British Legion Club

Windover Close

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Thornhill DB
Southampton 

Itchen
2506

St Christopher's Church Hall

Pepys Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Thornhill DC
Southampton 

Itchen
1511

Kanes Hill Primary School

Hinkler Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Thornhill DD
Southampton 

Itchen
1829

The Hightown Centre

Tunstall Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

Venue unavailable for the May/July polls (roof damage) - alternative at 

The Phoenix Café, Highpoint Venue, Bursledon Road.

Return to The Hightown Centre for future elections

Thornhill DE
Southampton 

Itchen
2584

Itchen South Scout Group HQ

Stanford Court

Sullivan Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    6ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bitterne 

Park
EA

Southampton 

Itchen
1278

Bitterne Park Baptist Church Hall

Wellington Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    2 x 3ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bitterne 

Park
EB

Southampton 

Itchen
1772

Portacabin at

Riverside Car Park No.2

Woodmill Lane

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Supplied Temporary Ramp

Security           Police visits

Capacity          1 station

1

Continue to use, but keep under review

Bitterne 

Park
EC

Southampton 

Itchen
1731

Townhill Park Community Centre

Meggeson Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bitterne 

Park
ED

Southampton 

Itchen
1617

The Ascension Centre

1 Thorold Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          3 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bitterne 

Park
EE

Southampton 

Itchen
1125

The Ascension Centre

1 Thorold Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          3 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bitterne 

Park
EF

Southampton 

Itchen
1126

Bitterne Manor Community Centre

Vespasian Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Bitterne 

Park
EG

Southampton 

Itchen
1915

Bitterne Park URC Hall

Cobden Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

P
age 32



City Ward
Polling 

District

Parliamentary 

Constituency

Local Govt. 

Electorate 
Polling Place Status

Stations 

Required
Recommendations

Bitterne 

Park
EH

Romsey & 

Southampton 

North

1

Mansbridge Primary School

Octavia Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Coxford FA
Southampton 

Test
1033

Zoe Braithwaite Centre

Fraser Close

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Coxford FB
Southampton 

Test
1468

Lordswood Community Centre

Sandpiper Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Coxford FC
Southampton 

Test
1402

St Vincent De Paul RC Church

Coxford Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Coxford FD
Southampton 

Test
1773

Lordshill Community Centre

Cromarty Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Coxford FE
Southampton 

Test
1405

Kinloss Court (Community Room)

Northolt Gardens

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Coxford FF
Southampton 

Test
1134

Scout HQ

Aldermoor Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Coxford FG
Southampton 

Test
1889

Coxford Community Centre

Olive Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Freemantle GA
Southampton 

Test
1618

Freemantle Evangelical Church Hall

Nelson Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    3ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Freemantle GB
Southampton 

Test
2269

Freemantle Community Centre

Randolph Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Freemantle GC
Southampton 

Test
1892

Freemantle Community Centre

Randolph Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Freemantle GD
Southampton 

Test
2839

Elim Christian Centre

Park Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Freemantle GE
Southampton 

Test
1126

Freemantle Baptist Church Hall

Testwood Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    6ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Harefield HA
Southampton 

Itchen
1312

Moorlands Community Centre

Townhill Way

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

P
age 33



City Ward
Polling 

District

Parliamentary 

Constituency

Local Govt. 

Electorate 
Polling Place Status

Stations 

Required
Recommendations

Harefield HB
Southampton 

Itchen
1966

Portacabin adjacent to

Macarthur Crescent Play Area

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Supplied Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

Continue to use, but keep under review

Harefield HC
Southampton 

Itchen
1089

Glenfield Infant School

Rossington Way/Glenfield Crescent

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Harefield HD
Southampton 

Itchen
1960

Bitterne Library

Bitterne Road East

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Harefield HE
Southampton 

Itchen
1841

Bitterne Sports Ground Pavilion

Wynter Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Harefield HF
Southampton 

Itchen
1634

Meon Court (Community Room)

Off Minstead Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Millbrook IA
Southampton 

Test
1629

Test Guide Centre

Timsbury Drive

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Millbrook IB
Southampton 

Test
1574

Toronto Court (Community Room)

Brendon Green

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Millbrook IC
Southampton 

Test
2505

Salvation Army Hall

Victor Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Millbrook ID
Southampton 

Test
2562

22nd Southampton City Scout Group HQ

Whitehouse Gardens

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Millbrook IE
Southampton 

Test
1220

Mansel Park Pavilion

Evenlode Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

Venue unavailable for the May/July polls (renovation works) - 

alternatives at Holy Family Catholic Church, Redbridge Hill (May) and 

Newlands Primary School, Windermere Avenue (July).

Return to Mansel Park Pavilion for future elections

Peartree JA
Southampton 

Itchen
1996

Holy Saviour Church

Bursledon Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Peartree JB
Southampton 

Itchen
1853

Portacabin at

Junction Peartree Avenue/Freemantle 

Common Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Supplied Temporary Ramp

Security           Police visits

Capacity          1 station

1

Continue to use, but keep under review

Peartree JC
Southampton 

Itchen
1470

Merryoak Neighbourhood Community 

Centre

Acacia Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           Police visits

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Peartree JD
Southampton 

Itchen
2066

Peartree URC Hall

Bridge Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Supplied Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

P
age 34



City Ward
Polling 

District

Parliamentary 

Constituency

Local Govt. 

Electorate 
Polling Place Status

Stations 

Required
Recommendations

Peartree JE
Southampton 

Itchen
2251

Woolston Methodist Church

Manor Road North

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Peartree JF
Southampton 

Itchen
1147

Spring Road Evangelical Church

Spring Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Portswood KA
Southampton 

Test
1669

Highfield Church Centre

Highfield Lane

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Supplied Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Portswood KB
Southampton 

Test
1938

Portswood Library

Portswood Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Unmetalled road

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Portswood KC
Southampton 

Test
975

Scouts HQ

Brickfield Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Portswood KD
Southampton 

Test
1695

Portswood Church Hall

Portswood Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Portswood KE
Southampton 

Test
2103

St Denys Church Centre

Dundee Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Redbridge LA
Southampton 

Test
1214

Newfields Gardening CIC

Nutfield Court

Off Lower Brownhill Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    6ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Redbridge LB
Southampton 

Test
1386

Colne Avenue Baptist Church Hall

Colne Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Redbridge LC
Southampton 

Test

2647

(includes Cowley 

Close, Green Lane, 

Thirlmere Road - see 

Appendix 2)

Testlands Hub

Green Lane

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations
1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Redbridge LD
Southampton 

Test

2725

(includes Bampton 

Close, Brookwood 

Road, Green Park 

Road, Parkside Road - 

see Appendix 2

All Saints Church Hall

Kendal Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations
1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Redbridge LE
Southampton 

Test

829

(less Cowley Close, 

Green Lane, Thirlmere 

Road - see Appendix 

2)

Mansel Park Pavilion

Evenlode Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations
1

Venue unavailable for the May/July polls (renovation works) - 

alternatives at Holy Family Catholic Church, Redbridge Hill (May) and 

Newlands Primary School, Windermere Avenue (July).

Return to Mansel Park Pavilion for future elections

P
age 35



City Ward
Polling 

District

Parliamentary 

Constituency

Local Govt. 

Electorate 
Polling Place Status

Stations 

Required
Recommendations

Redbridge LF
Southampton 

Test

922

(less Bampton Close, 

Brookwood Road, 

Green Park Road, 

Parkside Road - see 

Appendix 2)

The Ship Inn (Function Room)

41 Old Redbridge Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations
1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Shirley MA
Southampton 

Test
1359

Shirley Warren Baptist Church

Warren Crescent

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Shirley MB
Southampton 

Test
1364

Shirley Warren Baptist Church

Warren Crescent

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Shirley MC
Southampton 

Test
1370

Isaac Watts Church Hall

Luccombe Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Shirley MD
Southampton 

Test
1710

Salvation Army Hall

Victor Street

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Shirley ME
Southampton 

Test
2032

Shirley Parish Hall

St. James Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Shirley MF
Southampton 

Test
2545

St James Road Methodist Church Hall

St. James Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    6ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Sholing NA
Southampton 

Itchen
1948

Sholing Junior School

Middle Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    6ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Sholing NB
Southampton 

Itchen
1843

Southampton Amateur Boxing Club (Pax 

Hall)

North East Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Sholing NC
Southampton 

Itchen
1651

Salvation Army Hall

North East Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Sholing ND
Southampton 

Itchen
1362

St Marys Parish Centre

St. Monica Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Sholing NE
Southampton 

Itchen
1890

Sholing Community Centre

Butts Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Sholing NF
Southampton 

Itchen
1704

Oasis Academy Mayfield

The Grove

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          Pending

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

P
age 36



City Ward
Polling 

District

Parliamentary 

Constituency

Local Govt. 

Electorate 
Polling Place Status

Stations 

Required
Recommendations

Swaythling OA

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North 

1536

Hardmoor Early Years Centre

Leaside Way

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           Guard to facilitate access

Capacity          1 station

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Swaythling OB

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

1708

St Albans Church

Tulip Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Swaythling OC

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

1745

Swaythling Primary School

Mayfield Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Swaythling OD

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

637

Swaythling Baptist Church

Fleming Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Swaythling OE

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

469

South Stoneham Church Hall

St Marys Church Close

Off Wessex Lane

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    3ft & 8ft Temporary Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Swaythling OF

Romsey and 

Southampton 

North

1542

Mansbridge Primary School

Octavia Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Swaythling OG
Southampton 

Test
1081

Scouts HQ

Brickfield Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Woolston PA
Southampton 

Itchen
1710

St Patricks Catholic Church Hall

Portsmouth Road/Manor Road South

Southhampton                                                                                                                                                                                           

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Woolston PB
Southampton 

Itchen
1584

Woolston Community Centre

Church Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Woolston PC
Southampton 

Itchen
2403

Weston Church Hall

Weston Lane

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Woolston PD
Southampton 

Itchen
1748

The Scout HQ

Tickleford Drive

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Woolston PE
Southampton 

Itchen
1341

Weston Court (Community Room)

Kingsclere Avenue

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Woolston PF
Southampton 

Itchen
1718

Woolston Community Centre

Church Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    Permanent Ramp

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Banister & 

Polygon
QA

Southampton 

Test
2520

Banister Primary School

Archers Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

P
age 37



City Ward
Polling 

District

Parliamentary 

Constituency

Local Govt. 

Electorate 
Polling Place Status

Stations 

Required
Recommendations

Banister & 

Polygon
QB

Southampton 

Test
1432

Seventh Day Adventist Church Hall

Shirley Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Banister & 

Polygon
QC

Southampton 

Test
1163

Edmund Kell Unitarian Church Hall

Bellevue Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Banister & 

Polygon
QD

Southampton 

Itchen
1759

Central Baptist Church Hall

Devonshire Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

Banister & 

Polygon
QE

Southampton 

Itchen
1723

Central Baptist Church Hall

Devonshire Road

Southampton

Transport         No issues

Accessibility    No issues

Security           No issues

Capacity          2 stations

1

No considerations identified - continue to use

P
age 38



APPENDIX 2 

2024 Review of polling district and polling places 

Summary of representations received and considerations made 

The following representations from local ward members have been received as part of 
the 2024 review.  These together with representations from the Returning Officer, and 
any views forthcoming from polling station staff prior to the review, have been collated 
for the purpose of informing this review. 

     

 

District LE in Redbridge ward 

A representation from Councillor Goodfellow indicates that the current boundary 
between the LC and LE polling districts divides the Cowley area of the ward. 

Assessment of options 

Councillor Goodfellow suggests that Cowley Close, Green Lane and Thirlmere Road are 
included in the LC polling district 

Recommendation 

To restore community connections, the boundary between the LC and LE polling 
districts is realigned to include the 208 properties and 305 registered electors in Cowley 
Close, Green Lane and Thirlmere Road in the LC polling district of the Redbridge ward. 

District LF in Redbridge ward 

A representation from Councillor Whitbread indicates that the polling place for this area 
of the ward at The Ship Inn, 41 Old Redbridge Road, is not convenient or practicable for 
electors in Bampton Close, Brookwood Road, Green Park Road and Parkside Road. 

A section of the A33 (Redbridge Road) separates this area from the rest of the polling 
district, giving rise to poor access to the polling place. 

Assessment of options 

Councillor Whitbread suggests that this area of the polling district is transferred to the 
LD polling district.  The polling place at the All Saints Church Hall in Kendal Avenue 
would be more convenient and easier for voters to access. 

Recommendation 

To provide voters with reasonable and practicable voting facilities, the boundary 
between the LD and LF polling districts is realigned to include the 305 properties and 
476 registered electors in Bampton Close, Brookwood Road, Green Park Road and 
Parkside Road in the LD polling district of the Redbridge ward. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER:  LICENSING COMMITTEE 

COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: TRIENNIAL REVIEW OF THE GAMBLING ACT 2005  

STATEMENT OF LICENSING PRINCIPLES 

DATE OF DECISION: 13TH November 2024 (Licensing committee) 

27th November 2024 (Council) 

REPORT OF: Debbie Ward; Executive Director Residential Services 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Executive Director  Title Residential Services 

 Name:  Debbie Ward Tel: 023 8083 3351 

 E-mail: Debbie.ward@southampton.gov.uk 

Author: Title Service Manager; Licensing 

 Name:  Phil Bates Tel: 023 8083 3523 

 E-mail: Phil.bates@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

N/A 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the City Council, as licensing authority,  

to prepare and publish a statement of licensing principles (SLP) that it proposes to  

apply in exercising its functions under the Act. The Council adopted its first policy from  

January 2007. This policy must be reviewed at least every three years. The Gambling  

Commission require SLPs to be adopted by 31st January 2025. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) Licensing Committee 

That the Committee considers the draft Statement of Licensing  

Principles attached as appendix 1 of this report, the revisions made 
to it as shown by tracked changes and recommend its adoption to 
Full Council with the tracked changes accepted. 

 (i) Council 

That Council with effect from 31st January 2025 adopts the draft  

Statement of Licensing Policy as attached and subject to any 
amendment that may be made by the Licensing Committee (if  

appropriate) 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The Council has a statutory obligation to adopt, review and maintain a  

Statement of Licensing Principles (policy) in relation to the functions allocated  

to it under the Act. 
Page 41

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Debbie.ward@southampton.gov.uk


ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. Not applicable as the council is required to have a SLP by law.  

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

3. Section 349 of the Act requires each licensing authority to prepare and 

publish a statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their 

functions under the Act. 

4. The Act provides for three categories of licence:- 

(a) Operating licences; 

(b) Personal licences; and 

(c) Premises licences 

5. The Gambling Commission issues operating licences and personal licences;  

and licensing authorities issue premises licences. This has the effect of  

placing on line gambling under the remit of the Gambling Commission, not the  

local authority. 

6. The main functions of licensing authorities under the Act are as follows: - 

• Licensing premises for gambling activities 

• Considering notices given for the temporary use of premises for  

gambling 

• Granting permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs and  

miners’ welfare institutes 

• Regulating gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises 

• Granting permits to family entertainment centres for the use of certain  

lower stake gaming machines 

• Granting permits for prize gaming 

• Considering occasional use notices for betting at tracks 

• Registering small societies’ lotteries 

7. In April 2023 the Gambling Commission updated the revised detailed 
guidance to licensing authorities on the manner in which they are to exercise 
their functions under the Act, and in particular, the principles they should 
apply in exercising their functions. 

8. The Gambling Commission requires operators to identify  

risks to the licensing objectives associated with premises, its operation and  

the location in which it is sited. Operators must produce a risk assessment for  

each premises – setting out mitigation in place or planned to be put in place to  

reduce risk to the licensing objectives. These requirements are set out within  

the Commission’s Licensing Conditions and Codes of Practice (“LCCP”) 

9. Failure to produce a premises risk assessment amounts to a breach of the  

operator’s licence and could result in revocation of that licence. The need to  

produce a risk assessment means that operators should pay close attention  

to local risks or concerns identified by the Licensing Authority in its SLP 

document. The impact of these changes is an increased importance of the  

SLP. Page 42



10. The vast majority of the SLP is prescriptive or flows from statutory guidance  

which is expected to be included in the document unless there is very good  

reason not to do so. The Council also has the benefit of Leading Counsel’s 
opinion on a previous draft document to ensure it meets the statutory  

requirements. 

11. A draft SLP was presented to the Licensing Committee on 26th June 2024 
who approved to commence consultation on the draft SLP. The report 
highlighted there is a significant change in the Casino section (15). This 
shows the process that will be adopted should the council decide to invite 
applications. IT DOES NOT ADDRESS THE DECISION OF THE COUNCIL 
WHETHER TO PROGRESS WITH INVITES OR NOT FOR A LARGE 
CASINO. This question will be dealt with separately to the adoption of the 
SLPs. 

12. The City Council undertook consultation on the SLP between 13th August 
2024 and 7th October 2024 in accordance with the Act and Regulations as 
well as the Council’s own consultation requirements. A report summarising 
the responses is attached as appendix 2 

13. Officers have provided comments on the consultation responses and this is  

attached to the report at appendix 3 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

14. N/A 

Property/Other 

15. N/A 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

16. Section 349 Gambling Act 2005 

Other Legal Implications:  

17. The SLP sets out the factors which the Licensing Authority shall take into  

account, along with relevant statutory guidance, the Gambling Act 2005 and  

Regulations made thereunder when performing its licensing functions. It is  

important to note and reiterate that the Licensing Authority is unable to  

consider issues relating to morality or demand when determining premises  

licence applications 

18. Public authorities, under the Equality Act 2010, have a legal obligation to have  

due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and  

victimisation; to advance equality of opportunity; and to foster good relations,  

between persons with different protected characteristics. The protected  

characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and  

maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. An Equality  

Impact Assessment has not been carried out in this instance as the risks  

associated with the publication of this document on this duty are considered  
Page 43



to be low 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

19. Failure to properly consult or adopt such a policy will leave decisions by the  

authority at risk of challenge. Failure to adopt the SLP leaves the authority  

unable to perform its statutory functions and therefore the risk is high in this  

regard 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

20. The Gambling Act policy is one of the policy framework documents that is  

required to be considered and adopted by full Council on a triennial basis. 

  

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. Consultation SLP with tracked changes 

2. Report summarising responses to consultation 

3. Officer responses to consultation comments 

4. ESIA 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and 

Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out. 

Yes 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.   

No 

Other Background Documents 

Other Background documents available for inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1.   

2.   

 

Page 44



 

1 of 59 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
SECTION 349 

 
 
 
 

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 
 
 
 
 

This Statement of Principles, unless otherwise amended, will remain in 
force from 31st January 2025 until 31st January 2028 
 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



Contents 

2 of 59 

 
Item Page 

 
Part A - General ........................................................................................................ 4 
1.0 Licensing Objectives ........................................................................................ 4 
2.0 Introduction ...................................................................................................... 4 
3.0 Consultation on the Statement of Principles .................................................... 5 
4.0 Declaration ....................................................................................................... 7 
5.0 Responsible authorities and interested parties ................................................ 7 
6.0 Exchange of Information .................................................................................. 9 
7.0 Compliance and Enforcement .......................................................................... 9 
8.0 The Licensing Authority Functions ................................................................. 10 
Part B – Premises Licences ................................................................................... 12 
9.0 Premises Licences – What Standards the Licensing Authority Expects from 
Applicants ................................................................................................................. 12 
10.0 General Principles.......................................................................................... 21 
11.0 Conditions on premises licences ................................................................... 23 
12.0 Other Legislation ............................................................................................ 25 
13.0 Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) ....................................................................... 25 
14.0 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres ........................................................ 26 
15.0 Casinos .......................................................................................................... 26 
16.0 Bingo Premises .............................................................................................. 30 
17.0 Betting Premises ............................................................................................ 30 
18.0 Tracks ............................................................................................................ 31 
19.0 Travelling Fairs .............................................................................................. 33 
20.0 Provisional Statements .................................................................................. 33 
21.0 Reviews of premises licences ........................................................................ 33 
Part C – Permits, Temporary and Occasional Use Notices................................. 35 
22.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits ............. 35 
23.0 Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits ................................... 35 
24.0 Prize Gaming Permits .................................................................................... 36 
25.0 Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits ....................................................... 37 
26.0 Temporary Use Notices ................................................................................. 38 
27.0 Occasional Use Notices ................................................................................. 38 
Part D – Other Information ..................................................................................... 39 
28.0 Rights of Appeal and Judicial Review ............................................................ 39 

Page 46



Contents 

3 of 59 

29.0 Other Matters ................................................................................................. 39 
30.0 The Licensing Authority Delegations.............................................................. 40 
Appendix A – Map of Southampton .......................................................................... 42 
Appendix B - Local Profile…………………………………………………………………43 
 
 

Page 47



Part A – General 
 

4 of 59 

Part A - General 
1.0 Licensing Objectives 
1.1 In exercising most of its functions under the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing 

Authority must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in Section 1 
of the Act. The licensing objectives are: 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and 

• Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling 

1.2 The Licensing Authority is aware the Gambling Commission has stated the 
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling. 

1.3 Various reports identify an increase in online gambling and the impact this has 
on our communities. The Licensing Authority recognises this but understands 
the remit for local authorities does not include online gambling but will take the 
impacts into consideration. 

1.4 This Licensing Authority is aware that in accordance with Section 153 of the 
Act, in making its decisions about premises licences and temporary use notices 
it should aim to permit the use of the premises for gambling in so far as it thinks 
it: 
(a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice under section 24, 
(b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Commission under 

section 25, 
(c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to paragraphs 

(a) and (b)), and 
(d) in accordance with the statement published by the authority under section 

349 (subject to paragraphs (a) to (c)). 
 
2.0 Introduction 
2.1 Southampton City is the south coast’s regional capital with a population of 

over 263,700 in an area of 50 square km. Southampton City is the gateway to 
a wide range of world-class features from the Solent with its marine leisure 
opportunities to the New Forest National Park. The city is home to two 
universities, the University of Southampton and Southampton Solent 
University, with around 37,800 higher education students. 
 

2.2 Southampton has a rich heritage, with a famous seafaring history as an 
important Roman port. The Old Town is surrounded by  a stretch of medieval 
walls.  Southampton's sixty scheduled monuments include the town walls, 
numerous medieval vaults and cellars, the Tudor House Museum and the 
Roman remains at Bitterne Manor. 

Page 48



Part A – General 
 

5 of 59 

2.3 Southampton is the cruise capital of northern Europe with 2m passengers 
passing through the port annually. The Port of Southampton is the UK’s number 
one export port and is the country’s leading port for automotive trade.   
Southampton City Council is developing a masterplan for the Mayflower 
Quarter, which sets out development from the north of Southampton Central 
train station to the waterfront. The development will provide facilities for 
businesses, alongside city centre homes and leisure opportunities. 
Engagement on Mayflower Quarter with key stakeholders across 
Southampton has taken place. Southampton City Council is now reaching out 
to the wider community for suggestions for the Mayflower Quarter area. 
  

2.4 The Southampton Economic & Green Growth Strategy sets out plans to restore 
and renew Southampton as a greener, fairer and healthier city. The plans will 
be delivered over a 10-year period, from 2020-2030. Significant opportunities 
for funding have already been identified, including a £250 million development 
at Leisureworld, estimated to create 1,000 jobs. The development is planned 
to include a cinema, casino, leisure and wellbeing facilities, 650 new homes, 
two 150-room hotels, 80 serviced hotel apartments and a modern workspace. 

2.5 Southampton City Centre is working with developer Tellon Capital to rejuvenate 
the Bargate Quarter in Southampton, the development is planned to include 
New Bargate to Queensway ‘linear park’ to showcase city’s historic walls 
Approximately 519 residential units Approximately 2,515 square metres of retail 
Hotel plans withdrawn in favour of new homes for local people. The developer 
is due to start during 2021 with a planned completion date of 2025. 

2.6 Southampton City Council’s is planning the regeneration of Bitterne District 
Centre through investment in public services in the Bitterne Hub. The Bitterne 
Hub development is planned to include a library, healthcare centre and leisure 
centre. The Hub development also creates the opportunity for new homes 
including extra care facilities through the release of some of the land currently 
occupied by these facilities. 

2.7 In June 2024 gambling facilities in the city included three casinos , four bingo 
clubs, 31 betting offices, 15 amusement centres, one betting track, and 115 
premises licensed for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises 
which have gaming machines installed. 

2.8 A map of the Southampton area is attached as Appendix A. 
 
3.0 Consultation on the Statement of Principles 
3.1 Licensing Authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 

statement of the principles they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions. This statement must be published at least every three years. The 
statement must also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts 
re-consulted upon. The statement must then be re-published. 

3.2 The Licensing Authority has consulted widely on this statement before finalising 
and publishing it. It should be noted unsolicited comments may have been 
received from other persons but all of these have not been listed. 

3.3 The Gambling Act requires the following parties be consulted by licensing 
authorities: 

Page 49



Part A – General 
 

6 of 59 

• The Chief Officer of Police for Hampshire; 

• One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the 
Southampton area; 

• One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the 
authority’s functions under the Act. 
 

3.4 This policy has been drafted after consultation with the following organisations 
and individuals. 

• Adult Social Care 

• Betting & Gaming Council 

• British Amusement Catering Trade Association 

• Bingo Association 

• British Beer & Pub Association 

• British Holiday & Home Parks Association 

• Citizens Advice 

• Community Safety 

• Environmental Health 

• Federation of licensed victuallers 

• Gamblers Anonymous 

• BeGambleAware 

• Gambling Commission 

• Gamcare 

• Gamestec  

• Gamstop 

• Hampshire Constabulary 

• Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service 

• HM Revenue & Customs 
• Licence holders including all the permit holders 

• Local courts 

• Mencap 

• Planning and Sustainability 

• Public Health Southampton 

• Racecourse Association Ltd 

• Safeguarding Children 

Page 50



Part A – General 
 

7 of 59 

• Trading Standards 
Additionally it was available for the general public through the Consultation 
web page of Southampton City Council 

3.5 The full list of comments made and the consideration by the Council can be 
obtained from the Licensing Team, Southampton City Council, Civic Centre, 
Southampton SO14 7LY. The first policy was approved at a meeting of the Full 
Council on 15th November 2006 and has been subsequently revised and 
published via the Council’s website (www.southampton.gov.uk/gamblingslp). 
Copies are placed in all the city’s public libraries as well as being available from 
the Licensing Team at the Civic Centre. 

3.6 The Licensing Authority will also consult the above and any other relevant 
persons as may be appropriate for any subsequent revision of the statement. 

 
3.7 Any comments as regards this statement should be sent to: 

The Licensing Manager 
 
Southampton City Council 
Civic Centre 
Southampton 
SO14 7LY 
Tel: 023 8083 3002  
Email: licensing.policy@southampton.gov.uk  
 

3.8 It should be noted this Statement of Principles will not override the right of any 
person to make an application, make representations about an application, or 
apply for a review of a licence as each will be considered on its own merits and 
according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
4.0 Declaration 
4.1 In publishing this document, the Licensing Authority declares it has had regard 

to the licensing objectives of the Act, guidance issued by both the Government 
and the Gambling Commission and any responses from those consulted on the 
statement.  

5.0 Responsible authorities and interested parties 
5.1 When dealing with applications for and reviews of premises licences, the 

Licensing Authority is obliged to consider representations from two categories 
of persons, referred to as “responsible authorities” and “interested parties.” (It 
should be noted these are defined differently to those defined in the Licensing 
Act 2003). Representations made by persons other than responsible 
authorities or interested parties will be inadmissible.  

5.2 Southampton City Council has committed to adopt a Health in All Policies 
approach.  This means that health information will be considered when 
creating policies and other significant pieces of work.  Public health are not a 
responsible authority under the Gambling Act 2005, however, the licensing 
authority will consult the Director of Public Health on premises licence 
applications where appropriate. The licensing authority and Director of Public 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, Hanging:  1.4 cm

Page 51

mailto:licensing.policy@southampton.gov.uk


Part A – General 
 

8 of 59 

Health will consider the use of the Gambling Commission’s resources and 
toolkits when making decisions.  
 

5.3 “Responsible authorities” are public bodies that must be notified of applications 
by the applicant. They are as follows: 

• the Licensing Authority in whose area the premises are wholly or partly 
situated; 

• the Gambling Commission; 

• the Chief Officer of Police; 

• the Fire and Rescue Authority; 

• the Local Planning Authority; 

• the Environmental Health; 

• the Southampton Local Safeguarding Children Board; 

• HM Revenue and Customs; and 

• Any other person prescribed by the Secretary of State 
5.4 A full list and contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Act 

are contained on the Council’s website (www.southampton.gov.uk/licensing). 
5.5 The Licensing Authority is required by the regulations to state the principles it 

will apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act when 
designating in writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about 
the protection of children from harm. The principles are: 

• The need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole 
of the Licensing Authority’s area; and 

• The need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected 
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group. 

5.6 In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Local Authorities, this authority has approached the Local Children’s 
Safeguarding Board who in turn have designated Southampton Children 
Services as the body that is competent to advise the authority about the 
protection of children from harm. 

5.7 “Interested parties” are persons who may make representations about licence 
applications or apply for a review of an existing licence. These parties are 
defined in the Act as follows: 
“A person is an interested party in relation to an application for or in respect of 
a premises licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority which issues the 
licence or to which the application is made, the person - 

• lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities; or 

• has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities; or 

• represents persons in either of those two groups referred to above”. 

Commented [PB1]: PH comment 1 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.4 cm,  No bullets or numbering

Deleted: Public Protection Service

Commented [PB2]: Novomatic point 2 

Page 52



Part A – General 
 

9 of 59 

5.8 Each case will be considered on its merits. This authority will not apply a rigid 
rule to its decision making. It will consider the examples of considerations 
provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities.  

5.9 It will also consider the Gambling Commission’s Guidance that “has business 
interests” should be given the widest possible interpretation and include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 

5.10 The Gambling Commission has recommended the Licensing Authority states 
interested parties include trade associations, and trade unions, and residents 
and tenants’ associations (paragraph 6.21 of the Gambling Commission 
Guidance to Local Authorities). This authority will not, however, generally view 
these bodies as interested parties unless they have a member who can be 
classed as an interested person under the terms of the Act, i.e. lives sufficiently 
close to the premises to be likely affected by the activities being applied for or 
has business interests that might be affected. 

5.11 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as local 
councillors and MPs. No specific evidence of being asked to represent an 
interested person will be required as long as the councillor / MP represent the 
ward likely to be affected. 

5.12 If interested parties wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their 
views then care should be taken that the councillors are not part of the 
Licensing Committee dealing with that particular licence application. If there are 
any doubts then please contact  

Democratic Services 
Southampton City Council 
Civic Centre 
Southampton 
SO14 7LY 

5.13 Other than these however, this authority will generally require written evidence 
that a person/body (e.g. an advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who 
either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities and/or has business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activities. A letter from one of these persons, requesting the 
representation is sufficient. 

 
6.0 Exchange of Information 
6.1 Licensing Authorities are required to include in their statements the principles 

to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 and 
30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and the 
Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act with 
respect to the exchange of information between it and the other persons listed 
in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

6.2 The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the Act in 
its exchange of information which includes the provision that the Data 
Protection Act 2018, UK General Data Protection Regulations and other 
associated legislation will not be contravened. The Licensing Authority will also 
have regard to the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities, 

Page 53



Part A – General 
 

10 of 59 

in particular part 13 or any other part of the guidance that is applicable as and 
when amended. 

7.0 Compliance and Enforcement 
7.1 Licensing Authorities are required by regulation under the Act to state the 

principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under Part 
15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers under 
section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the offences 
specified. 

7.2 This Licensing Authority’s principles are that It will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s “Guidance to Local Authorities”, will adopt a risk-based 
inspection programme in accordance with the Regulators’ Code and will 
endeavour to be: 

• Proportionate: intervention only when necessary: remedies should be 
appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;  

• Accountable: decisions must be justified, and subject to public 
scrutiny; 

• Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented 
fairly; 

• Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple 
and user friendly; and 

• Targeted: focused on the problem and minimise side effects. 
7.3 The Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other 

regulatory regimes so far as possible. 
7.4 The main enforcement and compliance role for the Licensing Authority is to 

ensure compliance with the premises licences and other authorisations. The 
Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the operator and 
personal licences it issues. It should also be noted concerns about the 
manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the 
Licensing Authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. 

7.5 In particular, the Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default Conditions) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2007 (SI 2007 no. 1409) make provision for 
conditions to be attached to premises licences under section 167 and 168 of 
the Gambling Act 2005 

7.6 The Licensing Authority will keep itself informed of developments as regards 
the work of the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory 
functions of local authorities. 

7.7 Having regard to the principle of transparency, the Licensing Authority 
enforcement policy will be available on request to the Licensing Team. 

7.8 Southampton City Council has an adopted Enforcement Policy which will be 
adhered to when considering enforcement activity. 

 
 

Deleted: Compliance 

Commented [PB3]: Ppint 1 novomatic email 

Page 54



Part A – General 
 

11 of 59 

8.0 The Licensing Authority Functions 
8.1 The Licensing Authority will: 

• Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities 
are to take place by issuing Premises Licences  

• Issue Provisional Statements  

• Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 
undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits 
and/or Club Machine Permits  

• Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs  

• Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres  

• Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the 
Licensing Act 2003) of the use of two or fewer gaming machines  

• Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises 
licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed 
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where more than two 
machines are required  

• Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds  

• Issue Prize Gaming Permits  

• Receive and endorse Temporary Use Notices  

• Receive Occasional Use Notices  

• Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 
licences issued (see section above on information exchange) 

• Maintain registers of the permits and licences  issued under these 
functions 

8.2 The Licensing Authority will not be involved in licensing remote gambling. This 
will fall to the Gambling Commission via Operator Licences. 

 

Page 55



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

12 of 59 

Part B – Premises Licences 
 
9.0 Premises Licences – What Standards the Licensing Authority Expects 

from Applicants 
 
9.1 The Licensing Authority is required to take into account the following when 

taking decisions in respect of premises licences: 
(a) Relevant Gambling Commission Codes of Practice 
(b) Relevant Gambling Commission Guidance 
(c) Reasonable consistency with the Licensing Objectives (subject to a and b) 

 (d) This is our gambling statement of principles (subject to a – c) 
9.2 It is important for there to be clear guidelines as to how we will make decisions 

about premises licence applications. In this way we can be consistent and 
ensure the committee have clear reasons for decisions taken. It is also 
important to be transparent about this process so those who apply for licences 
and those who may have opinions about gambling premises know how the 
process works. 

9.3 In light of this we have set out below what we are looking for from applicants 
looking to offer gambling in Southampton. 

9.4 Each application for a premises licence will be considered on its merits; 
applicants are expected to show how they will meet licensing objective 
concerns, in order to be granted a licence. Where applicants fail to show how 
they will meet licensing objective concerns, licence conditions can be imposed 
or the application rejected. 

9.5 Licensing objectives: minimum standards for all premises 
9.5.1. We expect high standards from all gambling premises. These standards are 

in line with the three licensing objectives of the Gambling Act. 
9.5.2. The Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) which 

were revised and published in August 2024, formalise the need for operators 
to consider local risks. 

 
9.5.3. All premises licensees are to assess the local risks to the licensing 

objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each of their 
premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate 
those risks. It will be expected that operators will factor in the levels of 
deprivation in their local area and exercise greater vigilance, where 
appropriate, in matters such as monitoring, intervention, self-exclusion and 
display of information. In undertaking their risk assessments, they must take 
into account relevant matters identified in the licensing authority’s statement 
of policy. 

 
The local risk assessment should consider the urban setting: 

• The proximity of the premises to schools. 
• The commercial environment. 
• Factors affecting the footfall. 
• Whether the premises is in an area of deprivation. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, Hanging:  1.5 cm, Tab stops:
Not at  3.04 cm

Commented [PB4]: From BGC 

Deleted: October 2020

Deleted: <#>¶
¶

Commented [PB5]: From PH 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5 cm, Hanging:  1 cm

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm

Page 56



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

13 of 59 

• Whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime 
and/or disorder. 

• The ethnic profile of residents in the area. 
• The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups. 
• The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, toy 

shops, leisure centres and other areas where children will gather. 
• The range of facilities in the local area such as other gambling outlets, 

banks, post offices, refreshment and entertainment type facilities. 
• Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street 

drinkers, youths participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing 
activity, etc. 

• The proximity of churches, mosques, temples or any other place of 
worship. 

 
The local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, including people 
with gambling dependencies, are protected:  

• The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of 
excessive gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and 
how the manning of premises affects this.  

• Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and 
incidences of underage gambling.  

• Arrangements in place for local exchange of information regarding self-
exclusion and gaming trends.  

• Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay 
days or benefit payments. 

• Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age persons and 
vulnerable persons, which may include dedicated and trained 
personnel, leaflets, posters, self-exclusion schemes, window displays 
and advertisements not to entice passers-by etc. 

• The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, 
gambling care providers and other relevant information, provided in 
both English and any other prominent first language for that locality. 

• The proximity of premises that may be frequented by vulnerable people 
such as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor 
surgeries, council one stop shops, addiction clinics or help centres, 
places where alcohol or drug dependent people may congregate. 

• Arrangements in place to signpost vulnerable customers to relevant 
support organisations. 

 
The local risk assessment should show how children are to be protected:  

• The proximity of institutions, places or areas where children and young 
people frequent such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and 
entertainment venues such as bowling allies, cinemas, etc. 

• The proximity to places where children congregate such as bus stops, 
cafes, shops. 

• Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti-social 
behaviour, including activities such as graffiti, tagging, underage 
drinking etc. 

 
Other matters that the risk assessment may include: 

• Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and 
how the system will be monitored. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.75 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.75 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.75 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2 cm, Hanging:  0.75 cm

Page 57



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

14 of 59 

• The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of 
persons using the premises 

 
Appendix B provides details on local profiles in the city. This appendix is to 
be considered as a separate document from this policy to allow it to be easily 
updated if necessary.. 

 
 

9.5.4. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime: 
Generally this objective will be addressed through operating licences issued 
by the Gambling Commission. However we will require that premises have 
protocols in place to prevent staff or customers becoming a victim of robbery 
and identify those persons who may be at risk and the existence of these 
protocols is well-publicised. We will also outline control measures for tracks, 
as track operators do not need to hold an operating licence. The Gambling 
Commission highlights “disorder is intended to mean activity that is more 
serious and disruptive than mere nuisance.” For example, was police 
assistance required? How threatening was the behaviour to those who could 
see or hear it?  

9.5.5. Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
Generally this objective will be addressed by:  

• The management of the gambling business (in conjunction with 
the Gambling Commission, who are responsible for issuing and 
enforcement of the operating licence).  

• The personal licence holders proving their suitability and actions 
(which again is the responsibility of the Gambling Commission) 

In the case of those premises that do not hold an operating licence such as 
tracks, additional conditions may be required dependent on the risks outlined 
in the application.  

9.5.6. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling 

The Gambling Act defines “children” as those persons under 16 years of age 
and “young persons” as those persons aged 16 or 17 years of age. 
The term “vulnerable persons” is not defined, however the following offers some 
guidance:  

• People who gamble more than they want to  

• People who gamble beyond their means  

• People who may not be able to make informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling due to a lack of mental capacity, 
potentially due to cognitive or mental health conditions, alcohol, 
drugs or even some pharmaceutical treatments. 

The governments ‘Gambling-related harms evidence review’ updated on 30th 
September 2021 estimates 0.5% of the population reached the threshold to 
be considered problem gamblers and 3.8% of the population were considered 
as ‘at risk gamblers’. People identified as problem gamblers are more typically 

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left:  1.75 cm,  No
bullets or numbering

Deleted:  In undertaking their risk assessments, they must 
take into account relevant matters identified in the licensing 
authority’s statement of policy. Appendix B provides details 
on local profiles in the city. This appendix is to be 
considered as a separate document from this policy to 
allow it to be easily updated if necessary

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, Hanging:  1.75 cm, Tab
stops:  2 cm, List tab

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.75 cm, Tab stops:  2 cm, List tab

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.75 cm

Page 58



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

15 of 59 

male and in younger age groups. The socio-demographic profile of gamblers 
appears to change as gambling risk increases, with harmful gambling 
associated with people who are unemployed and among people living in more 
deprived areas. 
In Southampton we will also consider the following people to be vulnerable to 
the risks of gambling: 

• Those who are dependent for a source of income on somebody 
who gambles more than they want to or beyond their means  

• Those who are employed by gambling operators and have regular 
contact with gambling 

• Those aged 16-29. 

• Habitual players of gaming machines. 
Additionally research by City of Westminster Council, Manchester City 
Council and the Local government Association identified the groups as 
at greater risk of harm from gambling. This list is not exhaustive but 
includes the following: 

• Young people 
• People from Asian or Oriental ethnic groups,  
• People who are unemployed 
• People in deprived areas 
• People who are homeless 
• People who are migrants 
• People on probation 
• People under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol 
• People with some mental health, cognitive or neurodiverse 

conditions 
• People with a history of problematic gambling 

 
Research by Leeds Beckett University notes that problem gambling is 
likely to be twice as high in: 

• Metropolitan Boroughs 
• Urban Areas 
• Areas of Greater Population Density 
• Multi-cultural areas 
• More prosperous areas 

(Problem Gambling in Leeds; Kenyon, Ormerod, Parsons and Wardle, 
2016) 
We expect all premises license holders to be aware that actual rates of 
problem gambling may be higher than reported in this document. 
These factors need to be addressed by applicants and licence holders 
when completing their risk assessments, further information on these 
subjects are contained appendix B. 
What constitutes harm or exploitation will have to be considered on a 
case-by-case basis.  

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.5 cm

Commented [PB6]: PH comment slightly tweaked and in 
9.5.5 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  3.25 cm, Hanging:  0.5 cm

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.04 cm

Page 59



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

16 of 59 

We expect all premises licence holders to have suitable safeguarding 
policies in respect of children, young persons and vulnerable persons. 
We expect premises licence holders to ensure all staff are trained to 
recognise safeguarding issues when they arise and act appropriately. 
Such policies must be kept updated and staff training refreshed at 
frequent intervals. 
Further we expect premises to display information on mental health, 
alcohol and drug services on-site where it is accessible by customers 
and staff. 

9.5.7. General considerations for all gambling premises 
We expect high standards from premises licence applicants in order to 
promote the licensing objectives. We will therefore look to apply licence 
conditions where appropriate to ensure these standards are met. The 
types of conditions we may look to apply in respect of all types of 
premises are listed below with more premises specific conditions listed 
in 10 to 19 below.  

9.5.8. Data gathering and sharing 
Keeping track of the incidence and handling of problem gambling in 
Southampton is a key part of promoting the licensing objectives. We 
expect all Southampton-based gambling premises to maintain a log and 
share this and other information with the Licensing Team upon request. 
Data we consider should be recorded and shared includes (but is not 
exclusive to): 
(a) Number of interventions in a calendar month along with a short 

description of the cause and effect 
(b) Number of cases in a calendar month where persons who have 

decided to voluntarily exclude themselves from the premises 
have tried to gain entry 

(c) Number of mandatory exclusions needing enforcement in a 
calendar month along with a short description of the cause and 
effect 

(d) Attempts to enter by those under age in a calendar month along 
with short description of incident and action 

(e) Attempts to enter by those under age in the company of adults in 
a calendar month along with short description of incident and 
action 

(f) Attempts to enter by those under age with complicit adults in a 
calendar month along with short description of incident and action 

(g) Incidents of ‘at risk behaviour’ in a calendar month along with 
short description of incident and action 

(h) Incidents of ‘behaviour requiring immediate intervention’ in a 
calendar month along with short description of incident and 
action. 

We will look to work with the trade to ensure inconvenience is minimised 
while we build up a picture of gambling risks and progress in risk 
management. Before any publication, information shared with the 

Deleted: ¶
¶

Deleted: (to be defined when a data request is made) 

Deleted:  (to be defined when a data request is made) 

Commented [PB7]: Novomatic email point 4 

Page 60



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

17 of 59 

Licensing Team would be redacted as appropriate, so as to prevent 
dissemination of clearly sensitive personal data. 

9.5.9. Knowledge  
We expect all customer-facing and management staff in premises 
licensed under the Gambling Act 2005 to have sufficient knowledge to 
tackle risks associated with gambling and know how to promote 
responsible gambling. Amongst other elements, staff knowledge should 
include (where appropriate): 
(a) The importance of social responsibility (Premises may wish to seek 

an audit from GamCare or such other appropriate body in order to 
obtain a Certificate of Social Responsibility) 

(b) Causes and consequences of problem gambling 
(c) Identifying and communicating with vulnerable persons: primary 

intervention and escalation 
(d) Dealing with problem gamblers: exclusion (mandatory and 

voluntary) and escalating for advice/treatment 
(e) Refusal of entry (alcohol and drugs) 
(f) Age verification procedures and need to return stakes/withdraw 

winnings if under age persons found gambling 
(g) Importance and enforcement of time/spend limits 
(h) The conditions of the licence 
(i) Maintaining an incident log 
(j) Offences under the Gambling Act 
(k) Categories of gaming machines and the stakes and odds associated 

with each machine 
(l) Types of gaming and the stakes and odds associated with each 
(m) Staff exclusion from gambling at the premises where they are 

employed and reasons for restriction 
(n) The ”no tipping”’ rule, unless a common fund into which tips and 

service charges are paid for distribution to the staff (a “tronc”) is 
established and conducted in accordance with current H.M. 
Revenue and Customs advice. 

(o) Ability to signpost customers to support services with respect to 
problem gambling, financial management, debt advice etc.  

(p) Safe cash-handling/payment of winnings 
(q) Identify forged ID and bar those using forged ID from the premises 
(r) Knowledge of a problem gambling helpline number (for their own 

use as well as  customers)  
(s) The importance of not encouraging customers to: 

• Increase the amount of money they have decided to gamble 

• Enter into continuous gambling for a prolonged period 

• Continue gambling when they have expressed a wish to stop 

Page 61



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

18 of 59 

• Re-gamble winnings 

• Chase losses. 
Above and beyond this we expect managers to have an in-depth 
knowledge of all of the above and be able to support staff in ensuring the 
highest standards with regard to protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. 
In so far as training, we do not intend to duplicate any existing training 
requirement, such as may be required by the Gambling Commission’s 
Code of Practice.  
For premises that supply alcohol by retail under the authority of a 
premises licence granted under the Licensing Act 2003 staff to receive 
alcohol intervention training.  

9.5.10. A self-exclusion scheme 
We expect all premises to operate a voluntary exclusion scheme. This 
means wherever customers request to be excluded from the premises, 
they are excluded for an agreed timeframe. A self-exclusion facility 
should be supported by a written agreement drawn up in accordance 
with the relevant code of practice and trade association advice. The 
premises take responsibility for ensuring the person who requests 
voluntary exclusion is not readmitted during the agreed period and has 
been signposted to counselling and support services.  

9.5.11. Intervention to protect vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling 

We expect all premises offering gambling to have a mechanism in place 
to identify vulnerable persons and to monitor and intervene where 
customers may be gambling beyond their means or more than they 
would like or otherwise in a way that is harmful, or it is suspected it may 
be harmful to others who are dependent on them. Intervention may 
include raising the customer’s awareness of the existence of support 
services and the availability of a voluntary exclusion scheme. However 
intervention may also include directing a counselling session and 
following that session potentially mandatory exclusion. 
To reduce the impact of harmful gambling on associates of participants 
premises to have in place interventions for individuals who are displaying 
anger or aggressive behaviour linked to their gambling prior to leaving 
the premises.    
Beyond this we do not wish to be overly prescriptive in how intervention 
shall proceed. This is a developing area and we feel there are benefits 
with different operators trying out different approaches; the best of which 
can then be taken forward on a wider scale. 

9.5.12. The location of gambling premises  
Locations for gambling premises, which may pose problems, include 
those in close proximity to premises frequented by children or other 
vulnerable persons e.g. schools or parks. Each case will be considered 
on its merits and if adequate measures are put in place in accordance 
with this policy to restrict access to children, protect vulnerable persons 
and prevent crime and disorder, there is no reason why one location 

Deleted: unless a

Deleted: counselling session has first been held and re-
admittance agreed.

Commented [PB8]: Novomatic point 5 

Commented [PB9]: Novomatic email point 5 

Commented [PB10]: Novomatic point 5 

Page 62



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

19 of 59 

poses substantively more risk than another. We recognise the presence 
of gambling premises with a constant stream of trade in what may have 
formerly been an underused area may serve to reduce crime and 
disorder, however this will only be the case where necessary safeguards 
are put in place either by the operator or by the licensing authority in the 
form of licence conditions.  

9.5.13. Layout and Access  
Premises should ensure appropriate systems and procedures are in 
place to ensure the exclusion of those persons who have requested to 
be excluded as well as under 18s (where appropriate). This should 
include, at minimum, a “Think 21” scheme with acceptable ID limited to 
either a photo driving licence, passport or PASS accredited proof-of-age 
scheme. Prominent signage at all entrances should indicate this 
requirement. We would encourage easily visible exit signs and large 
clock faces to be placed so visitors do not lose track of time 
Whilst under 18s CANNOT enter the vast majority of licensed gambling 
premises, there are exceptions. Under 18s CAN enter:  

• The gambling areas of a bingo club other than areas containing 
category C and above gaming machines  

• The gambling areas of a track (on race days) other than off-
course betting and areas containing category C gaming machines 

• Licensed Family Entertainment Centres (FEC) 
(See the prescribed mandatory and default conditions and 
Gambling Commission guidance and codes of practice for details 
of under 18s rights of access and participation.). 
In the case of premises that are able to allow under 18s to access 
some gambling areas, due attention should be given to layout and 
access to ensure under 18s do not participate in gambling or gain 
access to areas where access is restricted, and the areas are 
suitably monitored. 
Where category C or above gaming machines are available in 
premises to which under 18s are admitted, we expect:: 

• All such machines are located in an area of the premises 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical 
barrier which is effective to prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance 

• Only over 18s are admitted to the area where these machines are 
located 

• Access to the area where the machines are located is supervised 

• The area where the machines are located is arranged so it can be 
observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder  

• At the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

Where under 18s are loitering outside the premises, steps should be 
taken by the premises licence holder to discourage them from loitering 

Page 63



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

20 of 59 

there and consideration should be made to reporting this to the police or 
education welfare officer as appropriate.  
Furthermore, premises should ensure vulnerable persons are either 
excluded from gambling (in the case of those who are under the 
influence of alcohol or drugs, under voluntary exclusion or have been 
excluded for whatever other reason) or are under supervision with the 
possibility of intervention. Such exclusions should not discriminate 
against people who may be wrongly judged to be vulnerable e.g. people 
with a protected characteristic under the Equality Act 2010; we recognise 
this may be a difficult judgement to make at times and premises should 
ensure staff are trained to make reasonable and non-discriminatory 
judgements. 
Whilst supervisors of entrances and exits may need to be registered with 
the Security Industry Authority, we expect all customer-facing and 
managerial staff in Southampton to show a due level of competence and 
understanding of responsible gambling. This may, for example, involve 
undergoing training and sitting an examination. 
Sometimes several licences may be in place for just one premises or one 
licence may cover only part of the premises. In light of this operators 
must carefully consider the premises layout to ensure children and young 
persons (as appropriate) neither gain access to areas used for gambling 
nor are brought into close proximity to gambling. 

9.5.14. Access 
Premises should take such steps as are reasonably practicable to 
ensure entrances and exits to the premises will enable persons using 
the premises (including disabled persons) and the facilities to be safe 
and free from risks to health and while such persons are present on the 
premises every exit provided for their use shall be unsecured and free 
from obstruction. 

9.5.15. Staff restrictions on access to gambling 
Gambling premises staff are brought into close proximity with gaming 
and/or gaming machines on a regular basis and therefore may have a 
heightened vulnerability to problem gambling. There is also a risk of off 
duty staff colluding with their colleagues. For these reasons we feel staff 
must be excluded from gaming or gambling on the premises at which 
they work at all times. Larger operators may also want to consider 
offering an Employee Assistance Programme. Smaller operators may 
simply wish to refer staff with gambling problems to a local counselling 
service. 

9.5.16. Staff to customer ratio 
To ensure the safety of both customers and staff, sufficient staffing 
numbers should be in place at all times the premises is open. All 
premises will be expected to demonstrate they will have in place a 
suitable staff to customer ratio as appropriate to the premises. A suitable 
ratio should take into account the protection of staff and customers with 
respect to the crime and disorder objective as well as the objective of 
protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.  

Page 64



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

21 of 59 

When deciding their ratio we would advise premises to seek the advice 
of the Crime Reduction Officer prior to application. 

9.5.17. Inducements to gamble 
To further ensure the safety of both customers and staff and protect 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, 
premises should not use inducements to gamble such as advertising  
free or cut price alcohol or food. 

9.5.18. Advertising 
Applicants will be required to demonstrate how they will comply with the 
relevant Gambling Commission code of practice and Advertising 
Standards Authority regulations in respect of advertisements. 
Advertising should not target ‘vulnerable persons’.  

9.5.19. On-premises provision of gambling advice 
A risk-aware and gambling literate customer base with recourse to 
advice and assistance is likely to have a lesser chance of being harmed 
or exploited by gambling. Where people gamble we want them to do so 
for entertainment rather than in the expectation of a big win or to chase 
losses. 
In light of this, we will expect all gambling premises:  
(a) Provide leaflets and posters, free telephone helpline and 

GamCare/BeGambleAware contact details aimed at customers 
and their families/friends, which will include how to identify signs 
of problem gambling and pathways to advice and assistance e.g. 
helpline number and online counselling facility. For every 100m2 
of gambling/gaming and/or gaming machines at least one 
prominent leaflet display must be provided along with a 
neighbouring poster to reinforce the message. Leaflets and 
posters should also be available in more discreet locations e.g. 
toilets. 

(b) Prominently display details of odds with each gaming machine 
Premises should liaise with the BeGambleAware to gain approval for 
leaflet and poster content and ensure pointers to local sources of help 
and guidance are up to date and relevant. 
Whenever a customer expresses concern about their gambling, unless 
prevented from doing so by staff safety concerns, staff should provide 
them with a responsible gambling leaflet, suggest they contact the 
helpline number and make them aware of their self-exclusion facilities 
and local counselling services available.  

9.5.20. Exclusion of those who appear to be under the influence of 
alcohol or drugs etc. 

In order to protect both staff and those who are under the influence of 
alcohol or drugs (thereby potentially distorting their ability to make 
rational decisions), those persons who appear to be in such a state must 
be immediately excluded from the premises. Signage should be 
prominently displayed to indicate this. Please note with reference to 
those persons with mental impairment or mental health difficulties, 
premises would be well-advised to consult a suitable Mental Health 

Page 65



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

22 of 59 

Advisor and formulate a policy to protect this category of vulnerable 
person from being harmed or exploited by gambling, while allowing 
people with mental capacity to enjoy gambling as other customers do. 

9.5.21. Safe Cash-handling 
In the interest of preventing crime and disorder, we require all gambling 
premises in Southampton to have a minimum provision for safe cash-
handling and thereby prevent against theft/robbery etc. We will expect 
minimum standards in terms of:  

• The frequency of banking cash (to avoid large sums being 
involved) 

• Use of security personnel for transport 

• No. of staff handling cash at any one time 

• A fully up to date CCTV system with records kept for an 
appropriate length of time (including signage to indicate the 
presence of such a system) 

• Local and emergency contact details for the emergency services 
clearly displayed in office areas 

• Consultation with a Crime Reduction Officer and regular security 
reviews 

For security reasons, while we will not expect premises to tell us the 
precise details of the protocols they have in place, the licensing authority 
will need to be satisfied effective procedures exist. It should be 
prominently publicised on–site that robust security measures are in 
place.  

9.5.22. Safe payment of winnings 
In the interest of preventing aggravated robbery etc. gambling premises 
should consider offering their customers a choice of methods by which 
their winnings may be paid. This could include either cheque or BACS 
payment. These options should be well publicised. 

9.5.23. Adequate lighting inside and out 
We expect all premises to have adequate lighting inside and out 
(appropriate to the premises in question) to ensure against robbery and 
other covert activity. 
 

9.5.24. Engagement with the police 
In addition to the need to consult a local Crime Reduction Officer, the 
operators of new premises/premises undergoing a refurbishment should 
also engage with the police’s architectural liaison unit at the design stage 
to ensure crime prevention and detection. 

9.5.25. Specific types of premises and what we are looking for in respect 
of each 

While we have outlined minimum standards we expect from all gambling 
premises in the previous section, any areas we need to stress, due to 
differences between premises types, are outlined below. 

Page 66



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

23 of 59 

The Council will pay particular attention to any Codes of Practice, issued 
by the Gambling Commission in respect of specific types of premises. 

 
10.0 General Principles 
10.1 Premises licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Act and 

regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions which will be 
detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State. Licensing Authorities 
are able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is 
believed to be appropriate. 

10.2 The Licensing Authority will aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in 
so far as it thinks it: 
(a) in accordance with any relevant code of practice under section 24, 
(b) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Commission 

under section 25, 
(c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to 

paragraphs (a) and (b)), and 
(d) in accordance with the statement published by the authority under 

section 349 (subject to paragraphs (a) to (c)) 
10.3 The Licensing Authority appreciates that in accordance with the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance “moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason 
to reject applications for premises licences” (except as regards any “no casino” 
resolution – see section on Casinos below – paragraph 15 below) and also 
unmet demand is not a criterion for the Licensing Authority. 

 
10.4 Definition of “premises” 

"Premises" is defined in the Act as “at any place”. Different premises licences 
cannot apply in respect of a single premises at different times. However, it is 
possible for a single building to be subject to more than one premises licence, 
provided they are for different parts of the building and the different parts of the 
building can be reasonably regarded as being different premises. Whether 
different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate 
premises will always be a question of fact in the circumstances. However, the 
Gambling Commission does not consider areas of a building that are artificially 
or temporarily separate can be properly regarded as different premises. 

10.5 This Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Local Authorities which states (paragraphs 7.26 and 7.27): 
“Licensing authorities should take particular care in considering applications 
for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. In particular they should be 
aware that entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different 
premises is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling 
area. The plan of the premises should clearly denote entrances and exits.”   
For bingo and Family Entertainment Centres premises, it is a mandatory 
condition under-18s should not have access to areas where category B and C 

Page 67



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

24 of 59 

gaming machines are located and this is achieved through further mandatory 
conditions that require the area to be:  

• separated from the rest of the premises by a physical barrier which is 
effective to prevent access other than by an entrance designed for that 
purpose   

• supervised at all times to ensure under-18s do not enter the area, and 
supervised by either: 

o one or more persons whose responsibilities include ensuring under-18s 
do not enter the areas 

o CCTV monitored by one or more persons whose responsibilities 
include ensuring under-18s do not enter the areas  

• arranged in a way that ensures all parts of the area can be observed.  
A notice must be displayed in a prominent place at the entrance to the area 
stating no person under the age of 18 is permitted to enter the area. ” 

10.6 Duplication with other regulatory regimes 
The Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory 
or regulatory systems where possible, including planning. This authority will not 
consider whether a licence application is likely to be granted planning 
permission or building regulations approval, in its consideration of it. It will 
though, listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions that are 
not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a 
situation arise. 
 

 
11.0 Conditions on premises licences 
11.1 The mandatory and default conditions are designed to be sufficient to ensure 

an operation is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. 
Accordingly, additional conditions will only be imposed where, in the 
circumstances of the case, there is evidence of a risk to the licensing 
objectives that is not adequately addressed by the mandatory and default 
conditions or policies, procedures and mitigation measure outlined in the 
local area risk assessment. 
 

11.2 The Licensing Authority will ensure any conditions imposed are proportionate 
to the circumstances which they are seeking to address, and will ensure any 
premises licence conditions are: 

• relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility (i.e. relate only to gambling, as appropriate under 
s.153); 

• directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

• fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; 

• not replicating requirements set out elsewhere (e.g. the Commission’s 
Licence conditions and codes of practice (LCCP) or other legislation), 

• not seeking to address a matter already dealt with by mandatory 
conditions and; 

Page 68



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

25 of 59 

• reasonable in all other respects 
11.3 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis. 

The authority recognises conditions can only be imposed when necessary and 
any conditions imposed must be proportionate to the aim. There will be a 
number of measures this Licensing Authority will consider utilising, such as the 
use of supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. There are 
specific comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below. 
This Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her 
own suggestions as to ways in which the licensing objectives can be met 
effectively. 

11.4 The Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be 
required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. Such 
measures may include: 

• supervision of entrances; 

• segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by 
children; 

• supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific 
premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives. 

These matters are in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance. 
11.5 The Licensing Authority will also ensure where category C or above machines 

are on offer in premises to which children are admitted: 

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier 
which is effective to prevent access other than through a designated 
entrance; 

• only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

• the area where these machines are located is arranged so it can be 
observed by the staff or the licence holder; and 

• at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating access to the area is prohibited to persons 
under 18. 

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable. 
 
 

11.6 The Licensing Authority is aware tracks may be subject to one or more than 
one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the 
track. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this Licensing Authority 
will consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the need to 
ensure entrances to each type of premises are distinct and children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

11.7 It is noted there are conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot attach to 
premises licence which are: 

Page 69



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

26 of 59 

• any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to 
comply with an operating licence condition; 

• conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or 
methods of operation; 

• conditions which provide membership of a club or body be required 
(the Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership 
requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it 
being reinstated); and 

• conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes 
11.8 Door Supervisors 

The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to Local Authorities that 
licensing authorities may consider whether there is a need for door supervisors 
in terms of the licensing objectives of protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in terms of 
preventing premises becoming a source of crime. . 

11.9 For premises other than casinos and bingo premises, operators and licensing 
authorities may decide supervision of entrances/machines is necessary for 
particular cases. 

 
12.0 Other Legislation 
12.1 The Licensing Authority will not take into account matters not related to 

gambling and the licensing objectives when considering an application for a 
premises licence. However, it is for the operator to ensure premises comply 
with all other relevant legislation such as fire safety, food safety and health & 
safety. It should be noted these examples are not exhaustive, and applicants 
must ensure they comply with all other regulatory regimes in respect of their 
employees and the public. 

12.2 So far as is possible, this statement of principles will avoid duplicating those 
other regulatory regimes. 

 
13.0 Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 
13.1 The Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 

children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and 
will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority there will be sufficient measures 
to ensure, for example, persons under the age of 18 do not have access to the 
premises. 

13.2 The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the licensing objectives however, appropriate measures / licence 
conditions may cover issues such as: 

• Proof of age schemes 

• CCTV 

• Supervision of entrances/machine areas 

• Physical separation of areas 

• Location of entry 

Page 70



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

27 of 59 

• Notices/signage 

• Specific opening hours 

• Self-barring schemes 

• Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare. 

• Staff training 
This list is neither mandatory nor exhaustive and is merely indicative of 
reasonable measures which might be in place. 

 
14.0 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres 
14.1 The Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 

children and children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by 
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority there will be 
sufficient measures to ensure persons under the age of 18 do not have access 
to the adult only gaming machine areas.  

14.2 The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the licensing objectives however appropriate measures/licence 
conditions may cover issues such as: 

• CCTV 

• Proof of age scheme 

• Supervision of entrances/machine areas 

• Physical separation of areas 

• Location of entry 

• Notices/signage 

• Specific opening hours 

• Self-barring schemes 

• Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare/BeGambleAware 

• Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises 

• Ensuring there are no inducements to remain in the gaming areas 
longer than anyone can reasonably afford to 

• Staff training 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

14.3 The Licensing Authority will refer to any conditions applied by the Gambling 
Commission to operating licences covering the way in which the area 
containing the category C machines should be delineated. The Licensing 
Authority is also aware of mandatory and default conditions on these premises 
licences.  

 

Page 71



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

28 of 59 

15.0 Casinos 
15.1 “No Casino” resolution 

The Licensing Authority has not passed a “no casino” resolution under Section 
166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware it has the power to do so. Should 
the Licensing Authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it will 
update this policy statement with details of that resolution.  

15.2 Such a resolution would be reviewed at three yearly intervals or sooner should 
the circumstances warrant a revision of the resolution. Any such decision will 
be made by Full Council. Such a resolution would not affect pre-existing 
licensed casinos. 

Casinos and competing applications 
15.3 On 26 February 2008 the Secretary of State issued the Code of Practice on 

Determinations relating to large and small Casinos. The Licensing Authority 
will comply with this Code which sets out:  

(a) the procedure to be followed in making any determinations required under 
paragraphs 4 and 5 of Schedule 9 to the Gambling Act 2005; and 

(b) matters to which the Licensing Authority should have regard in making 
those determinations. 

15.4 On 15 May 2008 the Categories of Casino Regulations 2008 and the Gambling 
(Geographical Distribution of Large and Small Casino Premises Licences) 
Order 2008 were approved and Southampton City Council was authorised to 
issue a Large Casino Premises Licence. 

15.5 On 22nd March 2016 the Licensing Authority granted a Provisional Statement 
for a Large Casino to Aspers. That provisional statement lasted for a period of 
three years to 22nd March 2019. After an application to extend the provisional 
statement the Licensing Authority granted an extension until 22nd March 2022. 
This was further extended to 28th November 2023 and has not been extended 
further. .. 

15.6 At this stage the licensing authority is considering its options with regards to 
the large casino licence. The options currently available to the authority are:- 
(a) Invite applications for a large casino. 
(b) Hold onto the licence but not invite applications. 
(c) Return the licence to the government for redistribution.  

15.7 Should the Licensing Authority decide to invite applications it will follow the 
process under Schedule 9 of the Gambling Act 2005 and have regard to The 
Gambling (Inviting Competing Applications for Large and Small Casino 
Premises Licences) Regulations 2008 and the Code of Practice issued by the 
Secretary of State. 

15.8 In accordance with the above regulations the Licensing Authority will publish 
an invitation calling for applications for the Large Casino Premises Licence.  
In addition, consideration of all applications will be deferred until the 
published closing date for applications. 
 

15.9 Where the Licensing Authority receives multiple applications for the Large 
Casino Premises Licence, there will be a two-stage application process in 
accordance with the Code of Practice issued by the Secretary of State. 

Page 72



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

29 of 59 

General Principles 
 
15.10 In the Code of Practice published on 26 February 2008 by the Secretary of 

State, it states that a Council should pay particular attention to the following in 
determining the principles or criteria they propose to apply: 

(a) protection of children 
(b) crime and disorder 
(c) fair gambling 
(d) employment and regeneration 
(e) design and location 
(f) non-gambling facilities 
(g) financial and other contributions 

15.11 The Licensing Authority recognises that applicants may either apply for a full 
Large Casino Premises Licence or alternatively a Provisional Statement. 
Applicants for full Large Casino Premises Licences however must fulfil certain 
criteria, in that they must: 

(a) hold or have applied for an Operating Licence; and 
(b) have the right to occupy 

 In making any decision in respect of an application, the Licensing Authority 
shall not take into account the likelihood of the applicant’s obtaining planning 
permission or building regulation approval and any decision shall not constrain 
any later decision by the Authority under the law relating to planning or building. 
The Licensing Authority does, however, strongly recommend that planning 
permission is sought prior to submitting an application. 

15.12 In determining whether to grant a premises licence a licensing authority may 
not have regard to the expected demand for the facilities which it is proposed 
to provide. 

15.13 In making a decision on both stages of the procedure, the Licensing Authority 
will have regard to any Regulations, Guidance or Code of Practice issued by 
the Secretary of State, DCMS or Gambling Commission. 

Casino Application Stage 1 
15.14 The Licensing Authority will provide an application pack that will include a 

Statement of the procedure that the Licensing Authority proposes to follow in 
assessing applications for Large Casino Premises Licence. 

15.15 With regard to Stage 1, the General Principles as stated in Part B of this 
Gambling Licensing Policy shall apply to all casino applications. 

15.16 Stage 1 – ‘The Regulatory Test’ will be implemented where the Licensing 
Authority receives a Premises Licence application or a Provisional Statement 
application. The Licensing Authority will consider each application separately 
on its own merit and with no reference being made to the other applications 
received. 

15.17 At this stage the Licensing Authority cannot accept any additional information 
other than the prescribed application form laid down in The Gambling Act 2005 
(Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) (England and Wales) 

Page 73



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

30 of 59 

Regulations 2007. All such additional information will be disregarded and 
returned to the applicant. 

15.18 The Licensing Authority recognises that each of the other competing applicants 
is considered an ‘interested party’ and as a result may make representations. 
Such applicants are however reminded that an interested party is defined in 
Part A of this Policy and each representation will be considered carefully to 
ensure it meets the principles set within this Gambling Licensing Policy. 

15.19 Representations will be treated in the same manner as for a Premises Licence 
and in accordance with paragraphs relating to Representations in this Policy 
and the Principles for deciding on interested parties as stated in this Gambling 
Licensing Policy. It is recognised that the Licensing Authority’s decision may 
be appealed against, in which case the Licensing Authority will not proceed to 
Stage 2 until all appeals have been dealt with. 

15.20 If this process results in more than one provisional decision to grant a Premises 
Licence, Stage 2 – the “Greatest Benefit” test, will be implemented. 

15.21 Where a Provisional Statement application is successful, the Licensing 
Authority may limit the period of time for which the Provisional Statement will 
have effect. This period may be extended if the applicant so applies. 

Casino Application Stage 2 
15.22 The Licensing Authority will not consider any Stage 2 applications until the 

closing date for applications in the competition. 
15.23 At Stage 2, the applicant will be required to state what benefit’ they can bring 

to the residents of Southampton and how they can contribute to the wellbeing 
of the area. 

15.24 Details of the Licensing Authority’s evaluation criteria and an explanation of 
the proposed process will be part of the Application Pack that will be sent to 
applicants. 

15.25 Where an applicant presents proposals for consideration by the Licensing 
Authority, they will be requested to prepare a draft Legal Agreement 
committing themselves to the proposals being made in advance of 
consideration by the Licensing Committee. The Licensing Authority regards the 
completion of a legal agreement as being of great importance in securing the 
delivery of the benefits proposed. A decision by the Licensing Authority to 
approve an application will provide the requisite authority for the Council to 
enter into the Agreement, subject to any legal challenge to the Authority’s 
decision. The form of such Legal Agreement will be provided in the application 
pack. In the event that the successful applicant fails to carry out the proposal 
in accordance with the Legal Agreement, the Licensing Authority may receive 
liquidated damages. Adherence to the Agreement will also be a condition on 
the Premises Licence so that a breach of the Agreement may result in a review 
of the Licence. 

15.26 In the event that the successful operator does not open a casino within the 
agreed timescale, then the Licensing Authority has the power to revoke and in 
doing so the Licensing Authority may elect to run a new competition. 

15.27 The decision on the successful applicant will be made public and the reasons 
published on the Council’s web site, with any necessary redaction to preserve 
commercial confidentiality. 

Page 74



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

31 of 59 

15.28 The Licensing Committee members will be able to consider all the applications 
and award their own scoring as considered appropriate using the competition 
principles and weighting document in the application pack. The Casino Licence 
or Provisional Statement will be offered to the highest ranked applicant at 
Stage 2, subject to completion of the Legal Agreement being accepted. If the 
Agreement is not completed then the Licensing Authority reserves the right to 
make the award for the next ranked applicant. 

15.29 The unsuccessful applicant(s) will be informed of the result and reasons for 
rejection as soon as is reasonably practicable. Once a decision has been made 
by the Licensing Committee there will be no right of appeal against this 
decision. 

15.30 In accordance with the Code of Practice issued by the Secretary of State, the 
Licensing Authority shall ensure that there is a Register of Interests in place 
disclosing interest in any contract, arrangement or other relationship with an 
applicant or a person connected or associated with an applicant. The Register 
will be published on the Council’s web site; alternatively a hard copy will be 
made available upon request free of charge. However, applicants should note 
that this does not apply to any agreement between the Licensing Authority and 
applicant entered into during the second stage of the competition. The Register 
will be update as required during the application process. 
 

15.31 Betting Machines 
The Licensing Authority will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission's 
Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter 
positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to 
monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence 
for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the 
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer. 

 
16.0 Bingo Premises 
16.1 The Licensing Authority has noted if children are allowed to enter premises 

licensed for bingo they must not participate in gambling, other than on category 
D machines. Where category C or above machines are available in premises 
to which children are admitted the Licensing Authority will ensure: 

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from 
the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance; 

• only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located; 

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

• the area where the machines are located is arranged so it can be 
observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and 

• at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating access to the area is prohibited to persons 
under 18. 

Page 75



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

32 of 59 

16.2 This Licensing Authority will follow the guidance about the particular issues 
licensing authorities should take into account in relation to the suitability and 
layout of bingo premises. 
 

17.0 Betting Premises 
17.1 Betting machines – The Licensing Authority will, in accordance with the 

Gambling Commission’s Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, 
the number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, 
and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, 
when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an 
operator wants to offer. This is in addition to the four gaming machines 
permitted with a premises licence.  

17.2 This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the licensing objectives however appropriate measures / licence 
conditions may cover issues such as: 

• Proof of age schemes 

• CCTV 

• Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

• Location of entry 

• Notices / signage 

• Specific opening hours 

• Self-barring schemes 

• Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare 

• Staff training 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

 
18.0 Tracks 
18.1 Tracks are sites (including horse racecourses and dog tracks) where races or 

other sporting events take place. Betting is a major gambling activity on tracks, 
both in the form of pool betting (often known as the “totalisator” or “tote”), and 
also general betting, often known as “fixed-odds” betting. 

18.2 The Licensing Authority is aware tracks may be subject to one or more than 
one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the 
track. The Licensing Authority will especially consider the impact upon the third 
licensing objective (i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure entrances to 
each type of premises are distinct and children are excluded from gambling 
areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

18.3 The Licensing Authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure children do not have access to adult 
only gaming facilities. It is noted children and young persons will be permitted 

Commented [PB11]: Novomatic email point 10.  

Deleted: <#>¶

Page 76



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

33 of 59 

to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-
racing and/or horse racing takes place, but they are still prevented from 
entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D machines) are 
provided. 

18.4 This Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the licensing objectives however appropriate measures / licence 
conditions may cover issues such as: 

• Proof of age schemes 

• CCTV 

• Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

• Physical separation of areas 

• Location of entry 

• Notices / signage 

• Specific opening hours 

• Self-barring schemes 

• Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare 

• Staff training 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

18.5 Gaming machines  
The Licensing Authority will consider the location of gaming machines at 
tracks, and applicants for track premises licences will need to demonstrate, 
where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use 
his entitlement to four gaming machines, these machines are located in areas 
from which children are excluded. Children and young persons are not 
prohibited from playing category D gaming machines on a track. 

18.6 Betting machines 
The Licensing Authority will take into account the size of the premises and the ability 

of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is 
an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering 
the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to 
offer. It will also take note of the Gambling Commission's suggestion licensing 
authorities will want to consider restricting the number and location of such 
machines in respect of applications for track betting premises licences. 

 
18.7 Condition on rules being displayed 

The Gambling Commission has advised in its Guidance to Local Authorities 
that “…licensing authorities should attach a condition to track premises 
licences requiring the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently 
displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other measures are taken to 
ensure that they are made available to the public. For example, the rules could 
be printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track 
office.”  

Page 77



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

34 of 59 

18.8 Applications and plans 
This Licensing Authority note the guidance states the following with regard to 
defining the premises: 

18.9 S.151 of the Act requires applicants for premises licences to submit plans of 
the premises with their application. This ensures licensing authorities have the 
necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the 
premises are fit for gambling. The plan also informs future premises inspection 
activity. 

18.10 Plans for tracks need not be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale 
and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by 
regulations. 

18.11 In the majority of cases, such as greyhound tracks, racecourses, football stadia 
and cricket grounds, defining the extent of boundaries may be assisted by 
reference to existing plans already submitted to obtain other permissions. 
These could include: 

• the obtaining of a safety certificate under ‘Safety at Sports Ground’ 
legislation (this applies in respect of sports grounds with capacity to 
accommodate more than 10,000 spectators) 

• the historic boundaries under previous legislation such as, the approval 
of tracks under Schedule 3 of the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Act 
1963. 

18.12 It is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of betting areas on tracks. 
The precise location of where betting facilities are provided is not required to 
be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact betting is permitted 
anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with 
pinpointing exact locations for some types of track. Licensing authorities 
should satisfy themselves the plan provides sufficient information to enable 
them to assess an application. 

18.13 As the plan forms part of the licence document, it also needs to be sufficiently 
flexible to ensure a relatively small change in the premises layout would not 
require an operator to submit an application to vary the track premises licence. 
Only a significant change to the track layout would require a licence variation. 
For example, moving a category C gaming machine from one end of a bar that 
had been marked on the plan as a gaming machine area to another may not 
necessitate a full variation to a tracks premises licence, nor would the 
establishment of a new betting area at a racetrack, as neither of these events 
have any impact on the purpose of the licence or the conditions attached to it. 
However, relocating category C machines to entirely different parts of a track 
would generally need to be the subject of an application to vary the premises 
licence. 
 

19.0 Travelling Fairs 
19.1 It will fall to the Licensing Authority to decide whether, where category D 

machines and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities 
for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met. 

Page 78



Part B – Premises Licences 
 

35 of 59 

19.2 The Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair. 

19.3 It has been noted the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a 
fair, is per calendar year, and it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs 
are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs 
occupying the land. This licensing authority will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure land which crosses our boundaries is monitored so the 
statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 
20.0 Provisional Statements 
20.1 The Licensing Authority notes at 11.11 of the Guidance for the Gambling 

Commission it states “S.210 of the Act, which applies to both premises licences 
and provisional statements, makes it clear that a licensing authority must not 
have regard to whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to be 
permitted in accordance with planning or building law.”. 

20.2 In terms of representations about premises licence applications, following the 
grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from responsible 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless they concern 
matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional statement 
stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances. In addition, 
the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms different to 
those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters: 
(a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional stage; or 
(b) which, in the authority’s opinion, reflect a change in the operator’s 

circumstances. 
 
21.0 Reviews of premises licences 
21.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties 

or responsible authorities, however, it is for the Licensing Authority to decide 
whether the review is to be carried out. This will be on the basis of whether the 
request for the review is relevant to the matters listed below, as well as 
consideration as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, will certainly 
not cause the authority to wish would alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or 
whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or requests for 
review: 

• In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission; 

• In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

• Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

• In accordance with the Licensing Authority’s statement of principles. 
21.2 The Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of 

any reason which it thinks is appropriate. 
 

Page 79



Part C – Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notices 
 

36 of 59 

Part C – Permits, Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 
22.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 
22.1 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide 

gaming machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for this permit. It 
should be noted the applicant must show the premises will be wholly or mainly 
used for making gaming machines available for use (Section 238). 

22.2 The Gambling Act 2005 states a Licensing Authority may prepare a statement 
of principles they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an 
applicant for a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or considering 
applications, it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and 
shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission under Section 25. 

22.3 The Guidance also states: “…An application for a permit may be granted only 
if the Licensing Authority is satisfied the premises will be used as an unlicensed 
FEC, and if the Chief Officer of Police has been consulted on the application.” 

22.4 The Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type of permit. 
22.5 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show there are policies and 

procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is not 
necessarily limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations. The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be 
considered on their merits; however, they may include the following: 

• appropriate measures / training for staff as regards suspected truant 
school children on the premises,  

• measures / training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised 
very young children being on the premises, or children causing 
perceived problems on / around the premises. 

22.6 The Licensing Authority will also expect  

• applicants demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs;  

• the applicant shall disclose relevant convictions (those that are set out 
in Schedule 7 of the Act) in order that the Licensing Authority may 
consider whether it would be contrary to the licensing objectives to 
grant a permit; and  

• staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes. 

  
23.0 Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 
23.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 

consumption on the premises, to automatically have two gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D. The premises merely need to notify the Licensing 
Authority. The Licensing Authority can remove the automatic authorisation in 
respect of any particular premises if: 

Page 80



Part C – Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notices 
 

37 of 59 

• provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit 
of the licensing objectives; 

• gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 
section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. written notice has been provided 
to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and any relevant 
code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location 
and operation of the machine has been complied with)  

• the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

• an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the 
premises 

23.2 If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for 
a permit and the Licensing Authority must consider that application based upon 
the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, 
and “such matters as they think relevant.”   

23.3 The Licensing Authority considers “such matters” will be decided on a case by 
case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure persons under the age of 18 do not have access to the adult only 
gaming machines. Measures which will satisfy the authority may include: 

• The adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who 
will monitor the machines are not being used by persons under the age 
of 18; 

• Notices and signage; and 

• Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare. 

23.4 The Licensing Authority recognises some alcohol licensed premises may apply 
for a premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such 
application would most likely need to be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult 
Gaming Centre premises licence. 

23.5 The Licensing Authority can decide to grant the application with a smaller 
number of machines and/or a different category of machines than applied for. 
Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 

23.6 It should also be noted the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation 
of the machine. 

24.0 Prize Gaming Permits 
24.1 In making its decision on an application for this permit the Licensing Authority 

does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard 
to any Gambling Commission guidance. 

24.2 The applicant should set out the types of gaming he or she is intending to offer 
and should be able to demonstrate:  

Page 81



Part C – Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notices 
 

38 of 59 

• they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations; and 

• the gaming offered is within the law 
24.3 It should be noted there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which 

the permit holder must comply, but the Licensing Authority cannot attach 
conditions. The conditions in the Act are: 

• the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be 
complied with; 

• all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the 
premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the 
game must be played and completed on the day the chances are 
allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the 
premises on the day it is played;  

• the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set 
out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-
monetary prize); and 

• participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling.  

25.0 Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits 
25.1 Members Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes may apply for a Club Gaming 

Permit or a Clubs Gaming machines permit. The Club Gaming Permit will 
enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, 
C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance as set-out in regulations. 
A Club Gaming Machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D). 

25.2 Members clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and 
conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the 
gaming is permitted by separate regulations. A members’ club must be 
permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and controlled 
by its members equally. Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of 
Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations.  

25.3 The Licensing Authority may only refuse an application on the grounds: 
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 

commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled 
to receive the type of permit for which it has applied; 

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons; 

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by 
the applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or 

(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police 

Page 82



Part C – Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notices 
 

39 of 59 

25.4 There is a “fast-track” procedure available under the Act for premises which 
hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003. Under the fast-
track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the 
Gambling Commission or the police, and the ground upon which an authority 
can refuse a permit are reduced and the grounds on which an application under 
the process may be refused are: 

(a) the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed 
under schedule 12; 

(b) in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 
other gaming; or 

(c) a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in 
the last ten years has been cancelled.”  

25.5 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and the holder complies with any 
relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of 
gaming machines. 

 
26.0 Temporary Use Notices 
26.1 There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices. It is 

noted it falls to the Licensing Authority to decide what constitutes a ‘set of 
premises’ where Temporary Use Notices are received relating to the same 
building/site.  

26.2 As with “premises” the definition of “a set of premises” will be a question of fact 
in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given. In the Act 
“premises” is defined as including “any place”. In considering whether a place 
falls within the definition of a set of premises the Licensing Authority will look 
at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the 
premises. 

26.3 The Licensing Authority will consider objecting to Temporary Use Notices 
where it appears their effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that 
could be described as one set of premises  

 
27.0 Occasional Use Notices 
27.1 The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside 

from ensuring the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. 
The Licensing Authority will need, though, to consider the definition of a “track” 
and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.

Page 83



Part D – Other Information 
 

40 of 59 

Part D – Other Information 
28.0 Rights of Appeal and Judicial Review 
28.1 The Licensing Authority is aware its decisions may be subject to an appeal in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act and judicial review. To ensure a 
transparent decision making process the Licensing Authority will:   

• give clear and comprehensive reasons for a rejection of an application 
where there is a requirement in the Act to do so; and 

• wherever practicable, as best practice, give clear and comprehensive 
reasons for all decisions connected to its functions under the Act, 
regardless of whether there is a requirement under the Act to do so. 

28.2 An appeal may be commenced by the giving of a notice of appeal by the 
appellant to the local magistrates’ court within a period of 21 days beginning 
with the day on which the appellant was notified by the Licensing Authority of 
the decision to be appealed against.  

28.3 Any person who wishes to pursue an appeal is strongly advised to seek 
independent professional legal advice from a legal advisor who specialises in 
the law on gambling. 

 
29.0 Other Matters 
29.1 In order to ensure applicants and persons who make representations have the 

necessary information to be able to do so, the information below will be 
available on the Council’s website (www.southampton.gov.uk/licensing) or by 
contacting the Licensing Team: 

• Register of premises licences issued by the Licensing Authority 

• Fees 

• Guidance on how to make an application 

• List of responsible authorities and contact details 

• Application forms, where appropriate 

• Making representations 

• Applying for a review of a licence 
 

Page 84

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/


Part D – Other Information 
 

41 of 59 

30.0 The Licensing Authority Delegations  
 

Matter to be dealt with Full 
Council 

Licensing 
Committee or Sub-

Committee 
Officers 

Three year licensing 
statement of principles X   

Policy not to permit casinos X   
Fee setting (when 
appropriate)  Full Licensing Committee  

Application for premises 
licence  

Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn (save in 
respect of any application 
for a Large Casino which 
will be heard by the full 
Licensing Committee) 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Application for a variation to 
a premises licence  

Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Application for a transfer of 
a premises licence  

Where representations 
have been received from 
the Commission 

Where no 
representations 
received from 
the Commission 

Application for a provisional 
transfer  

Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Review of a premises 
licence  X  

Application for club gaming/ 
club machine permits  

Where objections have 
been made (and not 
withdrawn) 

Where no 
objections 
made/ 
objections have 
been withdrawn 

Cancellation of club gaming/ 
club machine permits  X  

Applications for other 
permits   X 

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits 

  X 

Page 85



Part D – Other Information 
 

42 of 59 

Matter to be dealt with Full 
Council 

Licensing 
Committee or Sub-

Committee 
Officers 

Consideration of temporary 
use notice   X 

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a temporary use 
notice 

 X  

Decision to determine an 
application without holding a 
hearing on grounds 
contained within S.162 (3) 

  X 

Decision to reject an 
application for review made 
under S.197 based on 
grounds contained within 
S.198 

  X 

Take “action” (under S.202) 
following review  Where application heard 

by Sub-Committee 

Where no 
hearing and all 
parties agree in 
advance to 
relevant “action”. 

 

Page 86



Appendix 

43 of 59 

31.0 Appendix A – Map of Southampton 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 010001967932.0  

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 87



Appendix 

44 of 59 

Appendix B Local Profile 
Southampton has a young demographic compared to the England average. There are 
an estimated 64,600 children aged between 0 and 19 years in 2024 living in 
Southampton. Ethnic diversity is increasing and about a quarter of children and young 
people live in poverty. (From Joint Strategic Needs assessment) 
 
The following maps are broken down into LSOAs (Lower-layer Super Output Areas), 
which are small areas designed to be of a similar population size, with an average of 
approximately 1,500 residents or 650 households. There are 32,844 Lower-layer 
Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in England and 158 in Southampton.  
 
The below information can also be found here. This link will provide current information 
rather that the below which was current at time of drafting.  
 
Deprivation  
 
The following map provides details on the scale of deprivation across the city in 2019, 
the deeper the red the more deprived an area is whereas a deeper blue indicates the 
least deprived.  
 
 
 

 
 
Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 0100019679 
 
 

Page 88

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMTAyOGI5NTgtMDg0ZS00NmY5LTlhZTgtYzM2ZTFmNjg3Mzg2IiwidCI6IjNhM2IwNzlhLTY0YzAtNDcxYy05MmU1LTRlOTE5ZTMwN2NhOCJ9


Appendix 

45 of 59 

Overall, there has been very little change in relative deprivation levels in Southampton 
compared to other local authorities in England since the last IMD in 2015, with the 
Southampton remaining a relatively deprived city.  
 
 
Three LSOAs have remained in top five for this city.… 

• Bargate (Golden Grove): 1st in IMD(2019); 1st in IMD(2015) 
• Weston (International Way): 2nd in IMD(2019); 2nd in IMD(2015)  
• Thornhill (Lydgate Road): 4th in IMD(2019); 3rd in IMD(2015) 

 
Two LSOAs that were in the top ten previously are now in the top five..… 
Weston (Kingsclere Avenue): 3rd in IMD(2019); 7th in IMD(2015) 
Millbrook (Lockerley Cres): 5th in IMD(2019); 9th IMD(2015) 
 
The two LSOAs have been replaced in the top five for IMD 2015, remain in the top ten 
for the IMD 2019..… 

• Redbridge (Mansel Park): 6th in IMD(2019); 5th in IMD(2015) 
• Northam (Stadium): 10th in IMD(2019); 4th in IMD(2015) 

 
Some of the five most deprived LSOAs are featured in the top five in the following 
domains..… 
Employment (4/5); Income (4/5); Education (3/5); Health (2/5); Crime (2/5) 
 
Other key findings from the IMD 2019 analysis for the city are: 
 

• Of the 317 Local Authorities in England, Southampton is ranked 55th (previously 
54th) most deprived based on average rank of LSOAs and 61st (previously 
67th) most deprived based on average score of LSOAs 

• The fact Southampton appears to be more deprived based on the average rank 
measure (55th nationally and 2nd amongst comparators), illustrates how 
Southampton is more uniformly deprived rather than being highly polarised (i.e. 
extremes of deprivation) 

• Southampton has 19 LSOAs within the 10% most deprived in England (same 
as in 2015) and one LSOA in the 10% least deprived in England (previously 
zero in 2015) 

• Around 12% of Southampton’s population live in neighbourhoods within the 
10% most deprived nationally; this rises to 18% for the under 18 population, 
suggesting deprivation disproportionately impacts upon young people in the city 

• Over 45% of Southampton’s population live in neighbourhoods within the 30% 
most deprived nationally (around 117,000 people) 

• At neighbourhood level, approximately half of the LSOAs in Southampton have 
become more deprived (77/148; 52%) since 2015, whilst half have become less 
deprived 

• The five most deprived neighbourhoods in Southampton are in Bargate (Golden 
Grove), Weston (International Way), Weston (Kingsclere Avenue), Thornhill 
(Lydgate Road) and Millbrook (Lockerley Crescent) 

• Southampton is ranked 3rd worst in the country for crime deprivation and is in 
the worst 20% of local authorities for 5 other deprivation domains  

Page 89



Appendix 

46 of 59 

 
  
 
The charts below show Southampton’s rank (based on average rank of LSOAs) 
amongst all 317 LAs in England for each deprivation domain, and how this has 
changed between 2015 and 2019 
 

 
 

Page 90



Appendix 

47 of 59 

 
 
Southampton is ranked 3rd worst in the country for crime and is in the worst 20% of 
LAs for 5 domains 
 
Crime is the domain which has worsened the most, whilst there have been 
improvements in Barriers to Housing and Services, Education, Skills and Training and 
two other domains 
 
  
Housing 
 
Homelessness is reported as spread evenly across the city with no ward or wards 
standing out as a particular problem. However, the larger Council estate areas 
generally see less homelessness than other areas. 
 
Extract from the SCC Homeless Prevention Strategy 
Like the rest of the South East, Southampton’s property prices continue to grow at a 
rate that puts home ownership out of reach for the majority of households. As such the 
demand for social housing in the city is extremely high and waiting times for an 
affordable home can often reach up to seven years. Southampton is less affordable 
than England as a whole and is in the top 5 least affordable areas among its ONS 
comparators 

Page 91



Appendix 

48 of 59 

Consequently, the private rented sector has become a very useful source of meeting 
local housing needs and has grown to become one of the largest private rented sectors 
in the South East. 
Private rented homes in the city vary in quality, size and cost but generally rent levels 
are lower here (especially in some areas of the city), than other parts of the region 
such as the New Forest and Winchester. As a result, people on limited incomes can 
find themselves priced out of these more expensive housing areas, causing them to 
move to Southampton out of economic necessity, placing greater strain on the city’s 
housing supply. 
 
Households can be defined as ‘overcrowded’ from Census 2021 data, these are 
households with an occupancy rating of -1 or less which is calculated when there are 
more people than rooms. The map below shows the areas (LSOAs – neighbourhoods 
with around 1,500 population each) with higher percentages of overcrowding are 
Bargate, Bevois and Freemantle. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



Appendix 

49 of 59 

Population density shows where there are more people living per square kilometre 
compared to other areas. This is often in areas with less green space and more high-
density housing. 

 
 
The following map shows the percentages of working age adults claiming benefit 
principally for the reason of being unemployed. The areas with the higher percentages 
are in Bevois, Thornhill and Weston Shore. 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 93



Appendix 

50 of 59 

Vulnerable groups at risk from gambling defined by the Gambling Act includes children 
and young people. The map below shows the location of schools by establishment 
type. 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



Appendix 

51 of 59 

There are 73,766 residents aged 15 to 29 years in the city, 28.0% of the total 
population. The following population structure figure shows the percentage of the 
population by males and females in Southampton. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



Appendix 

52 of 59 

The following map shows which LSOAs (neighbourhoods of 1,500 people approx.) 
have the highest counts of 16 to 29 year olds. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



Appendix 

53 of 59 

The 2021 Census  showed higher percentages of other ethnic groups living in the 
Bevois ward area of the city and Bargate, Swaythling and Bassett compared to other 
areas.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



Appendix 

54 of 59 

Some population groups may be more at risk to gambling addiction. Geographic 
locations relating to these groups are shown in the following maps. 
 
Locations of supported living accommodation for people with a learning disability 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



Appendix 

55 of 59 

People who use homeless hostels and alcohol services accommodation shelters 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



Appendix 

56 of 59 

People of all ages who have been admitted to hospital with an alcohol specific condition 
mapped by where they live 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



Appendix 

57 of 59 

People of all ages who have been admitted to hospital with a primary diagnosis of 
poisoning by illicit drugs mapped by where they live 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



Appendix 

58 of 59 

People of all ages who have been admitted to hospital with primary or secondary 
diagnosis of drug related mental health and behavioural disorders mapped by where 
they live 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



Appendix 

59 of 59 

Patients 18+ with a GP diagnosis of a depression mapped by where they live 
 
 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Data, Intelligence & Insight Team – October 2024

Draft Gambling Statement of Licensing Principles Consultation
Full results summary

I

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix 2



Contents I

• Introduction and Methodology
• Respondents 
• Proposals 
• Free text comments 
• Draft policy 

P
age 106



Introduction and Methodology

I

P
age 107



Introduction I

• Southampton City Council undertook public consultation on a Draft Gambling Statement of Licensing Principles. This included asking for feedback 
on three key themes:
• Detail on how the large casino process will be dealt with, should the authority decide to invite applications 
• Updating the local area profile  
• Suggesting no further changes to the draft Gambling Act Statement of Licensing Principles 

• The consultation took place between 13/08/2024 – 07/10/2024.

• The Statement of Licensing Principles is fully reviewed every three years. This is a legislative requirement. 

• The aim of this consultation was to:
• Communicate clearly to residents and stakeholders the proposed Statement of Licensing Principles Consultation.
• Ensure any resident, business or stakeholder who wished to comment on the proposals had the opportunity to do so, enabling them to raise 

any impacts the proposals may have.
• Allow participants to propose alternative suggestions for consideration which they feel could achieve the objective in a different way. 

• This report summarises the aims, principles, methodology and results of the public consultation. It provides a summary of the consultation 
responses both for the consideration of decision makers and any interested individuals and stakeholders. 

• It is important to be mindful that a consultation is not a vote, it is an opportunity for stakeholders to express their views, concerns and 
alternatives to a proposal. This report outlines in detail the representations made during the consultation period so that decision makers can 
consider what has been said alongside other information. 

P
age 108



Consultation principles I

Southampton City Council is committed to consultations of 
the highest standard, which are meaningful and comply 
with The Gunning Principles (considered to be the legal 
standard for consultations):

1. Proposals are still at a formative stage (a final 
decision has not yet been made) 

2. There is sufficient information put forward in the 
proposals to allow ‘intelligent consideration’ 

3. There is adequate time for consideration and 
response 

4. Conscientious consideration must be given to the 
consultation responses before a decision is made

P
age 109



Methodology and Promotion I

• The agreed approach for this consultation was to use an online questionnaire as the main route for feedback. Questionnaires 
enable an appropriate amount of explanatory and supporting information to be included in a structured questionnaire, helping 
to ensure respondents are aware of the background and detail of the proposals.

• Respondents could also write letters or emails to provide feedback on the proposals. Emails or letters from stakeholders that 
contained consultation feedback were collated and analysed as a part of the overall consultation.  

• The consultation was promoted in the following ways by sending emails or letters to:
• All gambling licence holders
• Responsible authorities
• Trade bodies
• Published on our website

• Respondents were given opportunities throughout the questionnaire to provide written feedback on the proposals. In addition 
anyone could provide feedback in letters and emails. All written responses and questionnaire comments have been read and 
then assigned to categories based upon similar sentiment or theme. 

P
age 110



Who are the respondents? I

Overall, there were 6 separate responses to the 
consultation. Responses came through the following 
routes:

Total number of responses

Questionnaire 2

Emails / letters 4

Total 6

2

1

Resident of Southampton

As an employee or self-employee of a business
involved in the Gambling industry

Interest in consultation: 

P
age 111



Proposals

I

P
age 112



Proposals I

Proposal One 

“Background on updates to the large casino application process.

Large casinos are defined by legislation as having a minimum total customer area of 
1,500m2. Further details on how large casinos are defined by legislation can be found in the 
Gambling commission guidance here. 

Please note that at this time we are not currently inviting applications for large casinos in 
the city. This part of the consultation relates to proposed updates to the statement of 
principles only, that outline the context of the Gambling Act 2005 and options for inviting 
applications and the process around this, should we decide to invite applications at a later 
stage.  
The proposed additional wording can be found in section 15:3 through to 15:31 in the full 
draft Gambling Act Statement of Licensing Principles policy here.”

Proposal Two 

“Local Area Profile updates 

We are proposing that the draft Gambling Act Statement of Licensing Principles policy 
contains updated data regarding the past three years within the local area profile. As 
well as updated data, the draft Gambling Act Statement of Licensing Principles policy is 
proposing to include more interactive maps. This is for applicants and licence holders to 
consider when making their applications and preparing their risk assessments. 

The policy currently contains information and maps on: 
 
Deprivation (including the Indices of Deprivation)  
Housing (including information on homelessness, overcrowded households, population 
density)  
Benefit claimants  
Locations of schools  
Age ranges of the population  
Information on ethnicity  
Locations of supported living accommodation for people with a learning disability.  
Locations of homeless hostels and alcohol accommodation service shelters  
Rates of admissions for alcohol specific conditions  
Rate of admissions for poisoning by illicit drugs  
Rate of admissions of drug related mental health and behavioural admissions  
Proportion of Adults aged 18+ with depression ”

Proposal three

“Finally, we are proposing to keep all other elements of the draft Gambling Act Statement of 
Licensing Principles policy the same.”  

P
age 113



Agreement I

Proposal One

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed additions 
to the section regarding Large Casino applications?

Count of respondents
Base respondents: 2

Proposal Two 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed updates 
to the local area profile?

Proposal Three 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to keep all 
other elements of the Draft Gambling Act Statement of Licensing 
Principles the same?

Strongly agree Agree Neither Disagree 
Strongly 
disagree 

1 1

1 1

1 1

P
age 114



Impact I

Proposal One

What impact do you feel this may have on you, your business or the 
wider community?

Count of respondents
Base respondents: 2

Proposal Two 

What impact do you feel this may have on you, your business or the 
wider community?

Proposal Three 

What impact do you feel this may have on you, your business or the 
wider community?

A very positive 
Impact

A fairly 
positive 
impact 

No impact at 
all

A fairly 
negative 
impact 

A very negative 
impact

2

1 1

1 1

P
age 115



Free Text comments I

Positive comments (2)

“We welcome the position Southampton City Council is taking to go beyond the mandatory and default conditions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its statement of principles. “

“Local authorities can play a greater role in reducing gambling harm, particularly for those of our clients who experience harm in land-based gambling venues, due to council’s licensing responsibilities.”

Concerns (11)

“Para 5.2. As you know section 157 of the Gambling Act defines the Responsible Authorities. These and the licensing objectives differ from the Licensing Act 2003. It is not clear on the council’s website what the Public 
Protection Service covers, but we assume that this is meant to be the RA under s157 (g). It is essential that the Policy does not seek to extend the remit of the Act by adding another Responsible Authority. The Health 
“Authorities are not Responsible authorities unlike under the 2003 Act.”

“Para 9.5.6. We note that you include those aged 16-29 as those vulnerable to the risks of gambling. It is not stated how the age range is selected. Most of the venues the council will licence will be for those agreed over 
18 in any event and the age of 29 might seem somewhat arbitrary.”

“Further, the Authority should take an evidence-based approach in determining priority risks and recognise the compliance record of those it regulates. We cannot see reference to the Code in this regard.”

“We do not understand the basis for the inclusion of “habitual players of gaming machines” as being among the list of vulnerable people. What is this based on please? Many people regularly play gaming machines as 
part of their leisure time and while they might be frequent players they do not necessarily play for long periods and are always supervised in well run venues. Conversely, we note that those who habitually place bets or 
play in casinos are for some reason not included in that list.”

“Para 9.5.8 The list of data that should be recorded mentions recording “cause and effect”. With respect, the draft is not clear as to what is to be recorded, bearing in mind that records are live documents in a live 
environment, where staff should be focussed on their supervisory duties and not distracted by over burdensome recording requirements. Sub paras g and h suggest that incidents should be recorded but that the 
definition of the type of incident to be recorded will only be provided after the event. Plainly that will not work.”

“Para 9.5.10. We do not think that the final sentence is correct. If a customer self excludes from the venue, the LCCP are clear that it must be for a fixed initial period. The person cannot gain readmittance during that 
period regardless of counselling sessions that might have taken place. However, it is of critical importance that it is appreciated (as has been confirmed by the courts) that the onus is on the individual not to enter 
venues from which they have been self excluded.”

“9.5.14: With respect, access is not a matter for the Gambling Act 2005 which is the subject of the draft policy. Similarly, many other matters and policies will affect operating venues, but the policy is not the place for 
them.”

“Para 16.1. We do not understand why the conditions for AGCs are not listed for bingo as well. Bingo venues have the same machines as AGCs and indeed also have alcohol.”

“Para 17. There does not seem to be any suggested conditions for betting venues. Again, they should at least include those that are listed for AGCs. Perhaps those at para 18.4 are meant for betting venues even though 
they are in the Track section?”

“Para 14.2. We would have thought that proof of age schemes are important for FECs, which can of course offer Category C gaming machines.“

“The ** is concerned that the imposition of additional licensing conditions could become commonplace if there are no precise requirements regarding the need for evidence in the revised licensing policy statement. If 
additional licence conditions are more commonly applied, this would increase variation across licensing authorities and create uncertainty amongst operators regarding licensing requirements, overcomplicating the 
licensing process for operators and local authorities. Working in partnership with local authorities.”

P
age 116



Free Text comments I

Suggestions (6)

“It is vital that Southampton City Council develops a local picture of the level of gambling harms, in order to best target resources and tailor service provision. This could be achieved by gathering data from the National 
Gambling Helpline, as well as those already providing services in the area.”

“Building on the proactive approach the council is already taking, we would like to see Southampton City Council commit in its statement of principles to a public health approach to gambling.”  

“This commitment should include training frontline and primary care staff to recognise the signs of gambling harm and develop referral pathways to the National Gambling Helpline or local treatment providers.”

“In the absence of Cumulative Impact Assessments as a method by which the “aim to permit” approach can be challenged, Southampton City Council should pursue a Local Area Profile  approach that specifically 
analyses gambling risk, and use this data as a basis from which to scrutinise and possibly oppose a licensing application.”

“The changes to Southampton City Council’s statement of principles should be viewed in the context of the Gambling Act Review and subsequent process of white paper consultations, so take account of the rapidly 
changing regulatory environment.”

“The local risk assessment should consider the urban setting: The proximity of the premises to schools, The commercial environment, Factors affecting the footfall, Whether the premises is in an area of deprivation, 
Whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime and/or disorder, The ethnic profile of residents in the area, The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups,The location of services for 
children such as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, leisure centres and other areas where children will gather, The range of facilities in the local area such as other gambling outlets, banks, post offices, refreshment and 
entertainment type facilities, Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, youths participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activity, etc & The proximity of churches, mosques, 
temples or any other place of worship.

The local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, including people with gambling dependencies, are protected: The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of excessive gambling, 
the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and how the manning of premises affects this, Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of underage gambling, Arrangements in place for 
local exchange of information regarding self-exclusion and gaming trends, Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit payments, Arrangements for monitoring and dealing 
with under age persons and vulnerable persons, which may include dedicated and trained personnel, leaflets, posters, self-exclusion schemes, window displays and advertisements not to entice passers-by etc, The 
provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, gambling care providers and other relevant information, provided in both English and any other prominent first language for that locality, The proximity of 
premises that may be frequented by vulnerable people such as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor surgeries, council one stop shops, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug 
dependent people may congregate & Arrangements in place to signpost vulnerable customers to relevant support organisations.

The local risk assessment should show how children are to be protected: The proximity of institutions, places or areas where children and young people frequent such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and 
entertainment venues such as bowling allies, cinemas, etc, The proximity to places where children congregate such as bus stops, cafes, shops & Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti-social 
behaviour, including activities such as graffiti, tagging, underage drinking etc.

Other matters that the risk assessment may include: Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and how the system will be monitored & The layout of the premises so that staff have an 
unobstructed view of persons using the premises.”

P
age 117



Free Text comments I

Suggestions (8)

“Further, the Authority should take an evidence-based approach in determining priority risks and recognise the compliance record of those it regulates. We cannot see reference to the Code in this regard and suggest 
that the Draft be amended to include a reference to it as outlined.”

“Conversely, we note that those who habitually place bets or play in casinos are for some reason not included in that list. We would suggest that this is revisited.”

“As the Authority will appreciate, in matters of regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) it is subject to the Regulators’ Code. That Code imposes a number of obligations on the Authority, including one that it 
should carry out its activities in a way that it supports those it regulates to comply and grow. Additionally under the Code, when designing and reviewing policies, the Authority must among other things understand and 
minimise the negative economic impact of its regulatory activities and regulate and minimise the costs of compliance of those it regulates.”

“Para 9.5.17. AGCs and other venues have for decades provided light refreshments to their customers and indeed bingo clubs offer very cheap larger meals. These are not “inducements” to gamble but part of the service 
provision and part of why customers visit venues. To suggest that these are inducement is with respect to misunderstand the long established sectors. We urge you to revisit this paragraph.”

“We understand that the only proposed changes to the draft statement of principles are changes to the detail on how the large casino process will be dealt with should the authority decide to invite
applications and an update to the local area profile. Notwithstanding this, there are a number of comments on the existing drafting of the statement of principles. There are a number of updates required. At paragraph 
9.5.2 the reference to the Gambling Commissions LCCP should be amended to reflect the fact that the most recent version was published 
in August 2024. The references to problem gambling rates contained within paragraph 9.5.6 should also be updated. As stated previously the most recent NHS health survey found that problem gambling rates among
adults are 0.4%. The “expectations” with regard to data gathering and sharing, staff training and knowledge (9.5.8 and 9.5.9) should be deleted as in these instances the Licensing Authority is trespassing into issues 
for which the Gambling Commission has responsibility through the Operating Licence. “

“There does not seem to be any suggested conditions for betting venues. Again, they should at least include those that are listed for AGCs.”

“Misleading/ambiguous premises signage - There are increasing numbers of premises (usually Adult Gaming Centres) which describe themselves on their shopfronts and external signage as casinos despite these 
premises not being permitted to operate as a casino. Section 150 Gambling Act 2005 creates five separate classes of premises licences – the operation of a casino (a casino premises licence), the provision of facilities for 
the playing of bingo ( a bingo premises licence) , making category B gaming machines available for use (an adult gaming centre premises licence), making category C gaming machines available for use (a familye 
entertainment centre premises licence) and the provision of facilities for betting (a betting premises licence). Whilst casinos are permitted under a casino premises licence to provide bingo and betting facilities, the 
holder of an adult gaming centre premises licence may not offer casino facilities. In order to avoid any ambiguity, the draft statement of principles should be clear that premises must not display signage which may 
suggest that the premises have a different premises licence to the one held. Differentiation between Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 applications When considering applications for premises licences, it is 
important to clearly distinguish between the regimes, processes, and procedures established by the Gambling Act 2005 and its regulations and those that are usually more familiar to licensing authorities—the regimes, 
processes, and procedures relating to the Licensing Act 2003. Whilst Licensing Act 2003 applications require applicants to specify steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives, which are then converted into 
premises licence conditions, there is no such requirement in Gambling Act 2005 applications, where the LCCP provides a comprehensive package of conditions for all types of premises licence.”

“It should continue to be the case that additional conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 premises licence applications are only imposed in exceptional circumstances with clear reasons for doing so. There are already 
mandatory and default conditions attached to any premises licence which will ensure operation that is consistent with the licensing objectives. In most cases, these will not need to be supplemented by additional 
conditions.”

P
age 118



Free Text comments I

Other comments (3)

“Southampton City Council has committed to adopt a Health in All Policies approach.  This means that health information will be considered when creating policies and other significant pieces of work.  Public 
health are not a responsible authority under the Gambling Act 2005, however, the licensing authority will consult the Director of Public Health on premises licence applications where appropriate. 

“Research notes that problem gambling is likely to be twice as high in:
•Metropolitan Boroughs
•Urban Areas
•Areas of Greater Population Density
•Multi-cultural areas
•More prosperous areas
(Problem Gambling in Leeds; Kenyon, Ormerod, Parsons and Wardle, 2016)”

“Betting and Gaming in the UK 
Any consideration of gambling licensing at the local level should also be considered within the broader context.  The raft of measures recently put in place by the industry (in terms of protecting players from 
gambling-related harm), the Gambling Commission, and the Government (a ban on credit cards, restrictions to VIP accounts, new age and identity verification measures, and voluntary restrictions on 
advertising) have contributed to problem gambling rates now being lower than they were at the passage of the 2005 Gambling Act (see further details on problem gambling rates below). In addition, a range 
of further measures will be implemented imminently following the Government’s White Paper, published in April 2023. These include: financial risk checks for those at risk of gambling harm, changes to the 
way operators market to their customers, changes to online game design which will remove certain features, the introduction of a mandatory levy for research, prevention and treatment (RPT) activities, an 
Ombudsman to adjudicate on customer redress and the introduction of mandatory stake limits on online slots, bringing the maximum stakes online in line with land based casinos. 
It should also be noted that: 
• The overall number of betting shops is in decline. The latest Gambling Commission 
industry statistics show that the number of betting offices (as of March 2023) was 5,995. 
This is reducing yearly and has fallen by 28% since March 2019 – equating to 2,309 
betting shop closures in just four years. 
• Planning law changes introduced in April 2015 have increased the ability of licensing 
authorities to review applications for new premises, as all new betting shops must now 
apply for planning permission. 
• In April 2019, a maximum stake of £2 was applied to the operation of fixed odds betting 
terminals. 
• Successive prevalence surveys and health surveys show that problem gambling rates in 
the UK are stable.”

P
age 119



Free Text comments I

Other comments (1)

“Problem Gambling 
A point often lost in the debate about the future of gambling regulation is that problem gambling rates in the UK are low by international comparison. 
The most recent “Gold standard” NHS (National Health Service) Health Survey found that problem gambling rates among adults are 0.4 per cent – the rate was 0.5 per cent in 2018. In comparison to 
other European countries, problem gambling rates in the UK are low. The problem gambling rate is 2.4 per cent in Italy, 1.4 per cent in Norway, and 1.3 per cent in France. Both the Gambling Commission and 
the Government have acknowledged that problem gambling levels have not increased. However, one problem gambler is one too many, and we are working hard to improve standards further across the 
regulated betting and gaming industry. In June 2020, the ** largest members committed to increasing the amount they spend on RPT (Research, Prevention and Treatment) services from 0.1 per cent to 1 per 
cent in 2023. This was expected to raise £100 million but they have gone further and will have donated £110 million by 2024. In the White Paper, the Government committed to introducing a statutory RPT 
(Research, Prevention and Treatment) levy, which would apply to all gambling licensees (excluding the national lottery). This levy is expected to raise £100m annually by 2026/2027. The** also funds the £10 
million Young People’s Gambling Harm Prevention Programme, delivered by leading charities. As of March last year (2023), it has educated over 3 million children. Advertising and Sponsorship All betting 
advertising and sponsorship must comply with strict guidelines, and safer gambling messaging must be regularly and prominently displayed. The Government has previously stated that there is “no causal link” 
between exposure to advertising and the development of problem gambling, as stated in a response by then Minister of State at DCMS, in June 2021. The Gambling Review White Paper, in relation to 
advertising, restated that there was “little evidence” of a causal link with gambling harms or the development of gambling disorder. The Seventh Industry Code for Socially Responsible Advertising, adopted by 
all ** members, adds 
a number of further protections in particular for young people. New measures include ensuring that all social media ads must target consumers aged 25 and over unless the website proves they can be 
precisely targeted at over-18s. In addition to raising advertising standards for young people, this code, which came into force on 1 December 2023, extended the previous commitment that 20% of TV and radio 
advertising is devoted to safer gambling messaging to digital media advertising. Under the ‘whistle-to-whistle’ ban, ads cannot be shown from five minutes before a live sporting event until five minutes after it 
ends, before the 9 p.m. watershed. Research by **found that in its first 12 months in operation, the ban reduced the number of TV betting adverts seen by children by 97% at that time. Overall, the number of 
gambling adverts viewed by young people also fell by 70% over the entire duration of live sports programmes. At the same time, the ban also reduced the number of views of betting ads by 1.7 billion during its 
first five months in operation. ** members also continue to abide by the stringent measures established by advertising standards watchdogs. These measures are in stark contrast to the unsafe, unregulated 
black market online, which has none of the safer gambling measures offered by ** members, including strict age verification checks. Any withdrawal of advertising would simply level the playing field with 
illegal 
operators thus providing opportunities for those operators to peel off customers from the regulated markets. The *** require that premises operate an age verification policy. The industry employs a policy 
called “Think 21”. This policy is successful in preventing underage gambling. Independent test purchasing carried out by operators and submitted to the Gambling Commission shows that ID challenge rates are 
consistently around 85%. Following the publication of the Gambling Commission’s response to their consultation on age verification on premises, all gambling venues will be moving to a “Think 25” policy from 
30th August 2024. Since Serve Legal began working with the gambling sector in 2009, the industry has now become the highest performing sector across all age verification testing. Across thousands of audits, 
there was an average pass rate of 91.4 per cent (2024 data). For casinos, there is a near perfect pass rate in the last period of 98%. When comparing Serve Legal audit data between members of the **and 
comparative age verification audit data in the Alcohol and Lottery sector we see how the gambling sector is performing between 10-15 per cent higher every year. It should be noted that the Executive 
Summary of the Gambling White Paper stated that when parliamentary time allows, the Government will align the gambling licensing system with that for alcohol by introducing new powers to conduct 
cumulative impact assessments. The ** is fully committed to ensuring constructive working relationships between betting and gaming operators and licensing authorities and that problems can be dealt with in 
partnership. The exchange of clear information between councils and betting operators is a key part of this, and the opportunity to respond to this consultation is welcomed.”

P
age 120



Draft policy I

Have you read the proposed draft Gambling Act Statement of Licensing Principles policy?

"The draft policy provides sufficient information"

"The draft policy is easy to understand"

Base respondents: 2

Yes, some of it

2

1

Strongly 
disagree

Agree 

1

1

Strongly 
disagree

Agree 

1

Count of respondents

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Officer response to consultation comments 

 

“Para 5.2. As you know section 157 of the Gambling Act defines the Responsible Authorities. 

These and the licensing objectives differ from the Licensing Act 2003. It is not clear on the 

council’s website what the Public Protection Service covers, but we assume that this is 

meant to be the RA under s157 (g). It is essential that the Policy does not seek to extend the 

remit of the Act by adding another Responsible Authority. The Health “Authorities are not 

Responsible authorities unlike under the 2003 Act.” 

Officer response – Document amended (Note is now para 5.3) 

“Para 9.5.6. We note that you include those aged 16-29 as those vulnerable to the risks of 

gambling. It is not stated how the age range is selected. Most of the venues the council will 

licence will be for those agreed over 18 in any event and the age of 29 might seem 

somewhat arbitrary.” 

Officer response – This has been inherited from previous SLPs and is recognition that 

young people tend to be more vulnerable to the harms of gambling.  

“Further, the Authority should take an evidence-based approach in determining priority risks 

and recognise the compliance record of those it regulates. We cannot see reference to the 

Code in this regard.” 

Officers response - Para 7.2 covers risk based inspection programme.  

“We do not understand the basis for the inclusion of “habitual players of gaming machines” 

as being among the list of vulnerable people. What is this based on please? Many people 

regularly play gaming machines as part of their leisure time and while they might be frequent 

players they do not necessarily play for long periods and are always supervised in well run 

venues. Conversely, we note that those who habitually place bets or play in casinos are for 

some reason not included in that list.” 

AND 

“Conversely, we note that those who habitually place bets or play in casinos are for some 

reason not included in that list. We would suggest that this is revisited.” 

Officer response – We recognise venues are well supervised however the placing of 

bets or playing at a casino table involve human interaction whereas a machine does 

not require such interaction thereby making it easier for players to hide any issues.  

“Para 9.5.8 The list of data that should be recorded mentions recording “cause and effect”. 

With respect, the draft is not clear as to what is to be recorded, bearing in mind that records 

are live documents in a live environment, where staff should be focussed on their 

supervisory duties and not distracted by over burdensome recording requirements. Sub 

paras g and h suggest that incidents should be recorded but that the definition of the type of 

incident to be recorded will only be provided after the event. Plainly that will not work.” 

Officer response – Document amended to be more specific. 

“Para 9.5.10. We do not think that the final sentence is correct. If a customer self excludes 

from the venue, the LCCP are clear that it must be for a fixed initial period. The person 

cannot gain readmittance during that period regardless of counselling sessions that might 

have taken place. However, it is of critical importance that it is appreciated (as has been 

confirmed by the courts) that the onus is on the individual not to enter venues from which 

they have been self excluded.” 

Page 123

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 3



Officer response to consultation comments 

Officer response – Document amended to read individual has been signposted to 

counselling and support services. We remain that our expectation is a responsible 

operator will take responsibility to ensure those that have self excluded remain so. 

 “9.5.14: With respect, access is not a matter for the Gambling Act 2005 which is the subject 

of the draft policy. Similarly, many other matters and policies will affect operating venues, but 

the policy is not the place for them.” 

Officer response – This is a valid point and the SLP should not enter into areas 

outside of the purpose of the document, but this is a key element of the council’s 

agenda of making the city an accessible location for all.  

“Para 16.1. We do not understand why the conditions for AGCs are not listed for bingo as 

well. Bingo venues have the same machines as AGCs and indeed also have alcohol.” 

Officers response – The two types of venues are different and require different 

approaches. The list at 13.2 states it is neither mandatory or exhaustive.  

“Para 17. There does not seem to be any suggested conditions for betting venues. Again, 

they should at least include those that are listed for AGCs. Perhaps those at para 18.4 are 

meant for betting venues even though they are in the Track section?” 

Officer response – New para 17.2 added 

“Para 14.2. We would have thought that proof of age schemes are important for FECs, which 

can of course offer Category C gaming machines.“ 

Officer response – added 

“The ** is concerned that the imposition of additional licensing conditions could become 

commonplace if there are no precise requirements regarding the need for evidence in the 

revised licensing policy statement. If additional licence conditions are more commonly 

applied, this would increase variation across licensing authorities and create uncertainty 

amongst operators regarding licensing requirements, overcomplicating the licensing process 

for operators and local authorities. Working in partnership with local authorities.” 

Officer response – Para 7.2 makes it clear the authority will only intervene when 

necessary and it is justified.  

“It is vital that Southampton City Council develops a local picture of the level of gambling 

harms, in order to best target resources and tailor service provision. This could be achieved 

by gathering data from the National Gambling Helpline, as well as those already providing 

services in the area.”   

Officer response – A new para 5.2 has been added adding health information will be 

used in supporting policy. 

“Building on the proactive approach the council is already taking, we would like to see 

Southampton City Council commit in its statement of principles to a public health approach 

to gambling.” 

Officer response – Significant additions have been proposed to address this.  

“This commitment should include training frontline and primary care staff to recognise the 

signs of gambling harm and develop referral pathways to the National Gambling Helpline or 

local treatment providers.” 

Page 124



Officer response to consultation comments 

Officer response – The SLP is not the place to dictate this.  

“In the absence of Cumulative Impact Assessments as a method by which the “aim to 

permit” approach can be challenged, Southampton City Council should pursue a Local Area 

Profile approach that specifically analyses gambling risk, and use this data as a basis from 

which to scrutinise and possibly oppose a licensing application.” 

Officer response – The Local area profile has been updated 

“The changes to Southampton City Council’s statement of principles should be viewed in the 

context of the Gambling Act Review and subsequent process of white paper consultations, 

so take account of the rapidly changing regulatory environment.” 

Officer response -  Currently there is no change in legislation or guidance. The White 

paper is merely proposals and these were set by the previous government. We are 

still to learn the current position on Gambling from this government. We can address 

any changes when necessary, rather than act on speculation.  

“The local risk assessment should consider the urban setting: The proximity of the premises 

to schools, The commercial environment, Factors affecting the footfall, Whether the 

premises is in an area of deprivation, whether the premises is in an area subject to high 

levels of crime and/or disorder, The ethnic profile of residents in the area, The demographics 

of the area in relation to vulnerable groups, The location of services for children such as 

schools, playgrounds, toy shops, leisure centres and other areas where children will gather, 

The range of facilities in the local area such as other gambling outlets, banks, post offices, 

refreshment and entertainment type facilities, Known problems in the area such as problems 

arising from street drinkers, youths participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing 

activity, etc & The proximity of churches, mosques, temples or any other place of worship. 

The local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, including people with 

gambling dependencies, are protected: The training of staff in brief intervention when 

customers show signs of excessive gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and 

how the manning of premises affects this, Information held by the licensee regarding self-

exclusions and incidences of underage gambling, Arrangements in place for local exchange 

of information regarding self-exclusion and gaming trends, Gaming trends that may mirror 

days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit payments, Arrangements for 

monitoring and dealing 

with under age persons and vulnerable persons, which may include dedicated and trained 

personnel, leaflets, posters, self-exclusion schemes, window displays and advertisements 

not to entice passers-by etc, The provision of signage and documents relating to games 

rules, gambling care providers and other relevant information, provided in both English and 

any other prominent first language for that locality, The proximity of premises that may be 

frequented by vulnerable people such as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, 

doctor surgeries, council one stop shops, addiction clinics or help centres, places where 

alcohol or drug dependent people may congregate & Arrangements in place to signpost 

vulnerable customers to relevant support organisations. 

The local risk assessment should show how children are to be protected: The proximity of 

institutions, places or areas where children and young people frequent such as schools, 

youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment venues such as bowling allies, cinemas, 

etc, The proximity to places where children congregate such as bus stops, cafes, shops & 

Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti-social behaviour, including 

activities such as graffiti, tagging, underage drinking etc. 

Page 125



Officer response to consultation comments 

Other matters that the risk assessment may include: Details as to the location and coverage 

of working CCTV cameras, and how the system will be monitored & The layout of the 

premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of persons using the premises.” 

Officer response – the local profile attached has been updated.  

“Further, the Authority should take an evidence-based approach in determining priority risks 

and recognise the compliance record of those it regulates. We cannot see reference to the 

Code in this regard and suggest that the Draft be amended to include a reference to it as 

outlined.” 

Officer response – Para 7.2 refers to the regulators code which this comment refers 

to.  

“As the Authority will appreciate, in matters of regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 (the 

Act) it is subject to the Regulators’ Code. That Code imposes a number of obligations on the 

Authority, including one that it should carry out its activities in a way that it supports those it 

regulates to comply and grow. Additionally under the Code, when designing and reviewing 

policies, the Authority must among other things understand and minimise the negative 

economic impact of its regulatory activities and regulate and minimise the costs of 

compliance of those it regulates.” 

Officer response – This noted but see no need for any amendment. 

“Para 9.5.17. AGCs and other venues have for decades provided light refreshments to their 

customers and indeed bingo clubs offer very cheap larger meals. These are not 

“inducements” to gamble but part of the service provision and part of why customers visit 

venues. To suggest that these are inducement is with respect to misunderstand the long 

established sectors. We urge you to revisit this paragraph.” 

Officer response – Para amended to show advertising of such 

“We understand that the only proposed changes to the draft statement of principles are 

changes to the detail on how the large casino process will be dealt with should the authority 

decide to invite applications and an update to the local area profile. Notwithstanding this, 

there are a number of comments on the existing drafting of the statement of principles. 

There are a number of updates required. At paragraph 9.5.2 the reference to the Gambling 

Commissions LCCP should be amended to reflect the fact that the most recent version was 

published in August 2024. The references to problem gambling rates contained within 

paragraph 9.5.6 should also be updated. As stated previously the most recent NHS health 

survey found that problem gambling rates among adults are 0.4%. The “expectations” with 

regard to data gathering and sharing, staff training and knowledge (9.5.8 and 9.5.9) should 

be deleted as in these instances the Licensing Authority is trespassing into issues for which 

the Gambling Commission has responsibility through the Operating Licence. “ 

Officer response – Updated to reflect updated LCCP. The NHS data is a different data 

set, content that is still applicable. Think it perfectly acceptable to set out 

expectations. We work in partnership with the Gambling Commission and would 

report any concerns to them.  

“There does not seem to be any suggested conditions for betting venues. Again, they should 

at least include those that are listed for AGCs.” 

Officer response – Amended to include list  

Page 126



Officer response to consultation comments 

“Misleading/ambiguous premises signage - There are increasing numbers of premises 

(usually Adult Gaming Centres) which describe themselves on their shopfronts and external 

signage as casinos despite these premises not being permitted to operate as a casino. 

Section 150 Gambling Act 2005 creates five separate classes of premises licences – the 

operation of a casino (a casino premises licence), the provision of facilities for the playing of 

bingo ( a bingo premises licence) , making category B gaming machines available for use 

(an adult gaming centre premises licence), making category C gaming machines available 

for use (a family entertainment centre premises licence) and the provision of facilities for 

betting (a betting premises licence). Whilst casinos are permitted under a casino premises 

licence to provide bingo and betting facilities, the holder of an adult gaming centre premises 

licence may not offer casino facilities. In order to avoid any ambiguity, the draft statement of 

principles should be clear that premises must not display signage which may suggest that 

the premises have a different premises licence to the one held. Differentiation between 

Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 applications When considering applications for 

premises licences, it is important to clearly distinguish between the regimes, processes, and 

procedures established by the Gambling Act 2005 and its regulations and those that are 

usually more familiar to licensing authorities—the regimes, processes, and procedures 

relating to the Licensing Act 2003. Whilst Licensing Act 2003 applications require applicants 

to specify steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives, which are then converted 

into premises licence conditions, there is no such requirement in Gambling Act 2005 

applications, where the LCCP provides a comprehensive package of conditions for all types 

of premises licence.” 

Officer response – We have no evidence of such ambiguous signage.  

“It should continue to be the case that additional conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 

premises licence applications are only imposed in exceptional circumstances with clear 

reasons for doing so. There are already mandatory and default conditions attached to any 

premises licence which will ensure operation that is consistent with the licensing objectives. 

In most cases, these will not need to be supplemented by additional conditions.” 

Officer response – Compliance with regulator code as mentioned in the SLP 

addresses this.  

“Research notes that problem gambling is likely to be twice as high in: 

•Metropolitan Boroughs 

•Urban Areas 

•Areas of Greater Population Density 

•Multi-cultural areas 

•More prosperous areas 

(Problem Gambling in Leeds; Kenyon, Ormerod, Parsons and Wardle, 2016)” 

Officer response – Noted, the local area profile highlights the risks 

“Southampton City Council has committed to adopt a Health in All Policies approach. This 

means that health information will be considered when creating policies and other significant 

pieces of work. Public health are not a responsible authority under the Gambling Act 2005, 

however, the licensing authority will consult the Director of Public Health on premises licence 

applications where appropriate. 

Page 127



Officer response to consultation comments 

Officers response – In light of a number of the responses about relating to health a 

number of changes have been proposed to the SLP. These changes were sent to the 

other respondents. One respondent was in full support of the amendments. The only 

other respondent listed the following points 

The  bullet point list proposed as para 9.5.3 should be redrafted. 

 

The purpose of the local risk assessment is to identify risks to the licensing objectives and 

outline the mitigation policies proposed by the applicant. The bullet point lists as drafted as it 

contains a number of references that are not relevant to any assessment of risk to the 

licensing objectives. For example, issues such as street drinking, youths participating in anti-

social behaviour, drug dealing etc are irrelevant considerations in the context of risk to the 

licensing objectives. These are issues of nuisance, the prevention of which is not a GA 

20054 licensing objectives. 

Officer response – The issues listed are indicators of an area suffering from 

depravation which in turn is an element of risk to be considered for gambling.  

 

Furthermore, the references to whether the premises is in an area of deprivation or “gaming 

trends that mirror … benefit payments” should be deleted. These can only be relevant if the 

authority has predetermined that those in receipt of benefits or living/using premises in a 

“deprived” area are more likely to commit crime as a result of gambling than those not in 

receipt of benefits / living in more affluent areas or are automatically to be considered 

vulnerable. In addition, by including this within the bullet point list, the inference is that 

investment in new facilities in less affluent areas may face a higher bar than in more affluent 

areas. 

Officer response – These are relevant factors to be considered when an applicant is 

conducting its risk assessment.  

 

The proposed paragraph 9.5.6 should not be included at all. This research relates to specific 

circumstances in Leeds and its inclusion in the Southampton policy is pejorative. 

Officer response – Although conducted in an area other than Southampton it draws 

on conclusions that may impact Southampton.  

 

The following entries are more comment about gambling than the SLP. 

“Betting and Gaming in the UK 

Any consideration of gambling licensing at the local level should also be considered within 

the broader context. The raft of measures recently put in place by the industry (in terms of 

protecting players from gambling-related harm), the Gambling Commission, and the 

Government (a ban on credit cards, restrictions to VIP accounts, new age and identity 

verification measures, and voluntary restrictions on advertising) have contributed to problem 

gambling rates now being lower than they were at the passage of the 2005 Gambling Act 

(see further details on problem gambling rates below). In addition, a range of further 

measures will be implemented imminently following the Government’s White Paper, 

Page 128



Officer response to consultation comments 

published in April 2023. These include: financial risk checks for those at risk of gambling 

harm, changes to the way operators market to their customers, changes to online game 

design which will remove certain features, the introduction of a mandatory levy for research, 

prevention and treatment (RPT) activities, an Ombudsman to adjudicate on customer 

redress and the introduction of mandatory stake limits on online slots, bringing the maximum 

stakes online in line with land based casinos. 

It should also be noted that: 

• The overall number of betting shops is in decline. The latest Gambling Commission 

industry statistics show that the number of betting offices (as of March 2023) was 5,995. This 

is reducing yearly and has fallen by 28% since March 2019 – equating to 2,309 betting shop 

closures in just four years. 

• Planning law changes introduced in April 2015 have increased the ability of licensing 

authorities to review applications for new premises, as all new betting shops must now apply 

for planning permission. 

• In April 2019, a maximum stake of £2 was applied to the operation of fixed odds betting 

terminals. 

• Successive prevalence surveys and health surveys show that problem gambling rates in 

the UK are stable.” 

AND 

“Problem Gambling 

A point often lost in the debate about the future of gambling regulation is that problem 

gambling rates in the UK are low by international comparison. The most recent “Gold 

standard” NHS (National Health Service) Health Survey found that problem gambling rates 

among adults are 0.4 per cent – the rate was 0.5 per cent in 2018. In comparison to other 

European countries, problem gambling rates in the UK are low. The problem gambling rate is 

2.4 per cent in Italy, 1.4 per cent in Norway, and 1.3 per cent in France. Both the Gambling 

Commission and the Government have acknowledged that problem gambling levels have 

not increased. However, one problem gambler is one too many, and we are working hard to 

improve standards further across the regulated betting and gaming industry. In June 2020, 

the ** largest members committed to increasing the amount they spend on RPT (Research, 

Prevention and Treatment) services from 0.1 per cent to 1 per cent in 2023. This was 

expected to raise £100 million but they have gone further and will have donated £110 million 

by 2024. In the White Paper, the Government committed to introducing a statutory RPT 

(Research, Prevention and Treatment) levy, which would apply to all gambling licensees 

(excluding the national lottery). This levy is expected to raise £100m annually by 2026/2027. 

The** also funds the £10 million Young People’s Gambling Harm Prevention Programme, 

delivered by leading charities. As of March last year (2023), it has educated over 3 million 

children. Advertising and Sponsorship All betting advertising and sponsorship must comply 

with strict guidelines, and safer gambling messaging must be regularly and prominently 

displayed. The Government has previously stated that there is “no causal link” between 

exposure to advertising and the development of problem gambling, as stated in a response 

by then Minister of State at DCMS, in June 2021. The Gambling Review White Paper, in 

relation to advertising, restated that there was “little evidence” of a causal link with gambling 

harms or the development of gambling disorder. The Seventh Industry Code for Socially 

Responsible Advertising, adopted by all ** members, adds a number of further protections in 

particular for young people. New measures include ensuring that all social media ads must 

Page 129



Officer response to consultation comments 

target consumers aged 25 and over unless the website proves they can be precisely 

targeted at over-18s. In addition to raising advertising standards for young people, this code, 

which came into force on 1 December 2023, extended the previous commitment that 20% of 

TV and radio advertising is devoted to safer gambling messaging to digital media 

advertising. Under the ‘whistle-to-whistle’ ban, ads cannot be shown from five minutes 

before a live sporting event until five minutes after it ends, before the 9 p.m. watershed. 

Research by **found that in its first 12 months in operation, the ban reduced the number of 

TV betting adverts seen by children by 97% at that time. Overall, the number of gambling 

adverts viewed by young people also fell by 70% over the entire duration of live sports 

programmes. At the same time, the ban also reduced the number of views of betting ads by 

1.7 billion during its first five months in operation. ** members also continue to abide by the 

stringent measures established by advertising standards watchdogs. These measures are in 

stark contrast to the unsafe, unregulated black market online, which has none of the safer 

gambling measures offered by ** members, including strict age verification checks. Any 

withdrawal of advertising would simply level the playing field with illegal operators thus 

providing opportunities for those operators to peel off customers from the regulated markets. 

The *** require that premises operate an age verification policy. The industry employs a 

policy called “Think 21”. This policy is successful in preventing underage gambling. 

Independent test purchasing carried out by operators and submitted to the Gambling 

Commission shows that ID challenge rates are consistently around 85%. Following the 

publication of the Gambling Commission’s response to their consultation on age verification 

on premises, all gambling venues will be moving to a “Think 25” policy from 30th August 

2024. Since Serve Legal began working with the gambling sector in 2009, the industry has 

now become the highest performing sector across all age verification testing. Across 

thousands of audits, there was an average pass rate of 91.4 per cent (2024 data). For 

casinos, there is a near perfect pass rate in the last period of 98%. When comparing Serve 

Legal audit data between members of the **and comparative age verification audit data in 

the Alcohol and Lottery sector we see how the gambling sector is performing between 10-15 

per cent higher every year. It should be noted that the Executive Summary of the Gambling 

White Paper stated that when parliamentary time allows, the Government will align the 

gambling licensing system with that for alcohol by introducing new powers to conduct 

cumulative impact assessments. The ** is fully committed to ensuring constructive working 

relationships between betting and gaming operators and licensing authorities and that 

problems can be dealt with in partnership. The exchange of clear information between 

councils and betting operators is a key part of this, and the opportunity to respond to this 

consultation is welcomed.” 

Officer comments – this has no impact on how we will administer licences.  

Page 130



 

Page 1 of 13 

 

  
 
 
 

 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Section 149 of the Equality Act) requires public 

bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality 

of opportunity, and foster good relations between different people carrying out their 

activities. 

The Equality Duty supports good decision making – it encourages public bodies to be 

more efficient and effective by understanding how different people will be affected by 

their activities, so that their policies and services are appropriate and accessible to all 

and meet different people’s needs.  The Council’s Equality and Safety Impact 

Assessment (ESIA) includes an assessment of the community safety impact 

assessment to comply with Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act and will enable 

the Council to better understand the potential impact of proposals and consider 

mitigating action.  

Name or Brief 
Description of Proposal 

Update Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing 
Principles 

Brief Service Profile (including number of customers) 
Gambling is just one of a number of activities overseen by licensing. The local 

authority, acting  as the licensing authority administers Gambling licences linked to 

premises, small lotteries and  occasional or temporary use gambling activities. 

Currently in Southampton there are:- 

 3 casino licences 

 10 Adult Gaming Centres 

 28 Alcohol licensed permits 

 23 Betting premises licences 

   4 Bingo licences 

 5 club gaming permits 

 5 Family Entertainment Centres 

 50 Small society loterries 

 

Summary of Impact and Issues 
The Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council to publish a Statement of Licensing 
Principles (SLP) every three years. The current SLP expires on 31st January 2025. 
The proposed SLP has an updated Area Profile. The other significant change is to 
include a section on how the licensing authority will deal with any applications it 
receives for the large casino licence should it decide to go out to invite applications 
for it.  

Equality and Safety Impact Assessment 

Page 131

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 4



 

Page 2 of 13 

 

 
Potential Impact 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

Age Persons under 18 are restricted by law 
in gambling activities. However The 
Young People and Gambling Survey 
2019 found that 11% of children 
surveyed had gambled in some form in 
the last 7 days, down from 23% in 
2011.  The survey found children and 
young people (aged 11 to 16) were 
gambling at higher rates than they 
were consuming e-cigarettes, smoking 
or taking illegal drugs.  Those who 
reported gambling were more likely to 
also report substance use and lower 
educational attainment. An evidence 
review conducted by Public Health 
England has found that there is a 
significant link between the 
opportunities to gamble, advertising of 
gambling, and density of gambling 
premises with the likelihood of young 
people trying to gamble or 
experiencing harm from gambling.  
The same evidence review also found 
that family members gambling 

Ensuring staff are trained 
to challenge those they 
suspect to under age.  

Support of age 
recognition software in 
machines to prevent 
underage gambling.  

 

Gambling is a key part of the hospitality industry for the city and generates income, 
employment, a choice of entertainment and community support. The licensing 
authority is responsible, in cooperation with the Gambling Commission, for the 
licensing of premises licences. These venues are highly regulated to create an as 
safe as possible environment for people to enjoy gambling activity.  
 
There is evidence that a small percentage of participants engage in harmful 
gambling. The SLP assists in reducing this impact at premises.   
 

Potential Positive Impacts 
As above, provides a well-regulated environment for people to enjoy gambling 
activity with measures in place to reduce the impacts of harmful gambling. Provides 
employment opportunities in the city and an income in the way of rates and spend 
generally in the city.  

Responsible Service 
Manager 

Phil Bates, Licensing Manger  
 

Date  

Approved by Senior 
Manager 

 

Date  

Page 132



 

Page 3 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

increased the likelihood of Intimate 
Partner Violence and other Adverse 
Childhood Effects that cause significant 
harms to those that experience them.  
These can include maltreatment, 
malnutrition, and physical and 
psychological abuse. 

People aged under 24 are identified as 
at a higher risk of suffering from 
gambling harms. 

The Bargate ward has the highest 
population of those aged 16-24 in the 
city, with a population of 34.9% young 
people.  The city as a whole has 43,000 
young people in the age range most at 
risk from harm from gambling.  The 
young population is expected to 
increase by 6% between 2021 and 
2028.  

[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 
Population size and structure 
(southampton.gov.uk) 

Disability As with age some people with mental 

health disabilities are susceptible to 

harmful gambling.  Those with sensory 

disabilities are also likely to have 

mental health issues which makes 

them more susceptible to harmful 

gambling. 

Public Health England has found that 

there are correlations with those 

experiencing poor mental health, 

social isolation, and disability being 

more likely to gamble and more likely 

to experience gambling related harm.  

This is likely linked to the social and 

inclusive aspects of gambling premises 

which are seen by these populations as 

places where social connections can be 

Gambling venues is 

heavily regulated and 

monitored to support the 

three licensing Gambling 

Act licensing objectives 

• preventing 

gambling from being a 

source of crime or 

disorder, being 

associated with crime or 

disorder or being used to 

support crime 

• ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way, and 

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/population/pop-structure/
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/population/pop-structure/


 

Page 4 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

made.  An additional factor to be 

considered is that these populations 

may be more vulnerable to the harms 

that gambling can cause, as well as 

more at risk of those harms to begin 

with. 

Depression in Southampton is higher 

than the England average, with 10.1% 

of people estimated to have an 

unresolved diagnosis of depression.  

Those living in higher levels of 

deprivation are more likely to have 

higher levels of depression. 

[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 
Mental health and wellbeing 
(southampton.gov.uk) 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of 

problem gambling and 

intervene. 

Premises are required to 

undertake a risk assessment 

based on the local profile 

attached to the SLP 

Gender 
Reassignment 

No identified impacts. N/a 

Care 
Experienced 

No risks identified N/a 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Individual studies have been found by 

Public Health England do support the 

idea that those not in long term or 

stable relationships (single, separated, 

divorced or widowed) may be more 

likely experience harmful gambling, 

but the evidence is limited in scope. 

Gambling-related harms evidence 

review: summary - GOV.UK 

(www.gov.uk) 

Gambling in venues is 

heavily regulated and 

monitored to support the 

three licensing Gambling 

Act licensing objectives 

• preventing 

gambling from being a 

source of crime or 

disorder, being 

associated with crime or 

disorder or being used to 

support crime 

• ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way, and 

• protecting children 

Page 134

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/health/mental-health-welbeing/
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/health/mental-health-welbeing/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary


 

Page 5 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of 

problem gambling and 

intervene. 

Pregnancy 
and Maternity 

No evidence was found that detailed a 

link between pregnancy, maternity, 

and gambling. 

N/a 

Race  There are significant links between 
many ethnic minorities and increased 
gambling rates, with individual studies 
reporting that some groups are more 
than three times more likely to gamble 
and experience gambling related harm 
than white populations.  Some cultures 
oppose gambling and substance use, 
and these may be protective factors 
against gambling harm. 
 
There is a wide amount of ethnic 
diversity within the city, with 22.3% of 
the population listing their ethnicity as 
something other than White British. 
 
Bargate ward has the 2nd highest rates 
of ethnic diversity in the city, with 36% 
of residents identifying as non White 
British compared to 22% city average.  
 
[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 
Ethnicity and language 
(southampton.gov.uk) 
 
ward-profile-infographic-
bargate_tcm71-404658.pdf 
(southampton.gov.uk) 

Gambling in venues is 

heavily regulated and 

monitored to support the 

three licensing Gambling 

Act licensing objectives 

• preventing 

gambling from being a 

source of crime or 

disorder, being 

associated with crime or 

disorder or being used to 

support crime 

• ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way, and 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of 

problem gambling and i 

Premises are required to 

undertake a risk assessment 

Page 135

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/population/ethnicity-language/
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/population/ethnicity-language/
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/images/ward-profile-infographic-bargate_tcm71-404658.pdf
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/images/ward-profile-infographic-bargate_tcm71-404658.pdf
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/images/ward-profile-infographic-bargate_tcm71-404658.pdf


 

Page 6 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 
based on the local profile 

attached to the SLP 

ntervene. 

 

Religion or 
Belief 

Some religions oppose gambling and 

substance use, there is not sufficient 

evidence to determine if this is a 

protective factor.  While those in 

religions are less likely to gamble, they 

may be less likely to seek help for fear 

of stigma. 

The largest religion in Southampton is 

Christian (51.5%), followed by ‘no 

religion’ (33.5%).  Both philosophies 

permit gambling. 

The second largest religion in 

Southampton after Christianity is 

Islam, with 4% of the population 

identifying as Muslim.  This rises to 

9.6% of the population in Bargate.  

Islam does not permit gambling. 

[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 
Ethnicity and language 
(southampton.gov.uk) 

Gambling in venues is 

heavily regulated and 

monitored to support the 

three licensing Gambling 

Act licensing objectives 

• preventing 

gambling from being a 

source of crime or 

disorder, being 

associated with crime or 

disorder or being used to 

support crime 

• ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way, and 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of 

problem gambling and 

intervene. 

Premises are required to 

undertake a risk assessment 

based on the local profile 

attached to the SLP 

Sex Males are more likely to gamble, more 

likely to gamble more money each 

time, and are more likely to experience 

harm from problem or harmful 

Gambling in venues is 

heavily regulated and 

monitored to support the 

three licensing Gambling 

Page 136

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/population/ethnicity-language/
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/population/ethnicity-language/


 

Page 7 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

gambling.  Landmark birthdays (18 & 

21) were found to also increase the 

likelihood of a young person gambling.  

Problem and harmful gambling is also 

present in female populations when 

studied and problem and harmful 

gambling should not be thought of as a 

purely male harm. 

Males aged 20-24 are the biggest 

demographic in the city, followed by 

females aged 20-24. 

[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 
Population size and structure 
(southampton.gov.uk) 

Act licensing objectives 

• preventing 

gambling from being a 

source of crime or 

disorder, being 

associated with crime or 

disorder or being used to 

support crime 

• ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way, and 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of 

problem gambling and 

intervene. 

Premises are required to 

undertake a risk assessment 

based on the local profile 

attached to the SLP 

Sexual 
Orientation 

The first UK Games Industry Census in 
2020 found that LGBT+ people make 
up 21% of the UK gaming industry, yet 
LGBT+ people make up just 3–7% of 
the population.  This greatly increases 
LGBT+ community to gambling related 
harms. 
[Taylor, M. (2020) UK Games Industry 

Census: Understanding Diversity in the 

UK Games Industry Workforce, ukie, 

University of Sheffield, UKRI and Arts 

and Humanities Research Council.] 

Gambling in venues is 

heavily regulated and 

monitored to support the 

three licensing Gambling 

Act licensing objectives 

• preventing 

gambling from being a 

source of crime or 

disorder, being 

associated with crime or 

disorder or being used to 

support crime 

Page 137

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/population/pop-structure/
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/population/pop-structure/


 

Page 8 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

• ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way, and 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of 

problem gambling and 

intervene. 

Community 
Safety  

The evidence review by Public Health 

England found that family members 

gambling increased the likelihood of 

Intimate Partner Violence and other 

Adverse Childhood Effects that cause 

significant harms to those that 

experience them.  These can include 

maltreatment, malnutrition, and 

physical and psychological abuse.  

While not the sole cause of IPV and 

child maltreatment, it was a significant 

factor. 

Domestic violence accounts for 17% of 

all recorded crime in Southampton, 

and has increased in each of the 

previous eight years.  

[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 
Domestic abuse (southampton.gov.uk) 

Gambling in venues is heavily 

regulated and monitored to 

support the three licensing 

Gambling Act licensing 

objectives 

• preventing gambling 

from being a source of crime 

or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being 

used to support crime 

• ensuring that gambling 

is conducted in a fair and open 

way, and 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable persons 

from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of problem 

gambling and intervene. 

Premises are required to 

undertake a risk assessment 

based on the local profile 

attached to the SLP 

Page 138

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/community-safety/dsa/


 

Page 9 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

Poverty Financial harms are the third most 

commonly reported harm amongst 

gamblers, irrespective of gambling 

severity.  Various financial harms 

including debt and bankruptcies have 

been reported as associated with large 

gambling properties like Casinos. 

Southampton is the 55th most deprived 

local authority in England, and is more 

deprived than comparator cities like 

Bristol, Leeds and Sheffield.  

Deprivation and inequalities between 

residents and neighbourhoods in 

Southampton are significant and 

continue to be a driver for crime and 

poor health outcomes in 

Southampton. In addition, key 

outcomes for children and young 

people in Southampton continue to be 

poorer than the national average, with 

outcomes significantly poorer (and 

starting earlier in life) for those 

residents living in the most deprived 

areas of the city compared to those 

living in the least deprived areas. 

 

Harms associated with gambling: an 

abbreviated systematic review 

(publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Deprivation and poverty 

(southampton.gov.uk) 

 

Gambling in casinos is heavily 

regulated and monitored to 

support the three licensing 

Gambling Act licensing 

objectives 

• preventing gambling 

from being a source of crime 

or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being 

used to support crime 

• ensuring that gambling 

is conducted in a fair and open 

way, and 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable persons 

from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of problem 

gambling and intervene. 

Premises are required to 

undertake a risk assessment 

based on the local profile 

attached to the SLP 

Health & 
Wellbeing  

Problem gambling is identified as a 
health issue linked to addiction.  On 
average 3.8% of gamblers are 
expected to experience negative 
impacts as a result of their gambling. 
 
Gambling provides many opportunities 

Gambling in venues is 

heavily regulated and 

monitored to support the 

three licensing Gambling 

Act licensing objectives 

Page 139

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1020652/Gambling-evidence-review_harms-report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1020652/Gambling-evidence-review_harms-report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1020652/Gambling-evidence-review_harms-report.pdf
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/economy/deprivation-poverty/
https://data.southampton.gov.uk/economy/deprivation-poverty/


 

Page 10 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

to cause and exacerbate health harms 
in the users of gambling premises and 
their social networks.  Harm from 
gambling increases with alcohol use 
and there are existing relationships 
between gambling and other 
substance use. Gambling and IPV and 
child maltreatment, and gambling and 
mental health issues are also linked.  
Those experiencing negative health 
issues are more likely to use gambling 
premises, creating or worsening 
potential harms like anxiety, neurotic 
symptoms, suicidality, and degradation 
of social networks.  The financial 
impact of gambling can create harms 
that extend beyond the gambling 
premises, bringing additional 
pressures to those experiencing harm 
from gambling. 
 

[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 

• preventing 

gambling from being a 

source of crime or 

disorder, being 

associated with crime or 

disorder or being used to 

support crime 

• ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way, and 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of 

problem gambling and 

intervene.. Licence holder 

to provide licensing 

authority with data 

showing incidents of 

problem gambling and 

interventions so both can 

work together to minimise 

impact 

Other 
Significant 
Impacts 

NIGHT SHIFTS 
Shift work has been shown to have a 
detrimental effect on the health of 
employees, negatively impacting daily 
sleep length, circadian rhythms, work-
life balances and stress.  This is 
particularly worse for those working 
night shifts.  Shift work is also 
associated with obesity, cardiovascular 
disease, diabetes and cancers.  Shift 
work is also associated with negative 
impacts on family lives, higher 
separation rates, less effective 
parenting, and deterioration of family 

Gambling in venues is 

heavily regulated and 

monitored to support the 

three licensing Gambling 

Act licensing objectives 

• preventing 

gambling from being a 

source of crime or 

disorder, being 

associated with crime or 

disorder or being used to 

Page 140

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary


 

Page 11 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

cohesion. 
 
_ (publichealthwm.org) 
 
VETERANS 
UK armed forces veterans report a 
higher prevalence rate of problem 
gambling compared with non-
veterans, with potential negative 
impact on family life. 
 
A Public Health England evidence 
review found that those experiencing 
traumatic and violent events like 
someone being killed, wounded, or 
physically attacked increased the 
likelihood of both gambling and 
gambling related harms, with veterans 
being a prominent feature in the 
studies used in the evidence review. 
 
[Dighton, G., Roberts, E., Hoon, A. E., & 
Dymond, S. (2018). Gambling problems 
and the impact of family in UK armed 
forces veterans, Journal of Behavioral 
Addictions, 7(2), 355-365. Retrieved Jul 
20, 2022, from 
https://akjournals.com/view/journals/
2006/7/2/article-p355.xml] 
 
[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 
SUBSTANCE USE 
There is a strong association between 
substance use and gambling.  Those 
that use substances (alcohol, tobacco, 
illegal drugs) are more likely to 
gamble, and those that gamble are 
more likely to have substance use 
issues.  At time of writing 
Southampton has the highest rate of 
people with alcohol issues being 
admitted to hospital in the country, 
according to a pilot survey at UHS. 
 
[Gambling-related harms evidence 

support crime 

• ensuring that 

gambling is conducted in 

a fair and open way, and 

• protecting children 

and other vulnerable 

persons from being 

harmed or exploited by 

gambling 

Staff are on site trained to 

identify the signs of 

problem gambling and 

intervene. 

Premises are required to 

undertake a risk assessment 

based on the local profile 

attached to the SLP 

Page 141

https://www.publichealthwm.org/application/files/9815/1561/7135/WMCHIA_Full_Report-FINAL.pdf
https://akjournals.com/view/journals/2006/7/2/article-p355.xml
https://akjournals.com/view/journals/2006/7/2/article-p355.xml
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary


 

Page 12 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 
Local Alcohol Profiles for England - 
Data - OHID (phe.org.uk) 
 
EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT 
Young People reporting that they had 
gambled in the last year were more 
likely to have lower educational 
attainment. 
Lower educational attainment is one 
of the factors that is typically present 
in those that problem gamble. 
 
ECONOMIC COST 
The excess economic costs of harmful 
gambling were estimated as between 
£1.04bn and £1.7bn for England, 
primarily affecting homelessness, 
mental health, suicide, substance use, 
unemployment, criminal activity and 
imprisonment. 
 
But we expect that the true costs are 
higher because the lack of evidence 
meant that it was not possible to cost 
all types of harms or the wider harms 
to individuals or society. Previous 
research on the economic costs of 
gambling in England (from 2016) 
estimated the excess cost of harmful 
gambling to be between £200 million 
and £570 million for England. These 
estimates are likely to change with 
further evidence. 
 
RISK TO PUBLIC HEALTH 
There is limited evidence relating to 

the specific health effects of casinos in 

comparison to the health effects of 

gambling overall. This represents a gap 

in the available literature and is not 

the same as evidence of no effect.  It is 

known that the pattern of problem 

gambling is more correlated with 

casinos and electronic gaming 

Page 142

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938132984/pat/6/ati/402/are/E06000045/iid/93763/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938132984/pat/6/ati/402/are/E06000045/iid/93763/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1


 

Page 13 of 13 

 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

machines than the lottery and sports 

pools. 

The evidence suggests that harmful 
gambling should be considered a 
public health issue because it is 
associated with harms to individuals, 
their families, close associates and 
wider society. 
 
[Gambling-related harms evidence 
review: summary - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)] 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 143

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review/gambling-related-harms-evidence-review-summary


This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER:  CABINET 
COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: COMMERCIAL WASTE - TRANSFER AND DISPOSAL 
SERVICES 

DATE OF DECISION: CABINET 29 OCTOBER 2024 

COUNCIL 27 NOVEMBER 2024 

REPORT OF: COUNCILLOR KEOGH 

CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT & 
TRANSPORT 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Executive Director  Title Executive Director - Resident Services 

 Name:  Debbie Ward Tel: 023 8083 3351 

 E-mail: Debbie.Ward@southampton.gov.uk 

Author: Title Head of City Services 

 Name:  David Tyrie Tel: 023 8083 2958 

 E-mail: David.Tyrie@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

Appendix 2 of this report is not for publication by virtue of category 3 (Information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
Authority holding that information) and category 7A (obligation of confidentiality) of 
paragraph 10.4 of Southampton City Council’s (“the Council’s”) Access to Information 
Procedure Rules, as contained in the Council's Constitution. 

 

It is not in the public interest to disclose this information as the report contains 
confidential and commercially sensitive information in relation to one of the Council’s 
suppliers. It would prejudice the Council’s ability to operate in a commercial 
environment and obtain best value in contract negotiations and would prejudice the 
Council’s commercial relationships with third parties if they believed the Council would 
not honour obligations of confidentiality. 

 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

The Environmental Protection Act 1990 allows Southampton City Council to collect 
commercial waste from businesses from within the city, and a charge may be levied 
for this service. The council’s Commercial Waste Service was established in the early 
2000s. The council must have a solution in place which is compliant with the council’s 
contract procedure rules, to enable disposal of the commercial waste collected. The 
current commercial waste transfer and disposal contract expires on 31 March 2025. 
This report seeks approval to commence a formal procurement exercise to secure a 
contract from 1 April 2025 under contract to receive and dispose of waste collected 
via the Commercial Waste Service. 

 
Page 145

Agenda Item 10



RECOMMENDATIONS: 

CABINET 

 (i) To approve a formal procurement process for a waste transfer and 
disposal contract for the transfer and disposal of commercial waste. 

 (ii) To delegate authority to the Executive Director - Resident Services 
to carry out the procurement process and to enter into a contract for 
the delivery of the service in accordance with the Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

 (iii) To authorise the Executive Director - Resident Services, following 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Transport, to take all necessary actions to give effect to the 
recommendations of this report. 

COUNCIL 

 (i) Subject to approval of Cabinet recommendations above, to approve 
the financial envelope as set out in Appendix 2. 

 (ii) To allow the financial envelope to increase in line with any increase 
in business and therefore tonnage collected for the Commercial 
Waste Service, on the basis that the additional cost will be met via 
cost recovery mechanisms and additional revenue from the service. 

 (iii) To note the potential risks that could cause the level of cost to 
exceed the estimated budget because of lack of clarity around the 
government waste strategy and the likely impact on future contract 
disposal costs. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

 Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, waste collected by local 
authorities must be disposed of properly. The council is required to have a 
solution in place to dispose waste collected by the Commercial Waste 
Service in a safe and efficient way. The current commercial waste transfer 
and disposal contract expires on 31 March 2025. The council will have no 
route to transfer and dispose of waste collected by the Commercial Waste 
Service from 1 April 2025 which would result in service failure. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

 Do nothing. This option was rejected. The council will have no compliant 
route to transfer and dispose of waste collected by the Commercial Waste 
Service from 1 April 2025 after the current contract expires on 31 March 
2025. 

 Extend the current contract with the current supplier. This option was 
rejected. There is no option under the current contract to compliantly extend 
the service with the current supplier further than 31 March 2025. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

1.  The Environmental Protection Act 1990 allows Southampton City Council to 
collect commercial waste from businesses from within the city and a charge 
may be levied for this service. The council’s Commercial Waste Service was 
established in the early 2000s, has 1,668 (July 2024) business customers in 
and around the Southampton area and directly employs 10 staff. 

Page 146



2.  The waste collected by the Commercial Waste Service must be disposed of 
properly in a safe and efficient way in accordance with the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 legislation, and therefore the council is required to have 
a contract in place with a supplier to provide this service. The council must 
also have a solution in place to dispose of the waste it creates itself. 

3.  Businesses have a legal Duty of Care to store their waste safely and to 
dispose of it using a registered waste carrier. The council’s Commercial 
Waste Service is a registered waste carrier. 

4.  The current waste transfer and disposal contract expires on 31 March 2025, 
therefore a compliant procurement process must take place in advance of 
this date to appoint a supplier to transfer and dispose of waste from 1 April 
2025 to ensure continuity. 

5.  The undertaking of a formal procurement process in accordance with the 
Council Constitution 10 Part 4 - Contract Procedure Rules Rule 10 PCR 
Procedure shall be managed by the Procurement Team and approved by the 
Head of Contracting and Procurement to ensure the council achieves best 
value for money for a transfer and disposal service, as well as factoring in 
other considerations such as social value, the council’s zero landfill 
aspirations whilst taking every opportunity for the supplier to recycle and 
reuse all available resources. The procurement under the PCR Procedure 
will also ensure compliance with the council’s Financial and Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

6.  Between the commencement of the current contract in April 2020 to the end 
of the current contract the Commercial Waste Services will have sent just 
over 50,000 tonnes of waste for transfer and disposal.  

7.  The net value of the waste transfer and disposal contract over the next five 
years is set out in Appendix 2. The income received from the Commercial 
Waste customers will be expected to cover the disposal cost as well as the 
collection and operating overheads.  

8.  The council’s current Commercial Waste Service provides collection and 
disposal services to businesses for General Waste, Dry Mixed Recyclables, 
Glass recyclables as well as services to SCC Housing for bulk waste 
collections, void property clearances and regular and ad-hoc chargeable 
work to private landlords and tenants for bulky items, including fridges as 
well as items which include hazardous waste and Persistent Organic 
Pollutants (POPs). 

9.  It is worth noting that waste disposal costs are affected by global and 
national markets and is difficult to accurately forecast future unknowns and 
uncertainties. There is also the possibility of changes in scope within the 
waste sector, which would ultimately add financial pressures to the service. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

10.  Commercial Waste disposal revenue costs in 2024/25 are set out in 
Appendix 2. 

11.  An increase in the number of trade waste customers would increase the 
disposal costs beyond the current budget, and this can be covered through 

Page 147



the additional revenue raised from new customers, and ensuring fees are 
regularly reviewed.  

12.  The impact of the national Resources and Waste Strategy for England 
(RAWS) is still unknown, but could significantly impact on waste disposal 
costs. Officers will continue to monitor these risks and will report on the 
impact through financial monitoring or other appropriate channels.  

Property/Other 

13.  The commercial waste collected from businesses and customers by the 
council’s Commercial Waste Service vehicles will not be stored on council 
property pending its transfer and disposal. Waste created by the council itself 
from council assets will be managed in accordance with the specific site 
rules of the individual site prior to collection from the Commercial Waste 
Service for transfer and disposal as required under Section 34 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, whereby all businesses have a duty of 
care to keep waste secure and compliantly transfer and dispose of all their 
recyclable materials and commercial waste. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

14.  Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 local authorities have a duty to 
arrange for the collection of household waste and, if requested, of 
commercial and industrial waste. 

Other Legal Implications:  

15.  Under Simpler Recycling from 31 March 2025 businesses with 10 or more 
full time equivalent employees will have a further legal requirement to 
separate their waste and have a Dry Mixed Recycling bin and a Food 
recycling bin as they must recycle their food waste, glass, metal, plastic and 
cardboard in addition to disposal of their general waste. 

16.  Procurement will be subject to compliance with the council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

17.  Under the Environment Act 2021, more demanding action on waste is 
required and set out high level in the Resources and Waste Strategy for 
England (RAWS). This includes major Simpler Recycling reforms, including 
but not limited to weekly mandatory food waste collections, consistent 
collections, Deposit Return Scheme  (DRS), Extended Producer 
Responsibility for Packaging (EPR), UK Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS), 
Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) and digital waste tracking. 

18.  The impact of the above is expected to add extra financial pressures to 
businesses and to the council, which are currently hard to predict as they will 
relate to the unknown behaviour change of a population as the changes are 
implemented and rolled out across the UK. 

19.  Businesses and non-household municipal premises will need to do more to 
understand what wastes they produce, how these wastes should be stored, 
collected and disposed of to be compliant with the new legislation.  

20.  From 31 March 2025 the new regulations state that businesses with 10 or 
more full time equivalent employees will have a legal requirement to recycle Page 148

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/exemptions-and-statutory-guidance-for-simpler-recycling-in-england/outcome/government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/simpler-bin-collections-for-england-to-boost-recycling
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-for-drinks-containers-bottles-and-cans/outcome/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-in-england-wales-and-northern-ireland-executive-summary-and-next-steps
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/extended-producer-responsibility-for-packaging-who-is-affected-and-what-to-do
https://www.circularonline.co.uk/insight/the-big-changes-ahead-for-the-uk-emissions-trading-scheme/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/manage-waste-upholstered-domestic-seating-containing-pops


their food waste, glass, metal, plastic and cardboard separately in addition to 
disposal of their general waste. This means that separate containers will 
have to be used to securely store waste at premises. 

21.  Changes to the way businesses are required to manage their waste could 
have an impact on whether the council’s Commercial Waste Service 
customers will be the most cost-effective solution for them from 31 March 
2025. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

22.  Re-procurement of a commercial waste transfer and disposal contract will 
have no direct impact on the council’s Policy Framework. However, it will 
support delivery of the council’s goals, outcomes and objectives as set out in 
the  Southampton City Council Corporate Plan (2022-2030) and 2024 update 
of the Corporate Plan 

 

KEY DECISION?  Yes 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All Wards 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

None 

Appendices  

1. Appendix 1. ESIA Procurement of a Commercial Waste Transfer and 
Disposal Contract. 

2. Appendix 2. Exempt Financial Information Procurement of a Commercial 
Waste Transfer and Disposal Contract  

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and 

Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out. 

Yes 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No 

Other Background Documents  

Appendix 2. Exempt Financial Information Procurement of a Commercial Waste 
Transfer and Disposal Contract 

Title of Background Paper  

Appendix 2. Exempt Financial 
Information Procurement of a 
Commercial Waste Transfer 
and Disposal Contract. 

By virtue of Paragraph 3 of the Council Constitution 
05 Part 4 - Access to Information Procedure Rules 
Part 10 Exclusion of Access by The Public to 
Meetings Clause 4. Category 3 Information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the Authority holding that 
information). 

 Page 149

https://www.southampton.gov.uk/media/ugshrc2w/corporate-plan-final-51222.pdf
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/media/2l2hbkkw/corporate-plan-web.pdf
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/media/2l2hbkkw/corporate-plan-web.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

  
 
 
 
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Section 149 of the Equality Act) requires public bodies to have due 

regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations 

between different people carrying out their activities. 

The Equality Duty supports good decision making – it encourages public bodies to be more efficient and 

effective by understanding how different people will be affected by their activities, so that their policies and 

services are appropriate and accessible to all and meet different people’s needs.  The Council’s Equality 

and Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) includes an assessment of the community safety impact 

assessment to comply with Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act and will enable the Council to better 

understand the potential impact of proposals and consider mitigating action.  

Name or Brief Description of Proposal Procurement of a Commercial Waste Transfer and 
Disposal Contract. 

Brief Service Profile (including number of customers) 

The Environmental Protection Act 1990 allows Southampton City Council to collect commercial waste from 

businesses from within the city, and a charge may be levied for this service. The council’s Commercial 

Waste Service was established in the early 2000s. The council must have a solution in place which is 

compliant with the council’s contract procedure rules, to enable disposal of the commercial waste collected. 

The current commercial waste transfer and disposal contract expires on 31 March 2025. This report seeks 

approval to commence a formal procurement exercise to secure a contract from 1 April 2025 under contract 

to receive and dispose of waste collected via the Commercial Waste Service. 

Summary of Impact and Issues 

The council’s City Services Commercial Waste Service wishes to undertake a formal and compliant 

procurement process for its waste transfer and disposal requirements in advance of the end of the current 

waste transfer and disposal contract which expires on 31 March 2025.  

Undertaking the procurement to appoint a supplier to deliver services from 1 April 2025 will avoid any 

service disruption to the council’s Commercial Waste Services.  

Due consideration will be given to the impact any arrangements may have from an equalities perspective 

when it comes to service delivery, however the re-procurement of the commercial waste transfer and 

disposal services contract is only relevant to business customers which pay for their commercial waste to 

be collected and disposed of by the council.  

Businesses are free to choose their commercial waste collection and disposal supplier from a range of 

certified suppliers within the area other than the council if they so wish. 

Potential Positive Impacts 

Under Simpler Recycling from 31 March 2025 businesses with 10 or more full time equivalent employees 
will have a legal requirement to separate their waste and have at least a further Dry Mixed Recycling bin 
and a Food Recycling bin as they must recycle their food waste, glass, metal, plastic and cardboard in 
addition to disposal of their general waste.  
 

Responsible Service Manager David Tyrie - Head of City Services 

Date 16 September 2024 

Approved by Senior Manager Ian Collins - Director- Environment 

Date 16 September 2024 

Equality and Safety Impact Assessment 

Page 151

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/exemptions-and-statutory-guidance-for-simpler-recycling-in-england/outcome/government-response


 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Potential Impact 
 

Impact 
Assessment 

Details of Impact Possible Solutions & 
Mitigating Actions 

Age It is expected there will be no impacts arising to age 
related to the re-procurement of the contract. 

 

Disability It is expected there will be no impacts arising to disability 
related to the re-procurement of the contract. 

 

Gender 
Reassignment 

It is expected there will be no impacts arising to Gender 
Reassignment related to the re-procurement of the 
contract. 

 

Care 
Experienced 

It is expected there will be no impacts arising to Care 
Experienced related to the re-procurement of the 
contract. 

 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

It is expected there will be no impacts arising to Marriage 
and Civil Partnership related to the re-procurement of 
the contract. 

 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

It is expected there will be no impacts arising to 
Pregnancy and Maternity related to the re-procurement 
of the contract. 

 

Race  It is expected there will be no impacts arising to race 
related to the re-procurement of the contract. 

 

Religion or 
Belief 

It is expected there will be no impacts arising to Religion 
or Belief related to the re-procurement of the contract. 

 

Sex It is expected there will be no impacts arising to sex 
related to the re-procurement of contract. 

 

Sexual 
Orientation 

It is expected there will be no impacts arising to Sexual 
Orientation related to the re-procurement of the contract. 

 

Community 
Safety  

It is expected there will be no impacts arising to 
Community Safety related to the re-procurement of the 
contract. 

 

Poverty It is expected there will be no impacts arising to Poverty 
related to the re-procurement of the contract. 

 

Health & 
Wellbeing  

It is expected there will be no impacts arising to Health & 
Wellbeing related to the re-procurement of the contract. 

 

Other 
Significant 
Impacts 

The re-procurement of the commercial waste transfer 
and disposal services contract is only relevant to 
business customers which pay for their waste to be 
collected from their businesses in the city.  

Businesses are free to 
choose their commercial 
waste collection and 
disposal supplier from a 
range of certified 
suppliers within the area, 
other than the council, if 
they so wish. 

 
 
 
 

Page 152



Document is Confidential

Page 153

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 2

by virtue of paragraph number 3, 7 of the Council's Access to information Proceedure Rules



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER:  Council 

SUBJECT: Tender - Corporate Insurance Programme 

DATE OF DECISION: 27th November 2025 

REPORT OF: COUNCILLOR LETTS CABINET MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES  

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Executive Director  Title Executive Director Enabling Services & s151 Officer 

 Name:  Mel Creighton Tel: 023 8083 3528 

 E-mail: mel.creighton@southampton.gov.uk 

Author: Title Risk & Insurance Manager 

 Name:  Peter Rogers Tel: 023 8083 2835 

 E-mail: peter.rogers@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

Appendix 1 - Insurance Premium Spend is not for publication by virtue of category 3 
paragraph 10.4 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules as set out in the Council’s 
Constitution. The information is exempt from publication as it includes information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
Authority holding that information).  

BRIEF SUMMARY 

The council’s current corporate insurance programme, provided under a 3 plus 2-year 
agreement, expires on 31st March 2025.  A competitive tender exercise is therefore 
required to be undertaken for the placement of a new corporate insurance programme 
from 1st April 2025.  

This paper seeks approval for the procurement and placement of a new 3 plus 2-year 
insurance arrangement from 1st April 2025.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) To give delegated authority to the Executive Director Enabling 
Services and s151 Officer to procure and award appropriate 
insurance contracts via the YPO ‘Insurance Services Framework 
Agreement’ for up to 5 years from 1st April 2025 after consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Services.  

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. It is neither viable nor appropriate for the council to operate without having an 
appropriate insurance programme in place. The insurance programme needs 
to be in place from 1st April 2025 to ensure continuity of cover. 

2. The corporate insurance programme seeks to provide a suitable level of 
financial protection for the council, in respect of insurable losses, via a balance 
between self-insurance and external insurance cover.  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
Page 157

Agenda Item 12



3. There are no other alternative ‘risk financing’ options available to local 
authorities.  

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

4. The tender exercise is undertaken by the council’s Risk & Insurance Manager 
in consultation with Procurement Services and the council’s appointed 
insurance broker (Marsh) and is via the YPO ‘Insurance Services Framework 
Agreement’. This compliant framework agreement has been used previously 
for both the selection and appointment of insurance brokers and for the 
purchase of other insurance covers. It has delivered good outcomes for the 
council in terms of both price and quality. 

5. In terms of scope, the key elements of the programme comprise the Property, 
Motor and Liability insurance covers.  The property cover includes council 
‘Housing’ and ‘General Properties’ (comprising administrative / operational 
buildings, the Civic Centre and the Itchen Bridge). Separate cover is arranged 
in respect of commercial leasehold properties owned by the council with the 
range of insured perils reflecting the terms of the leases.  The motor cover is 
in respect of the council’s commercial motor fleet and includes vehicles on hire 
to the council. The liability insurance covers respond in respect of claims for 
compensation for loss, damage or injury where it is alleged that the council 
has been negligent (i.e. that it has either done or failed to do something that 
has caused or contributed to the loss, damage or injury).    

6. For the purposes of the tender, the insurance programme is split into five 
individual ‘Lots’ (Property, Liability, Motor, Engineering Inspection & 
Insurance, and Business Travel) with bidders able to select those that they 
wish to respond to. Each Lot will then be evaluated on the basis of the ‘Most 
Economically Advantageous Tender’ in terms of price and quality (with the 
weighting varied according to the relevant importance associated with each 
individual class of business). 

7. The new insurance contract(s) will be a 3-year Long Term Agreement (‘LTAs’) 
with the option to extend for a further 2 years. The benefit of an LTA is that the 
council will receive a discount on the premium (typically 5%) in return for 
committing to renew with the provider for the duration of the agreement. All 
insurers operating in this market will do so via an LTA noting that, whilst it 
provides continuity, it does not prevent insurers increasing premium rates if, 
over time, the risk is considered to be deteriorating and/or there is a general 
market realignment of rates. In such circumstances the council would however 
have the right to go back out and test the market.     

8. As part of the tender exercise a range of actions are undertaken to ensure 
that the most appropriate and cost-effective insurance programme is in place 
from 1st April 2025.  These actions, undertaken in conjunction with Marsh, 
include:  

 Undertaking a full and detailed review of the council’s current insurance 
programme including a ‘Risk Financing Optimisation’ exercise (via Marsh) 
which is an actuarial type modelling exercise that seeks to identify 
optimum levels of self-insurance. The report considers the impact of 
adopting higher policy excesses (over and above those already in place), 
in terms of possible savings in the external premiums, against the 
additional funds that would be needed to be allocated to the council’s 

Page 158



self-insurance fund. Alternative policy excess options are included in the 
tender document for consideration. 

 

 Reviewing the type of cover and range of insured perils against peer 
authorities by benchmarking the council’s existing policy deductibles 
(excesses), limits and covers against peers of a similar standing.  

 

 Undertaking ‘claims cleansing’ to ensure that both the number and 
estimated value of outstanding claims quoted to potential insurers, as 
part of the ‘Invitation to Tender’ document, are accurate and up to date. 

 

 Marsh undertaking appropriate ‘market making’ activities to secure tender 
submissions from the widest range of potential insurance providers.  

 

 Developing a tender specification that reflects the information needs and 
requirements of the insurance market, allowing prospective insurers to 
deliver the best possible terms by providing accurate, relevant and 
detailed data presented in a concise way in order that insurance 
company underwriters are clear on what risks they are quoting for and, in 
turn, reducing the need for clarifications during the tender process.    

9. The public sector insurance market continues to be dominated by a small 
number of specialist insurers, with only a handful of insurers being prepared 
to write the main property, casualty and motor fleet risks with a small number 
active in specific areas such as engineering and travel. Overall, the public 
sector insurance market remains unattractive to many insurers. 

10. The insurance market is considered cyclical in terms of pricing, and it is 
currently considered to be a ‘hard market’. Marsh has however advised that 
there has been a noticeable moderation of average rate increases suggesting 
that the current prolonged hard cycle may have peaked. The operating 
environment is nevertheless expected to remain challenging in the short to 
medium term as insurers and reinsurers strive to keep pace with exposure and 
claims growth. It is therefore difficult to predict the market response to the 
tender however those insurers operating within the public sector market are 
maintaining a cautious approach with a clear focus on individual account 
performance, rigid application of policy terms and conditions, and stricter 
claims handling and claim reporting requirements. 

11. The responses from insurers in respect of each individual ‘Lot’ will be 
evaluated on the basis of the ‘Most Economically Advantageous Tender’ in 
terms of price and quality.  The expectation is that the new contract(s) will be 
awarded by the end of February 2025 thereby allowing for a mobilisation 
period prior to the new insurance programme commencing on 1st April 2025.  

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

12. See Confidential ‘Appendix 1 – Insurance Premium Spend’ noting that the 
annual insurance premium spend is included in the council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (‘MTFS’). Budgets for insurance premiums within the MTFS 
will increase annually in line with contract inflation or CPI.  

Property/Other 

13. None 

Page 159



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

14. Section 101 Local Government Act 1972 and Localism Act 2011. 

15. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 Part 3(c) which require 
a relevant authority to a have system of internal control which includes 
effective arrangements for the management of risk. The corporate insurance 
programme is a key element of the council’s ‘risk financing’ arrangements. 

Other Legal Implications:  

16. None 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

17. An insurance programme, that provides a suitable level of financial protection 
via a balance of self-insurance and external insurance cover, needs to be in 
place for 1st April 2025 to ensure continuity of cover.   

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

18. None 

 

KEY DECISION?  Yes 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. Confidential Appendix 1 - Insurance Premium Spend.  This is not for 
publication by virtue of category 3 paragraph 10.4 of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules as set out in the Council’s Constitution. The 
information is exempt from publication as it includes information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority 
holding that information). 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. n/a 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and 

Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.   

Yes 

Other Background Documents 

Other Background documents available for inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) Page 160



1. Invitation to Tender Document 3 

 

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Confidential

Page 163

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1

by virtue of paragraph number 3 of the Council's Access to information Proceedure Rules



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Budget Virements
	6 Southampton City Council Shirley Ward By-Election Result
	7 Polling District and Polling Place Review
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Triennail Review of the Gambling Act Statement of Licensing Principles
	App 1 - Consultation SLP with tracked changes
	Part A - General
	1.0 Licensing Objectives
	2.0 Introduction
	3.0 Consultation on the Statement of Principles
	4.0 Declaration
	5.0 Responsible authorities and interested parties
	6.0 Exchange of Information
	7.0 Compliance and Enforcement
	8.0 The Licensing Authority Functions
	Part B – Premises Licences

	9.0 Premises Licences – What Standards the Licensing Authority Expects from Applicants
	10.0 General Principles
	11.0 Conditions on premises licences
	12.0 Other Legislation
	13.0 Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs)
	14.0 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres
	15.0 Casinos
	16.0 Bingo Premises
	17.0 Betting Premises
	18.0 Tracks
	19.0 Travelling Fairs
	20.0 Provisional Statements
	21.0 Reviews of premises licences
	Part C – Permits, Temporary and Occasional Use Notices

	22.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits
	23.0 Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits
	24.0 Prize Gaming Permits
	25.0 Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits
	26.0 Temporary Use Notices
	27.0 Occasional Use Notices
	Part D – Other Information

	28.0 Rights of Appeal and Judicial Review
	29.0 Other Matters
	30.0  The Licensing Authority Delegations
	31.0 Appendix A – Map of Southampton
	Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 010001967932.0
	Appendix B Local Profile

	Appx 2 Report summarising consultation responses
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17

	Appx 3 Officer responses to consultation comments
	App 4 - ESIA

	10 Commercial Waste Transfer and Disposal Services
	Appendix 1 - ESIA
	Appendix 2 - Exempt Financial Information

	12 Corporate Insurance Programme - Tender
	Enc. 1 for Corporate Insurance Programme - Tender


